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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Good morning.

          3  I'd like to welcome everyone here today to the

          4  hearing of the Committee on Cultural Affairs,

          5  Libraries and International Intergroup Relations.

          6                 The subject of today's oversight

          7  hearing will be the five resolutions that focus on

          8  the turmoil in the Middle East. Resolutions Number

          9  7, 214, 216, 255 and Reso 258.

         10                 Today we will hear from the sponsors

         11  of these resolutions, advocates and concerned

         12  citizens as they express their views.

         13                 It is important for all here to share

         14  their opinions and ideas in a constructive manner.

         15  It is hoped that something can be gained from

         16  today's discussion and I thank all who are here who

         17  have sacrificed their time to be here today.

         18                 Let us begin. I would now like to

         19  invite the sponsors of the Resolutions to say a few

         20  words. I would like to start with Resolution Number

         21  7, Council Member Oliver Koppell.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Good morning.

         23  Good morning, Chairman Serrano and members of the

         24  Cultural Affairs, Libraries and International

         25  Intergroup Relations Committee. I very much
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          2  appreciate the opportunity to speak to you today in

          3  support of the resolution that I and others have

          4  introduced numbered 7-A.

          5                 Before I speak, let me thank Chairman

          6  Serrano. I know that these resolutions have caused

          7  some controversy, particularly Resolution 7-A, and I

          8  know that you have been extremely cooperative in

          9  bringing this hearing to fruition, allowing us to

         10  express our views on this resolution and the others

         11  that have been introduced dealing with the tragic

         12  situation in the Middle East. And I hope that after

         13  today's hearing, the Committee will move swiftly

         14  toward official or voting consideration of these

         15  resolutions because I think that Resolution 7-A

         16  should be passed promptly by the Committee and by

         17  the Council.

         18                 Again, thank you very much for

         19  organizing the meeting. As you can see, it has

         20  engendered tremendous interest.

         21                 Each of the members of the Committee

         22  has, I believe, a fairly lengthy statement which

         23  contains evidence supporting the resolution, and I

         24  know that we have a busy schedule and that we're all

         25  limited to a few minutes, and I will not burden the
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          2  Committee with reading this lengthy document, but I

          3  would urge the members of the Committee to read it,

          4  because I think it provides substantial support to

          5  the passage of Resolution 7-A.

          6                 Let me simply summarize why I've

          7  introduced the resolution and why I think it is of

          8  critical importance that the Council of the City of

          9  New York, which speaks for the people of the City of

         10  New York, pass this resolution.

         11                 Since January 1st of this year, only

         12  six months ago, Israelis have suffered 500 deaths at

         13  the hands of Palestinian terrorists. As you can

         14  imagine, for a population as small as Israel's, that

         15  is, in terms of number, far more in percentage terms

         16  than we suffered in the unimaginable, almost

         17  unimaginable tragedy of September 11th.

         18                 So, from the beginning of the year to

         19  today, the Israelis have been under constant and

         20  unceasing attack from every quarter, and not only

         21  has that meant that 500 people have died, but it

         22  means that every time a person opens the door of

         23  their house and goes out, and maybe even in their

         24  house, they're fearful that their lives may be lost.

         25  Imagine living under those conditions.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            7

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2                 And these attacks are possible

          3  because the Palestinian Authority and Chairman

          4  Yasser Arafat supporting, rather than opposing,

          5  terrorism.

          6                 President Bush has said, and I must

          7  say, the President is finally recognizing something

          8  that we've said for a long time, "Yasser Arafat" --

          9  this is a quote from the President: "Yasser Arafat

         10  has for years been a terrorist, cloaked with

         11  political clout, diplomatic courtesy, and showered

         12  with blind commiseration by sympathetic nations,

         13  including the United States."

         14                 That's exactly what this resolution

         15  is aimed at - at taking off that cloak of political

         16  clout and diplomatic courtesy and showing what

         17  Yasser Arafat and his minions in the Palestinian

         18  Authority are. They are terrorists who want to

         19  murder innocent civilians to obtain their objectives

         20  in international politics.

         21                 This government should not recognize,

         22  and by "this government," I mean the United States

         23  government, should not recognize terrorists and

         24  should not recognize terrorism as a method to gain

         25  objectives in international relations or even in
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          2  internal objectives in national entities or in

          3  countries. We cannot accept terrorism, because if we

          4  accept terrorism, in the end our own freedoms will

          5  be extinguished and our own country will be even

          6  more vulnerable than it already has been shown to

          7  be.

          8                 Furthermore, the existence of the

          9  Palestinian Authority in New York represents a

         10  threat in and of itself, because if we have a group

         11  that sponsors and harbors terrorists in Israel, in

         12  the West Bank, and they are represented here in New

         13  York, who is to say that they will not harbor

         14  terrorists and support and give comfort and aid to

         15  terrorists right here in New York, when not only are

         16  we obviously a target, unfortunately, but we also

         17  have the second largest Jewish population in the

         18  world, which is especially a target.

         19                 Now, there are some who have said

         20  it's not appropriate for the Council to act in this

         21  manner, but the Council has acted in this manner on

         22  a number of former occasions, has acted in this

         23  manner to tried and stop business with the apartheid

         24  government in South Africa, has acted officially to

         25  stop business with the oppressive government in
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          2  Burma, and there's no reason why in this instance

          3  this Council shouldn't speak for the people of the

          4  City of New York, and close down a terrorist office

          5  in the City of New York, or seek to close it down.

          6  Call upon the government of the United States to

          7  close it down, consistent with the treaties which it

          8  has with the United Nations.

          9                 Therefore, Mr. Chairman, I urge the

         10  Committee in the strongest terms to pass this

         11  resolution, for the Council to pass the resolution

         12  and to have the moral voice of the City of New York

         13  speak out against the horror that is in fact the

         14  Palestinian Liberation Organization and the

         15  Palestinian Authority.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Next I'd like to

         17  invite Council Member Barron with Resolution Number

         18  216 to say a few words.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Chairman. I applaud you on your courage and your

         21  steadfastness in making sure that all of these

         22  resolutions get a hearing in a conflict that is

         23  centuries old and caused thousands and thousands of

         24  lives to be lost.

         25                 Resolution 216 speaks to an
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          2  even-handed policy, and Resolution 216 speaks to the

          3  preciousness of life, a Palestinian life, as well as

          4  an Israeli life.

          5                 Resolution 216, and in my opinion,

          6  whether we like it or not, Ariel Sharon has been

          7  elected by the people of Israel, and whether we like

          8  it or not, Yasser Arafat is the legitimate

          9  representative of the Palestinian people. And if we,

         10  as the Council, cannot be lopsided in our opinions

         11  and views on this issue, and I don't see how people

         12  can be against an even-handed policy and try to

         13  equate even-handedness with the method of killing,

         14  that's not what my resolution speaks to,

         15  even-handedness speaks to the fact that a

         16  Palestinian life is as precious as a Jewish life, an

         17  Israeli life, and that both lives should be

         18  protected, and any killing of an innocent person I

         19  am opposed.

         20                 I am not going to allow people to

         21  equate even-handedness, instead of looking at life

         22  and its preciousness, now want to use that as

         23  methods of killing, as the one method of killing is

         24  better than the other, both leave us dead as a

         25  people.
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          2                 So, my resolution is calling for an

          3  even-handed policy, calling for the immediate

          4  halting of killing of innocent Israeli citizens and

          5  innocent Palestinian citizens.

          6                 It's calling for the recognition of

          7  the self-determination of the Palestinian people and

          8  a creation of a Palestinian state.

          9                 It is calling for the recognition of

         10  Israel to exist with safe and secure borders. It is

         11  calling for the immediate halt of the military

         12  solution to this resolution and calling for

         13  negotiations. And I think that is the fairest way

         14  for this Council to go so that we have an

         15  even-handed balanced policy in the Middle East, and

         16  I request that you support Resolution 216.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you,

         18  Council Member Barron.

         19                 I would just say, I failed to mention

         20  before, but I would like to try to limit the

         21  discussions to three minutes.

         22                 I would like to call upon Council

         23  Member Katz to speak about Resolution Number 255.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chairman. And once again, let me echo my colleague's
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          2  words. This was a topic that was very courageous to

          3  take on. It is a topic that many people would say

          4  the City Council is courageous in taking on. It does

          5  not affect New York City's way of doing business

          6  directly, but we represent a constituency here in

          7  New York City that is highly affected by what

          8  happens today in the testimony that we are hearing.

          9                 I have Resolution Number 255 on the

         10  City Council today. It is a resolution which calls

         11  on the United Nations to condemn the practice of

         12  suicide bombings by the Palestinian community.

         13                 I guess in a way it's sort of

         14  interesting - in a way Councilman Barron says he's

         15  calling for even-handedness, in one way, and in

         16  another way I am, too. The United Nations

         17  historically has been extremely pro Palestinian, has

         18  been very anxious in coming out and condemning

         19  Israel for using excessive force, has been very

         20  anxious in coming out and condemning Israel for not

         21  using restraints at times that they felt that Israel

         22  should have used restraint. I submit to you that the

         23  United Nations should come out and do a no-brainer.

         24  United Nations should come out and do what they

         25  should have done many years ago, in condemning the
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          2  Palestinian bombings, the suicide bombings, that are

          3  happening in the state of Israel.

          4                 I believe that this is behavior that

          5  is outrageous. It is not an acceptable form of

          6  warfare in the world today. I submit to you that if

          7  it were happening somewhere else the United Nations

          8  would be more than anxious to come out and condemn

          9  the practice of suicide bombings, but that because

         10  it is happening in the state of Israel, I believe

         11  the United Nations is remaining silent.

         12                 I don't think they can remain silent

         13  any longer. My colleague, Councilman Koppell, went

         14  through the many examples of what is happening in

         15  Israel, and I could go through them as well, the

         16  bombings in cafes, the bombings in discos, the fear

         17  the Israel citizens are having going to a cafe or

         18  going to a movie, and quite honestly, I have a lot

         19  of respect for the people of Israel because they're

         20  not allowing it to happen. They're not allowing

         21  terrorism and suicide bombings to affect their way

         22  of life. They are continuing despite a lot of

         23  horrible circumstances.

         24                 It is time, however, that this body,

         25  this legislative body in the United Nations, that is
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          2  dedicated, and I quote, from their website,"... To

          3  international peace and security in the world," that

          4  they come out and do what they should have done

          5  years ago and take a stand against Palestinian

          6  suicide bombings in the state of Israel.

          7                 I do hope that with the testimony

          8  today we hear testimony about this, and that we hear

          9  examples perhaps from some victims. I think it would

         10  go a long way in dealing with this resolution. I do

         11  hope we get a vote on this resolution at some point

         12  soon.

         13                 I want to thank you, Mr. Chairman,

         14  for taking on this issue. I want to thank the

         15  Speaker for this hearing today, as well. I think

         16  that a lot of today gives the Speaker a lot of

         17  credit on how he believes information should be

         18  disseminated.

         19                 So, I want to thank you once again. I

         20  do hope that we call for a vote and actually make UN

         21  condemn Palestinian suicide bombings.

         22                 I'm trying to be quick, I've got one

         23  second left. Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Next I'd like to

         25  call upon Council Member Nelson to talk about
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          2  Resolution 258.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chairman. I also thank the Speaker for helping to

          5  organize today's events.

          6                 Mine is a little different, although

          7  I certainly echo the words of Council Members

          8  Koppell and Katz, but this is about the violence

          9  that has taken over Europe, although it's been on

         10  the wain somewhat, thank God, for awhile. There were

         11  the synagogues that were burned, there were acts of

         12  violence against Jews walking in various parts of

         13  Europe. Strasbourg, Marseilles had synagogues

         14  burned, there were desecrations of cemeteries, and,

         15  obviously, there was over 40 sponsors, how one would

         16  not want to sign onto something like this is beyond

         17  me actually. The thirties and the forties we found

         18  that there was a lot of silence, there were precious

         19  few words being said against the atrocities then,

         20  and it's been asked why as the Council, City

         21  Council, we cannot really affect national decisions.

         22  But perhaps we can in a way, when we do something,

         23  when we say something, when we stress something,

         24  there are a lot of diplomats besides in this country

         25  that walk around, and if they are the
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          2  representatives of certain countries who have been

          3  allowing this to go on, then they need, they deserve

          4  to be embarrassed and get across to the leadership

          5  in their various countries that this is not to be

          6  tolerated if they are to proclaim their countries,

          7  whether it's France or Russia or any country, you

          8  cannot profess to be a civilized country and not

          9  protect all of your citizenry. This is where the

         10  Council comes in, to make our feelings known, we

         11  will stand for this type of prejudicism against any

         12  people, in this case it happens to be against the

         13  Jews of Europe.

         14                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         16                 Next I would like to call upon

         17  Council Member Weprin, who is a prime co-sponsor of

         18  Resolution 214, to say a few words.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Okay. While

         20  I'm going to address 214, I'm also going to

         21  generically address all the other resolutions,

         22  because they are intertwined, and I also want to

         23  praise the leadership of our Chairman Jose Serrano

         24  and Speaker Miller for allowing the debate on these

         25  resolutions to go forward.
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          2                 We, members of the City Council, have

          3  been roundly criticized by many editorial writers of

          4  the local press as overstepping our responsibility

          5  in entering into the field of international

          6  relations.

          7                 Of course, they are wrong. They are

          8  wrong today, just as they were when they criticized

          9  the Council for overstepping their responsibility in

         10  stating its opposition to apartheid in South Africa.

         11  This is not a question of international diplomacy or

         12  foreign relations. It is a question of freedom. It

         13  is a question of the internationally recognized

         14  right of a citizen to feel safe in his home and

         15  City, and it is a recognized right of an individual

         16  to address grievances peacefully in a recognized and

         17  appropriate setting.

         18                 So, now, after almost two years of

         19  terror attacks that have been introduced to our

         20  world, a new term, a "human bomb," we are confronted

         21  with the question in the case of the Resolution 7-A,

         22  of what to do with an organization housed in New

         23  York City that rejects the right of citizens to feel

         24  safe in their homes, that addresses grievances only

         25  be detonating human bombs, and whose viciousness in
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          2  government supported acts of terror emerge as an

          3  affront to our humanity.

          4                 So, the issue now arises for us in

          5  the Council, who have been elected by the people of

          6  New York City, as to what it is to be our response

          7  in maintaining the headquarters of the Palestinian

          8  Authority in our City, and the importance of taking

          9  a very strong stand in condemning terrorism.

         10                 What are we to do? We will

         11  persistently provide to the Palestinian Authority

         12  round-the-clock protection to afford them the

         13  freedom and protection they systematically deny to

         14  others; we, who well know what is meant by a terror

         15  attack; we, who like the people of Israel, have been

         16  devastated, but not vanquished, by terrorists whose

         17  only goals and whose only satisfaction rests in the

         18  ability to destroy, dismember and denigrate its

         19  enemies. And, so, we must take action, and it must

         20  be an action based upon the rights of humanity, and

         21  I believe not only Resolution 7-A, but Resolution

         22  214, and Resolution 255, and the Resolution 258, all

         23  take a very strong stand against terrorism.

         24                 I just want to make another comment

         25  on my colleague, Council Member Barron's Resolution
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          2  216, which I do not support.

          3                 The language in Council Member

          4  Barron's resolution is language that I think we all

          5  can support throughout the text of the resolution.

          6  There's only one problem with it, and I am not

          7  opposed to considering a Palestinian life any less

          8  sacred than an Israeli life or a Jewish life, I

          9  think we all agree that the loss of innocent lives

         10  are a tragedy for everyone, and for humankind. The

         11  problem is the conclusion in the Resolution, which

         12  basically draws an implied moral equivalent between

         13  what the Palestinians are doing by supporting

         14  terrorism and Resolution 214 takes a strong stand

         15  against, you know, the Palestinian bombers and the

         16  fact that the Israelis are basically just defending

         17  themselves, similar to what the United States is

         18  doing. And I think it's the same moral equivalence,

         19  if you want to do it, as to Osama Bin Laden

         20  orchestrating his terrorists in destroying the World

         21  Trade Center to us going into Afghanistan and

         22  bombing in defense of our country and rooting out

         23  terrorism. So, I think there is a difference, it is

         24  not a moral equivalent, and it's very important that

         25  we, as a body, take a very strong stand against
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          2  terrorism.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: In the interest

          5  of time, we have time constraints and we have a lot

          6  of people who would like to testify, and I would

          7  like to ask all those who testify to please limit

          8  their testimony to three minutes.

          9                 You can submit written testimony that

         10  is as long as you want it to be, and it will become

         11  part of the official record. But, please, when you

         12  come up to the table, please summarize your

         13  testimony. And I would like to call up the first

         14  panel of Rabbi Avi Weiss and Stephen Flatow.

         15                 Before you begin, I would just like

         16  to introduce the members of this Committee here.

         17  Council Member Tracy Boyland, Council Member James

         18  Davis, Council Member Ruben Diaz. We're also joined

         19  by Council Member Simcha Felder, Councilwoman

         20  Melinda Katz, Council Member Charles Barron, Council

         21  Member Michael Nelson, and, of course, Council

         22  Member Oliver Koppell. And, of course, the Chair of

         23  the Finance Committee, Council Member David Weprin.

         24  Thank you for being here.

         25                 You can begin.
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          2                 MR. FLATOW: Mr. Chairman, thank you

          3  for having me here today in support of Resolution

          4  Number 7, as the subject of Palestinian sponsorship

          5  and support of terrorism is close to my heart. My

          6  daughter Alisa, 20 years old, was killed by

          7  Palestinian terrorists in April 1995 while she was a

          8  student in Israel. She was riding a public bus when

          9  a homicide bomber of the Islamic Jihad attacked it.

         10  Eight died in that attack and more than 40 were

         11  injured.

         12                 Our family was honored by the City

         13  Council in Resolution 966 of 1995, when memorialized

         14  Alisa's life and mourned her death. It is on her

         15  behalf and the many other victims of terrorism and

         16  their families that I appear before you today.

         17                 While Alisa's murder took place 6,000

         18  miles from the shores of these United States, you

         19  may be surprised to learn that financial support for

         20  her killers came from several American-based

         21  organizations that were fronts for terrorist groups

         22  in the Middle East. These organizations masqueraded

         23  as "intellectual think tanks" but their purpose was

         24  not education; it was murder.

         25                 Beginning in the early 1990s, in
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          2  meeting after meeting throughout the United States,

          3  the leaders of these organizations raised money. But

          4  the money was not for intellectual purposes but to

          5  provide resources for my daughter's killers to

          6  purchase explosives and materials to make the bomb,

          7  automobiles with which to move about and then make

          8  payments to the murderer's family.

          9                 The true nature of these

         10  organizations was finally recognized publicly in

         11  1995 when the FBI seized the assets and records of

         12  these groups and put them out of business. I can

         13  only sit here before you today and wonder if Alisa

         14  would be alive if the FBI and our government acted

         15  earlier than they did.

         16                 There is no doubt in my mind that

         17  terrorism's sponsors and supporters will use all

         18  means at their disposal to advance their agenda of

         19  death and destruction. This includes operating in

         20  countries such as ours that are open societies that

         21  are protective of the rights of those whose opinions

         22  and beliefs may run counter to our own. That is the

         23  American way. However, that protection must not

         24  extend to those who would cause us, or other

         25  innocents no matter where located, harm. Terror
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          2  victims and potential terror victims have rights

          3  too.

          4                 My experience over the past seven

          5  years of fighting my daughter's killers and their

          6  sponsors has been insightful. That fight and the

          7  events of the past 18 months in the Middle East

          8  forces me to conclude that the Palestinian Authority

          9  encourages, supports, sponsors and protects

         10  terrorist groups, and that its offices in the City

         11  of New York constitute a danger to those who live,

         12  work and travel here.

         13                 The Palestinian Authority is not a

         14  government that enjoys protections accorded states.

         15  Its offices are here by virtue of their good graces

         16  of the American people through their elected

         17  representatives. The Palestinian Authority, through

         18  its own actions, has forfeited the right to the

         19  protections heretofore afforded it. And I,

         20  therefore, urge you to do all within your powers to

         21  remove the presence of the PA from New York City. By

         22  so doing, you will create a safer environment for us

         23  all.

         24                 In conclusion, do not be disheartened

         25  by those who say you are fighting windmills, that
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          2  your energy can be better spent elsewhere and that

          3  it is not your job to define international policy.

          4  To the contrary, I commend you for being in the

          5  forefront of the battle against terrorism and hope

          6  that the message sent by your efforts is heard

          7  loudly and clearly in our nation's capital.

          8                 May God bless you and your efforts.

          9  Thank you.

         10                 RABBI WEISS: Thanks to Councilman

         11  Serrano for facilitating these hearings, to

         12  Councilman Koppell for courageously introducing his

         13  resolution, and to Rabbi Shmuel Herzfeld for

         14  masterfully lobbying for these hearings.

         15                 I know that this is a political

         16  chamber, but to me this is a deeply spiritual

         17  moment, as I have in my soul the memory of Alisa

         18  Flatow and the thousands of victims of terror here

         19  in the United States and in Israel. As I told

         20  Councilman Barron yesterday in a conversation we

         21  had, the Coalition for Jewish Concerns AMCLA

         22  (phonetic) can support, Councilman Barron, are part

         23  of your resolution. At religious services and

         24  rallies, I, as a Rabbi, I have always spoken about

         25  the pain we must all feel for the loss of all
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          2  innocent life in the Middle East, including

          3  Palestinian life, as a death, the death of a

          4  Palestinian, an innocent Palestinian, is no less

          5  than the death of an innocent Israeli or innocent

          6  Jew. But the Barron Resolution is deeply flawed,

          7  it's morally flawed, as it fails to point out that

          8  there is no moral equivalency between cold blooded

          9  murder and self-defense. There is no moral

         10  equivalence between a Palestinian terrorist, who

         11  purposely murders, and an Israeli soldier who

         12  accidentally kills an innocent person in Israel's

         13  war against terrorism.

         14                 In fact, I ask Councilman Barron if

         15  he would support a resolution which expresses pain

         16  for loss of innocent Afghani and American life

         17  without distinguishing between Al-Qa'ida's intent to

         18  murder and American soldiers who accidentally kill

         19  an innocent person in America's war against

         20  terrorism. Mr. Barron said that he could support

         21  such a resolution.

         22                 Respectfully, and I hope we have many

         23  other conversations, respectfully I cannot support

         24  that kind of resolution. If there is no moral

         25  difference between the victims of the Twin Towers
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          2  and the victims, innocent victims in Afghanistan,

          3  that means that there's no moral difference between

          4  the killers, between Al-Qa'ida and American troops,

          5  and that's why I believe your resolution, Councilman

          6  Barron, is not only disgraceful, but unAmerican,

          7  because it fails, it fails to speak to that message.

          8                 While we support the Katz, Nelson and

          9  Miller resolutions, they do not go far enough.

         10                 Yasser Arafat has created a culture

         11  of terrorism. Palestinian children are taught

         12  terrorism in their earliest years of school. Arafat

         13  calls terrorists "martyrs." He has built museums

         14  extolling terror. Not only has he harbored Hamas and

         15  Islamic Jihad, his own Al-Aqsa Brigade is

         16  responsible for the murder of scores of Israelis,

         17  including American citizens.

         18                 President Bush agrees with this

         19  assessment. The President has said that Arafat

         20  should be removed. He has said Arafat is a

         21  terrorist. He has said that the PA leadership must

         22  be reformed, and now, the present Palestinian

         23  leadership has openly called for terrorism to come

         24  here.

         25                 In an April Washington rally,
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          2  thousands applauded as speakers at the

          3  pro-Palestinian rally called for the Intifada to

          4  come to America, and just last week Arafat's Al-Aqsa

          5  Brigade called for future terrorist attacks on

          6  Jewish and American establishments. Bearing in mind

          7  Arafat's role in terrorism, bearing in mind

          8  President Bush's statement that Arafat encourages

          9  terror, bearing in mind that the Palestinian

         10  Authority threatening to bring terror here, it

         11  follows that Arafat's offices in New York pose a

         12  danger.

         13                 No one knows what's happening in

         14  those offices on Park Avenue. Much like the Iranian

         15  Mission in Argentina facilitated the terrorist

         16  bombing of Amnia, the Jewish Community Center of

         17  Buenos Aires in 1994, the Palestinian office here

         18  representing a terrorist organization can be doing

         19  the same.

         20                 Mayor Bloomberg has told me that as

         21  leader of the host City of the UN, he cannot support

         22  a resolution demanding the PA's removal. But the

         23  City Council is the voice of the people. It is the

         24  voice of moral conscious. It has the responsibility

         25  to declare the Palestinian Authority a terrorist
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          2  organization, and then, contrary to the Mayor's

          3  position, not remove the PA, but use its moral

          4  persuasive power to ask the federal government to

          5  find a legal way to expel the PA.

          6                 Let me say it simply: Not only does

          7  the presence of the PA here inspire terror, its very

          8  presence is a threat to New Yorkers. If Arafat is a

          9  terrorist, his offices here are a terrorist nest,

         10  and should be closed. The eyes of the world are on

         11  the New York City Council, let no one ever say New

         12  York City government did not do enough to fight

         13  terror. I ask you to do your share to keep New York

         14  safe, and that means closing the PA offices in New

         15  York. What an extraordinary blow to terror that

         16  would be, what a powerful message this would send to

         17  the world.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Please remain.

         19  We have a question from one of the members of the

         20  Committee, Council Member James Davis.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Thank you so

         22  very much for your attendance.

         23                 First I would like to say that I

         24  stood on the steps of City Hall to condemn what is

         25  termed as "suicide bombings." I do not consider it
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          2  suicide bombings when you run into a crowd of

          3  people. If you want to call it suicide bombing, you

          4  run across the street, you say everyone look at me,

          5  and then you blow yourself up. That's a suicide

          6  bombing. But when you run into a crowd of people and

          7  you blow yourself up, I do agree that that is a

          8  homicide bombing. And as everyone already knows, I

          9  come from a standpoint as a retired police officer.

         10                 I have a couple of questions. First I

         11  want to offer my condolences to Stephen Flatow, for

         12  the loss of your daughter's life.

         13                 My questions, I really have taken my

         14  time, and I'm really exploring all of the above. I

         15  consider this a very sensitive and a very important

         16  legislation resolution, and I compliment Councilman

         17  Serrano.

         18                 In your testimony you stated, Mr.

         19  Flatow, that the Palestinian Islamic Jihad had --

         20  there was a homicide bombing. Now, who is to say

         21  that this Palestinian Islamic Jihad represented all

         22  of the people of Palestine? That's where I have the

         23  problem. There have been many, and an

         24  African-American, who have done various acts and

         25  they say, well, we represent African-Americans. Just
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          2  because you're black does not mean that you

          3  represent African-Americans. Just because you got

          4  out and commit an act, and you say I do this in the

          5  name of the people, that doesn't mean that we as

          6  African-Americans, all of us, sign off on that.

          7                 So, this Palestinian Islamic Jihad,

          8  why do you make the connection that they somehow

          9  represent all the interests of the Palestinians;

         10  one?

         11                 And if we remove the Palestinian

         12  offices from down at the United Nation, if we vote

         13  to remove, then who will represent the good people

         14  of Palestine there? Do we remove -- if this is a

         15  terrorist organization, and I'm open right now, I'm

         16  open, I'm exploring, I've made it very clear, I look

         17  forward to going to Israel, I want all the

         18  information possible, because I want to make the

         19  right decision, I'm very much open. But if we remove

         20  this organization, who will represent the good

         21  people of Palestine? Who will represent them?

         22                 Or do we have in place -- I guess

         23  it's a two-fold question -- Rabbi Weiss, have we

         24  identified someone that can represent? If we say

         25  Arafat is X, then who have we identified to be Y?
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          2                 If we say the Palestinian Islamic

          3  Jihad is X, they're out, then is there anyone good

          4  to represent the good people of Palestine, where at

          5  the United Nations everyone should be able to

          6  dialogue and come together and communicate?

          7                 MR. FLATOW: Okay, I'll take the first

          8  part of that question.

          9                 I found it strange, I found it

         10  actually vulgar and revolting that Alisa's killers

         11  are praised as martyrs by the leadership, the

         12  elected leadership of the Palestinian people, and

         13  that streets and parks are named after these killers

         14  in West Bank cities, in the Gaza strip, in Sierra

         15  and Iran. That type of message to the Palestinian

         16  people is not a healthy one.

         17                 If there's to be a resolution or

         18  reconciliation of Palestinians and Israelis, it has

         19  to come first with an outright denunciation of

         20  terrorism and terrorists and the people who send

         21  these murderers to their own deaths.

         22                 As to the second part of the

         23  question, I think that we're in a bind, and right

         24  now the people in a bigger bind are the Palestinians

         25  because we do not see leadership from them. And
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          2  until they come forward with people who are adopting

          3  democratic means who can demonstrate to us that

          4  they're able to sit at the same table without having

          5  designs on me and my family as we travel or study in

          6  Israel, then we have no one to talk to.

          7                 RABBI WEISS: Let me just echo that,

          8  that as a Rabbi I condemn with all my might

          9  collective guilt or collective punishment. I have no

         10  doubt in my mind that one day Israel is going to be

         11  able to make peace with Palestinians, when the

         12  Palestinians find the proper leadership.

         13                 But at the present time, Arafat and

         14  the Palestinian Authority has been labeled by our

         15  own President, by President Bush, as being

         16  terrorist. That's the issue.

         17                 At this point this office represents

         18  terrorism. It is a nest of terrorism and it

         19  therefore places New Yorkers in jeopardy. I pray

         20  everyday for that moment in time when there will be

         21  a Palestinian leadership that will yearn for peace.

         22  It's those kinds of offices whose presence in New

         23  York New Yorkers should applaud. But when these

         24  offices, in fact, are offices that represent

         25  terrorism, that applauds those who murdered and took
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          2  the life of Alisa Flatow, not only does their

          3  presence here inspire terror, but I believe that

          4  their presence here places New Yorkers at risk.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Again, that's

          6  why I made it clear from day one, and I thank you,

          7  and I'm also a member of the clergy, that I would

          8  love to go to Israel to follow up on some of the

          9  things that Mr. Flatow?

         10                 MR. FLATOW: Flay-toe. I've been

         11  pronouncing it wrong all my life, I guess, I don't

         12  know.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Okay, forgive

         14  me.

         15                 RABBI WEISS: And I've been Wees for a

         16  long time, too.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Okay, so

         18  forgive me for the wrong pronunciation of your name,

         19  Mr. Flatow, so that I can see, because what you're

         20  saying is alarming, and to highlight and identify

         21  and to name parks after individuals who have done a

         22  suicide or homicide bombing, that information is

         23  something that I, as a Council member, it would have

         24  a very serious impact on my decision as a member of

         25  this Committee and how I vote.
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          2                 RABBI WEISS: And it would be an honor

          3  for me to be in Israel with you. I hope that day

          4  will soon come.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

          7                 Council Member Charles Barron.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: First, to my

          9  colleague and Council Member Davis, you're asking

         10  the wrong people who should lead the Palestinian

         11  people. It is not President Bush's decision. It is

         12  not either one of these two gentlemen's decision to

         13  determine the leadership of the Palestinian people.

         14  That's an absurd notion.

         15                 Sir, I also express my sincere

         16  condolences for the loss of your child.

         17                 MR. FLATOW: Thank you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I sincerely

         19  express that, it's expressed in my resolution, as

         20  well.

         21                 Rabbi Weiss, you know, I find it

         22  absolutely amazing that an intelligent, seemingly

         23  very sincere person as yourself, can sit here and

         24  tell the world that all of the thousands of killings

         25  of innocent Palestinian women and children have been
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          2  an accident by the military in all of the towns of

          3  Palestine. Every life lost, you're telling this

          4  world it was an accident, and you were looking for

          5  terrorists, and you didn't know that a missile or a

          6  tank destroying a whole building would kill innocent

          7  people, that was all an accident, and every act is

          8  an act of retaliation. Forget the land question,

          9  which is a major question in this issue, forget

         10  that, all are accidents. The world doesn't believe

         11  you. I believe half of your supporters will support

         12  you and clap for you, but in their heart of hearts,

         13  they know that every killing of innocent Palestinian

         14  women and children by the military of Israel was not

         15  an accident. What Ariel Sharon did in Beirut was not

         16  an accident, and there's a history that goes all the

         17  way back centuries. For you to sit here and say, and

         18  just snuff it off as some accident is immorally

         19  absurd, and I would like for you to respond.

         20                 RABBI WEISS: I respectfully disagree.

         21  The Israeli Army is not only one of the strongest

         22  per capita armies in the world, it is one of the

         23  most moral armies on the face of this earth.

         24                 As a clergyman I struggle with war.

         25  War is terrible. Even when one is forced to defend
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          2  himself or herself, and in the process must take

          3  life, that's tragic. It's truly, truly unfortunate.

          4  But I believe that you're wrong. I believe that the

          5  Israeli Army in self defense has displayed

          6  extraordinary, extraordinary ethical and moral

          7  sensitivity in the way it has defended itself and

          8  the way it has defended Israel.

          9                 The United States Army is an

         10  extraordinary army, the strongest army in the world,

         11  I believe a very moral army. It, too, has made

         12  tragic mistakes. Just the other week, when there was

         13  a bombing and 30 innocent people apparently were

         14  attending a wedding. That is the price of war, that

         15  is the horror of war. I wish, I wish it would all be

         16  unnecessary, but sometimes self-defense is an

         17  imperative.

         18                 And I repeat, if you argue, Mr.

         19  Barron, that there is no difference between cold

         20  blooded murder and self-defense, then you're also

         21  arguing that there's no difference between those who

         22  do the killing. There's no difference between a

         23  terrorist and a soldier, an American soldier, or an

         24  Israeli soldier, trying to defend his or her

         25  country. If that is your argument, I believe that
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          2  not only does it disgrace American troops, because

          3  in effect that's the analogy that you are drawing.

          4  You are drawing an analogy between American troops

          5  defending America and Al-Qa'ida going into the Twin

          6  Towers. That disgraces American troops. That is an

          7  unAmerican resolution and it's shameful.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: No, sir. What

          9  you're doing here, you should be ashamed of

         10  yourself. You're sitting here trying to manipulate,

         11  trying to manipulate a horrible tragedy in America

         12  and this has nothing to do with my resolution. For

         13  you to evoke that in this conference here, in this

         14  hearing here to try to elicit support from your

         15  supporters is tragic.

         16                 RABBI WEISS: No, but I --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Mr. Chairman,

         18  I will end there so we can move on. I know we have a

         19  long day.

         20                 RABBI WEISS: Mr. Chairman, if I may

         21  just have one more moment?

         22                 Mr. Barron, I didn't evoke it. In our

         23  conversation yesterday, I explored with you how far

         24  do you take this argument, and you said to me, you

         25  said to me -- tell me if you think differently. I
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          2  asked you, I asked you is there a difference between

          3  victims -- I ask you the question now: Is there a

          4  difference between the victims of the Twin Towers

          5  and the innocent victims in Afghanistan? And you

          6  said to me there was no difference.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I'll say it

          8  again.

          9                 RABBI WEISS: I say there's a great

         10  moral difference.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Any innocent

         12  life, be it in Palestine, be it in Afghanistan, be

         13  it in America, if it's an innocent life that did

         14  nothing to anybody on this planet to deserve to die,

         15  is wrong.

         16                 RABBI WEISS: One second. But then

         17  you're also implying that there is no difference

         18  between those -- one second. If there's no

         19  difference between those who died, then there's no

         20  difference between the killers, you have now offered

         21  a parallel between American troops and Al-Qa'ida

         22  terrorists. That is disgraceful and shameful.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: I would like to

         24  turn the floor over to Council Member James Davis

         25  for another moment.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Just for the

          3  purpose of discussion and hearing, and that's why

          4  it's good that we're having a public hearing, so

          5  that we can hear each other and not have any rush to

          6  judgment, not talk at each other or talk to one

          7  another for the purpose of hearing. Let me make

          8  something very clear. For the purpose of clarity, I

          9  was not asking these individuals who represent the

         10  Palestinian people, that was not my question.

         11                 I understand there was an election. I

         12  was not asking who represents. What my question was,

         13  and I would like to just make this very clear, my

         14  question was who did they think, it was to address

         15  Resolution 7-A, if we don't have the headquarters in

         16  Manhattan, who did you think should represent the

         17  good people? Who do you think? And I would ask that,

         18  and there are also Palestinian reporters here, and I

         19  would ask them the same question, who do you think

         20  should represent the good people of Palestine?

         21                 So, my question was not to imply one

         22  thing or the other, and I would ask that my

         23  colleague, all of my colleagues would listen, and if

         24  they're not clear about something, rather than

         25  attack me here in this forum on one of my questions,
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          2  listen carefully and then we can go to the side and

          3  talk, because we're in this City Council Chamber

          4  together.

          5                 So, my question was not to say this,

          6  I was talking about the good people and trying to

          7  make sure that we have understanding and clarity. I

          8  have taken no side, I have not made my official vote

          9  yet. I want to make what's the best decision for the

         10  City of New York and my constituents and all those

         11  people that we represent. So, I'm not saying you

         12  guys have the right to make a decision, we're open.

         13  We're open. I just wanted to know their position.

         14                 Thank you so very much, Mr. Chair,

         15  for allowing me to make that point clear.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you. Thank

         17  you very much.

         18                 Next I would like to call up to the

         19  panel, the Reverend Herbert Daughtry.

         20                 Thank you, Reverend.

         21                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Thank you, Mr.

         22  Chairman, and members of the Council, Mr. Speaker. I

         23  bring a weary soul to this discussion. The state of

         24  the world is such that I've never seen it in all the

         25  72 years I've sojourned on this side of history. And
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          2  my concern for the people of the world, especially

          3  for generations yet unborn, face what they face

          4  apparently, if we do not find a way to put a stop to

          5  this madness.

          6                 I want to commend Councilman Barron

          7  and the members who put forward Council 216. I noted

          8  with particular interest that they were only people

          9  of African ancestry, and I wondered what that meant.

         10  Does that mean that we are the only ones concerned

         11  about balance and fairness and truth and

         12  righteousness? Or does it mean that they will simply

         13  come on later?

         14                 I do want to commend you for

         15  following the tradition of your ancestors. We have

         16  always been for fairness. We didn't start looking

         17  for fairness yesteryear. Our history is a history of

         18  fairness. We have marched with Jews, we have marched

         19  with indigenous people, we have marched with Asians,

         20  particularly Japanese. I, myself, have even gone to

         21  Belfast and watched in the rain-swept streets of

         22  Belfast with machine guns in my head believing in

         23  the Irish struggle. So the attempt to find a balance

         24  fair approach to a dispute is nothing new. It is a

         25  difficult time for some of us, for on both sides of
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          2  the question we have friends. If I were to issue a

          3  call tomorrow for support, I can rest assured that

          4  both sides of this debate would be there.

          5                 It is not an easy matter, and

          6  therefore how do you approach it? Well, the only

          7  thing that you can do is with all of your might say

          8  I'd like to see fairness prevail. I'd like to see

          9  balance prevail. I know both sides of the question,

         10  and to the best of your ability you try to do that.

         11                 Now, if you're wrong, then God

         12  forgives. On this question, I don't think anybody

         13  have a monopoly on truce, nor does anybody have a

         14  monopoly on folly. There have been enough violence

         15  to go around all over the place, and we don't have

         16  time to dig up the history, as you discuss

         17  terrorism. You can't discuss terrorism in a vacuum.

         18  Terrorism come out of interceded actions. So, you

         19  have to look at the total question.

         20                 Nor do I believe that this country

         21  should be totally committed to any country. I think

         22  the leadership owe it to its people to be for its

         23  people first and for the people's of the world

         24  concomitantly.

         25                 Now, Mr. Chairman, the question would
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          2  be asked, well, why a balanced support? Well, the

          3  other question is why the terrorism? It is amazing

          4  to me that in this country nobody wants to look at

          5  the why. A six-year-old girl asks her momma, "momma,

          6  why do they hate us so?" And it seemed to me that we

          7  get heavy on the who and light on the why. We've got

          8  to look at why we're here. And, so, again, I rise to

          9  support a balanced fair approach to the Middle East

         10  question.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you very

         12  much, Reverend.

         13                 Council Member Diaz has a question.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ: Good morning,

         15  Reverend. How are you doing?

         16                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: I'm doing very

         17  well. Thank you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ: I just want to

         19  ask you, in your introduction you say you saw only a

         20  member of the Afro-American sign that resolution,

         21  and you wondered why. Do you want to repeat what it

         22  was you were thinking about?

         23                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: I think I said

         24  people of African ancestry. If I didn't, that's

         25  usually my language, more comprehensive than just
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          2  African-Americans.

          3                 What concerns me is, and as always,

          4  Reverend Diaz, it has always concerned me, that it

          5  seemed that we, people of African ancestry, are

          6  always isolated on the issues that profoundly

          7  concerns us.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ: What do you

          9  consider an African ancestor?

         10                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Well, I consider

         11  you a member of the --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ: Yes, thank you.

         13                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: That's what I

         14  meant. The Caribbean population, Latino population,

         15  within that category.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ: Yes. When you

         17  say what is it that only Afro-American --

         18                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: People of African

         19  -- yes. Are on the resolution.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ: Are on the

         21  resolution, how come other are not there. What is

         22  it?

         23                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ: Maybe we have a

         25  different point of view.
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          2                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: And that's fine.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ: Maybe we have a

          4  different opinion. Maybe people from the same

          5  Afro-American descendant have other point of view

          6  and other belief.

          7                 Let me tell you something. I want to

          8  respect you being a leader in the community and all

          9  of the Afro-American English-speaking community, but

         10  I am a black Hispanic, and always have been my own

         11  person. That have created me problems in my life,

         12  have created me enemies, but I speak what I feel,

         13  and I always take the position that I think morally

         14  to me are correct, and not what people want me to do

         15  and what people think is politically correct. So,

         16  I'm not following the political correction of the

         17  City of New York, I do what I think is right.

         18                 And to see the killing and to see the

         19  evil, evil act of 9/11 here in our land, and to see

         20  people dancing in the street celebrating that, and

         21  rejoicing because of that evil act, made me think

         22  that if they do that to us, what will they do to

         23  other people in Palestine, in Israel?

         24                 This is what happened on that day,

         25  here in New York City, in our nation, in our land,
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          2  and then these people were dancing in the street

          3  there and rejoicing because of the killing they did

          4  here, and I say if they do that to us, the biggest,

          5  strongest nation in the world, the biggest City in

          6  the world, publicly like that and rejoicing like

          7  that and do dancing in the street like that, I mean

          8  what could they do to Israel and to people in Israel

          9  that nobody takes the point of view.

         10                 However, I'm have taken a position in

         11  my life where I joined the Afro-American

         12  Descendants, and I have taken a position in my life

         13  when I don't join the African-American descendant,

         14  again that had created to me some enemies, some

         15  friends, but, you know, I am a grown old man and I

         16  always am responsible to my acts. I would like to

         17  say, because I've got to leave and I've got to do

         18  this, Resolution 7-A, sponsored by Council Member

         19  Oliver Koppell, the resolution says, "Resolved, that

         20  the Council of the City of New York urges President

         21  George W. Bush to declare that the Palestinian

         22  Authority and the Palestine Liberation Organization

         23  are terrorist organizations, and be it further

         24                 That the Council urges the government

         25  of the United States to take such actions as are
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          2  required by law and pursuant to treaty obligations

          3  with the United Nations to close the offices of the

          4  Palestinian Authority in the City of New York."

          5                 I think that that is a very good

          6  decision and action taken by Council Member Koppell.

          7                 In Resolution 214 by Council Member

          8  Speaker Miller, he said that the "Council of the

          9  City of New York strongly condemns the brutal

         10  Palestinian suicide bomb terrorist attacks against

         11  Israel and expressing solidarity with the people of

         12  the state of Israel, as well as sympathy for the

         13  loss of all civilian life in the current conflict

         14  with the hope for a true and lasting peace that

         15  provides security for all parties."

         16                 I congratulate Speaker Miller in this

         17  resolution and it's a good one which I support.

         18                 Resolution 255, by Melinda Katz, says

         19  that the "Council of the City of New York calls upon

         20  the United Nations to no longer remain silent and

         21  pass a resolution condemning the practice of

         22  suicide" -- my friend said not suicide of terrorists

         23  -- "bombings by the Palestinian community."

         24                 I congratulate Melinda Katz on this

         25  resolution.
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          2                 Resolution 258 by Michael Nelson said

          3  that the Council of the City of New York calls upon

          4  the government of the United States to strongly

          5  condemn and call for an immediate end to the recent

          6  barrage of anti-Jewish violence sweeping across

          7  Europe and other Western nations."

          8                 I congratulate Michael Nelson on that

          9  resolution, and I concur.

         10                 On Resolution 216 by Charles Barron,

         11  the language of the resolution, there are something

         12  that bothers me; however, the last paragraph, the

         13  last paragraph of that resolution is something that

         14  we have to look into it. The language is something

         15  that I would not support, I would object to it;

         16  however, the last paragraph says "That the Council

         17  of the City of New York calls for an evenhanded

         18  policy in the Middle East and a halt to the

         19  killings" -- no, that's not the one. "The City

         20  Council to serve as facilitators of peace and not"

         21  -- that's not it. Sorry.

         22                 That the City Council recognizes that

         23  just as the Council supports Israel's right to exist

         24  with safe and secure borders, everybody should be

         25  secure and in harmony, and that the peaceful
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          2  negotiation should be the one route to take.

          3                 I would say again and again and

          4  again, I am a Puerto Rican, I will support the Jews,

          5  the people of Israel, I think that the killing

          6  they've been doing in Israel, and as they did it to

          7  us in New York, that means that they are doing it to

          8  the people in Israel, that should be condemned, the

          9  offices of the PLO should be closed and the state

         10  should take action onto it. That I'm saying on my

         11  own. On my own. I know it will create me enemies. It

         12  doesn't matter. It doesn't matter. I respect other

         13  people opinion, I hope other people respect my

         14  opinion, and I support the resolution of Melinda

         15  Katz. Thank you very much.

         16                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Mr. Chairman, may

         17  I respond to the good Reverend before he departs?

         18                 When I posed the question, it was

         19  intended to do just what it did. You had a chance to

         20  respond. I know that it is not the easiest matter,

         21  in fact rather courageous it must be, to go against

         22  the tide. It seems to be that courage isn't with

         23  supporting the other resolution, the courage, in

         24  fact, is with Mr. Barron, what Mr. Barron has put

         25  forward. It is not only courageous, it is also fair.
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          2                 I'm not sure how we get to the World

          3  Trade Center in all of this. In fact, to adopt Mr.

          4  Barron's, Councilman Barron's resolution, I believe

          5  would prevent, or at least go a long ways toward

          6  preventing World Trade Centers and other forms of

          7  bias. It is precisely, Reverend, and I must ask,

          8  when did you start identifying terrorist acts?

          9                 I could sit here for the rest of the

         10  day and cite terrorist acts all over the place, but

         11  that would tend to put us on a slide in which it

         12  would tend to suggest I'm supporting this or that

         13  person.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ: I do not intend

         15  --

         16                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: May I finish?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ: I do not intend

         18  to go --

         19                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: You don't have to.

         20  Let me finish.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ: Listen.

         22                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ: I do not intend

         24  to take the same action on child violence too with

         25  the Rabbi back and forth. I'm just finished, okay?
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          2  Finito.

          3                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Well, you can be

          4  finished, but that doesn't necessarily mean I'm

          5  finished. Whatever, I think the Chairman will allow

          6  me the courtesy of a response. Now, you can close

          7  your ears, you can depart, that's up to you, but I

          8  think the record ought to at least reflect a

          9  response. And the response is, going back to the

         10  World Trade Center, this is why I raised the

         11  question earlier, it seemed to me we have difficulty

         12  asking the why. If a six-year-old child can ask her

         13  mother, why do they hate her so? Why are people

         14  blowing themselves up all over the place? How are

         15  they getting in airplanes, diving into buildings?

         16  What's going on here? And to ask the question why is

         17  it by no means to support the act, nor is it

         18  unpatriotic. So, when you talk of terrorist acts, I

         19  mean that's a slippery slope, Reverend, because

         20  there are other terrorist acts in history, you know,

         21  I guess the pharaohs, Moses was a terrorist because

         22  he killed some innocent people. In fact, in the

         23  Bible, the God in the Bible might be considered a

         24  terrorist because he told the Death Angels to kill

         25  all the boy babies in Egypt, even because Egyptians
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          2  had a policy of genocide killing all the Hebrew

          3  babies. The question is how do we put a stop to it.

          4  This is why, again, I support the resolution, is

          5  that it is not, it is not in the best interest of

          6  the people of the United States to be a Siamese twin

          7  to any people, that the leadership of the United

          8  States of America ought to understand that its first

          9  allegiance is to the people of this country.

         10                 The other thing that bothered me, Mr.

         11  Chairman, that bothers me, Reverend, and I think the

         12  Speaker Rabbi Weiss touched on it, one of the

         13  speakers: I woke up the other morning and I saw

         14  these babies on the shoulders of these adults, and

         15  one of them had a grenade in each hand, another one

         16  had a machine gun.

         17                 I remember seeing in Afghanistan

         18  little children, mocking Bin Laden, and you realize

         19  that this business is not just for this generation.

         20  I'm 72. I'm pretty much finished. I've gotten my

         21  biblical three score and ten in (sic), so anything

         22  else is a bonus, but I do have grandchildren, and

         23  unless we find a way out of this morass, unless we

         24  find a way, some nation somewhere can say let's be

         25  balanced, let's be fair about it, my grandchildren
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          2  are going off to fight for some decisions made by

          3  somebody else a thousand miles away.

          4                 So, the resolution, it seemed to me,

          5  calls for this powerful nation, probably the only

          6  nation that can do it, is to step up and with a no

          7  nonsense, tough, fair, balanced policy that says

          8  you're going to stop this violence, you're going to

          9  stop it, you're going to stop it and do all that it

         10  can to put an end to it. Unless that can happen, I'm

         11  afraid we're just going around and around in a

         12  circle blaming somebody for throwing bombs, blaming

         13  somebody for dropping bombs. I wonder what the dead

         14  people would say if you raised them up and asked

         15  them how did you want to be killed, with a bayonet,

         16  with a bomb, with a bullet? No, we've got to find a

         17  way out of this morass, some kind of way. We've just

         18  got to find a way out, Reverend.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you. Thank

         20  you.

         21                 Don't leave yet, Reverend.

         22                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Okay.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Council Member

         24  Charles Barron.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: In the
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          2  interest of time, I'll withdraw my --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: I'm sorry, if we

          4  can also just, and to all the other members of the

          5  Committee, in the interest of time, like Council

          6  Member Barron said, just speed up the questions.

          7  Thank you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I withdraw my

          9  question for Reverend Daughtry.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: No, no, no. Go

         11  ahead.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Oh, okay.

         13  Thank you.

         14                 I just wanted to ask you, Reverend

         15  Daughtry, some of the foundations of this struggle,

         16  and I certainly don't want you to go through all of

         17  it now, but there are very, very serious questions

         18  around land, there's very, very serious questions

         19  around religion, and there's very, very serious

         20  questions around who are the terrorists.

         21                 Would you recommend to this Committee

         22  here that at some point, and what would be the basis

         23  of us having some kind of conference that speaks to

         24  the deeper historicity of this question?

         25                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: These

          3  resolutions really don't touch on that really, and

          4  we can go back and forth --

          5                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: But some of

          7  the deep history behind this, would you recommend

          8  for this Committee that we explore?

          9                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Yes. See, that's

         10  some of the "why" to which I alluded. Terrorism, as

         11  no act, takes place in a vacuum. Some can produce

         12  that. And unless we get at the why, the cause behind

         13  it, we're still going to be, it seems to me, trying

         14  to isolate a particular act and say this or that is

         15  a terrorist act.

         16                 One of the difficulties as a

         17  religious person, you know what? I'll tell you a

         18  secret. This is between you, me and the world.

         19  Anybody in my congregation comes up to me and says,

         20  Pastor, God told me to tell you so and so - I start

         21  trembling. Most of the folks in my congregation that

         22  cause me trouble, God told them. Whenever, you will

         23  notice through history, whenever that religious

         24  question is put on the table, blood follows.

         25                 I remember going to Israel many, many
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          2  years ago. Got on the plane, El Al, going to a bible

          3  conference, and, obviously, I'm the only black

          4  person on the plane, so it did cause a little

          5  concern. And the security people came on, searched

          6  me up, down, put me in the room and asked me, well,

          7  who do you work for? And I said "I work for God."

          8  And I shall never forget, he shook his head and

          9  nonchalantly said, yes, that's the problem, we all

         10  work for God.

         11                 And, so, when you add the religious

         12  question of the land question, you've got an

         13  explosive situation, which creates so much emotion

         14  that people can't hardly think through whatever. But

         15  let's put it through this terms, would we concede to

         16  all of the peoples of the world the right to return

         17  to their ancient land because their God told them to

         18  return there?

         19                 So, let's get the native Americans,

         20  let's get the indigenous people, let's get them,

         21  let's go and follow them out to the western plains

         22  and say you deserve to have everything out here.

         23                 So, we have to put this in the

         24  historical context and say, can we leave God out of

         25  it for a moment? Let's realize our own frailties,
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          2  our own weaknesses, our own -- there's bible verse,

          3  Reverend, you remember, and I'm finished, which says

          4  that Oh, God, oh, Lord, if Thou should mock

          5  inequity, who could stand?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Well, thank

          7  you, Reverend Daughtry.

          8                 And to Reverend Ruben Diaz, I would

          9  never ever consider you my enemy. You will always be

         10  my comrade in struggle, even if we differ.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Council Member

         12  Simcha Felder.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Hi.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Oh, I'm sorry, I

         15  missed James Davis.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Do I get extra

         17  time?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Reverend

         20  Daughtry, let me say that, Reverend Daughtry, I

         21  think I hear your testimony when you speak about

         22  fair and reasonable.

         23                 I just want to give a little to you

         24  that don't know about Reverend Daughtry's history.

         25  Reverend Daughtry was one of the main leaders who
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          2  would always speak out against police brutality, and

          3  though I was a cop, and some people would say "he

          4  speaks out against all cops, how can you march with

          5  him?" I said, "No, he doesn't speak out against all

          6  cops, he speaks out against police brutality, and he

          7  speaks up for good cops."

          8                 Now, people weren't listening to you,

          9  so they thought because you spoke out against police

         10  brutality, you were anti cop, but I've always been

         11  able to hear past the rhetoric of others and know

         12  that you were speaking out for fair and reasonable

         13  and responsible good cops. So, I want to compliment

         14  you for your history of always speaking out for good

         15  cops, and are against cops that committed bad acts

         16  which would make them bad cops. I look at all these

         17  resolutions and the Resolution 216, 255, 214, 258,

         18  and just from early and reading the resolution, they

         19  all seem to be pretty reasonable, and Resolution

         20  number 7-A, once I am able to interpret the

         21  language, and who exactly does represent and do we

         22  want to go against the United States government, and

         23  will this resolution interfere or will this help the

         24  peace process, are we going against the government?

         25  You know, as long as we take a good look and we have
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          2  clarity on that, then we'll be able to make a

          3  clearer decision on Resolution Number 7-A. But I

          4  think that all of these resolutions are reasonable

          5  on surface, and at this early stage, I wouldn't be

          6  surprised if I'm in support of resolution 216, 255,

          7  214 and 258, and with a closer look at the language

          8  of 7-A, because I might be there as well.

          9                 Reverend Daughtry, do you think that

         10  there is a way that this thing can be resolved with

         11  communication and dialogue? And if you do, what is

         12  your opinion of how we can come to a level that even

         13  responsible, healthy dialogue communication, so that

         14  there can be peace?

         15                 And I heard you say that you went to

         16  Israel, and I'd be happy to go to Israel with

         17  Reverend Daughtry and Rabbi Weiss, and we all go

         18  together.

         19                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Because there

         21  have been terrorist acts committed in this country

         22  before, Davorah Halberstam's son was a victim of a

         23  terrorist act, so we have work to do. Do you think

         24  that by us all coming together and communicating, we

         25  can reach a level of peace?
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          2                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Yes, surely. I

          3  believe I remember something Bishop Tutu said during

          4  what appeared to be an insoluble situation in South

          5  Africa, and he said "I'm addicted to hope." So, I'm

          6  addicted to hope, and I heard again one of the prize

          7  speakers say that he believed that at some point

          8  Israeli, Palestinians are going to be together.  And

          9  one of the tragedies of history is that these things

         10  cannot be done, except we swim through a sea of

         11  blood. Unfortunately, that's the story of history.

         12                 Yes, I believe. But, again, as

         13  passionately as I can say it, and as fairly as I can

         14  say it, the USA must be more balanced. In fact,

         15  notice Bush is moving toward a "provisional state,"

         16  as he called it. But there's got to be a balanced

         17  approach. Peoples of the world, other nations, must

         18  see this nation, not as inextricably woven into the

         19  leadership and the policies of Israeli leadership,

         20  sometimes, Councilman Davis, our friends are locked

         21  in the positions that they can't get out. Sometimes

         22  language locked them in, sometimes imagery locked

         23  them in, sometimes history locked them in. And the

         24  best act you can do for a friend is to help a friend

         25  out of that bind.
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          2                 Therefore, I believe, with all my

          3  heart, that if the leadership of this country were

          4  to take a more balanced fair approach, I think --

          5  you made reference to me, pardon this digression,

          6  you're right, I'm old now, but for 44 years I

          7  struggled on various issues, and you know what

          8  happened, Reverend Davis? They made me the bad guy.

          9  I saw Louie Baez, 1979, 27 bullets these officers

         10  pumped in his body. When I took his mother to the

         11  precinct, you read the news, they said there's

         12  Reverend Daughtry, he's a hoodlum, he's a rabarouser

         13  (phonetic), somebody ought to remove him off the

         14  street. They didn't even deal with the fact that

         15  Louie Baez was dead. So, they pointed to me as the

         16  issue, and I found that in so doing they didn't have

         17  to deal with the question.

         18                 Now, we can talk about Palestinian

         19  Authority and Arafat all we please, and this is

         20  probably too deep and complicated for me to get into

         21  in a short period of time, but the teachings of

         22  history, and my own limited experience, is that

         23  often times that's a distraction. People lift up a

         24  leader, and say he is the cause, and therefore you

         25  don't have to deal with the issue that the leader is
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          2  raising, right? As long as all the attention is on

          3  Arafat, Arafat, Arafat - what are the issues that

          4  he's raising? What is he talking about? Are there

          5  any legitimacy in the issues that are produced?  And

          6  if you remove him, wouldn't it be the same thing

          7  unless the issues are dealt with?

          8                 So, I believe by coming together, by

          9  this country, and probably is the only country in

         10  the world that can do it, we'll say get these two

         11  people together, stop trying to identify who, and

         12  say, listen, Arafat is the Palestinian leader, bring

         13  him to the White House, Prime Minister Ariel Sharon,

         14  bring him to the White House, and let's sit down and

         15  work this thing out and so that our children all can

         16  live in peace.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Reverend

         18  Daughtry, I think that you have answered the

         19  question on what you believe, and, again, it's not

         20  about the introductions of these resolutions, it's

         21  not about Rabbi Avi Weiss, it's not about James

         22  Davis, it's not about Reverend Daughtry or Davorah

         23  Halberstam or the PLO; it's about the people --

         24                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Right.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: And it's about
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          2  the peace process. And that's what we're committed

          3  to, and I believe that I could safely say that's

          4  what the City Council is committed to, the Speaker,

          5  the Chairman and all of us here are committed to the

          6  peace process and not the smoke screens and we will

          7  continue to listen to healthy communicative

          8  dialogue, because that will bring about peace,

          9  people listening to each other, and not talking at

         10  one another.

         11                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Council Member

         13  Koppell has a question.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you

         15  very much.

         16                 Good morning, Reverend Daughtry.

         17                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Good morning.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: You and I

         19  have had a, I think, very cordial and good

         20  relationship over the years, and I certainly respect

         21  you, but I do have some problems with the approach

         22  you're taking, and I'd like to perhaps try and

         23  clarify, because I think, notwithstanding the fact

         24  that some of the things you say I can agree with,

         25  it's taking you down I think a troublesome path.
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          2                 So, let me explore something with you

          3  and see if maybe I can clarify something which may

          4  help.

          5                 Do you believe that we should

          6  countenance or support terrorism as a legitimate

          7  instrument of achieving national policy, or

          8  achieving policy objectives?

          9                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Councilman, that

         10  takes us away from the issues.

         11                 The terrorism, you can't deal with

         12  terrorism in a vacuum and just hold that out there.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: No, but

         14  that's important, if I may interrupt you just for a

         15  second?

         16                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: No, let me finish.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay. Okay.

         18                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Let me finish.

         19                 What I believe is that if the issues

         20  that terrorism, terrorists, are raising are truly

         21  dealt with, as I believe the resolution tried to

         22  speak to, in terms of trying to find a balanced

         23  support, it may go toward eliminating the terrorism.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: No, but

         25  that's an interesting point.
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          2                 What you're saying is that if the

          3  issues are not addressed appropriately, as people

          4  might see it, then terrorism is a legitimate way to

          5  achieve those objectives; is that what you're

          6  saying?

          7                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: By no means. And

          8  you know I'm not saying that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: No. I don't

         10  know that you're not saying that.

         11                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: You're taking me

         12  off what I'm saying. Let me say what I'm saying,

         13  then you don't have to try to imply what I'm saying,

         14  or assume what I'm saying.

         15                 What I am saying, that if we put it

         16  out of this very emotional context, relevant

         17  context, and locate it somewhere in history, what we

         18  learn is that people apply all kinds of methods to

         19  achieve an objective. I dare say, we start looking

         20  at terrorists, some of the people we admire in this

         21  room might fall in that category.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: You're right.

         23                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: So, without trying

         24  to define a particular act -- if you want to know

         25  what I think is wrong, yes, categorically, but that
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          2  does not answer the question why people are doing

          3  what they're doing.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But that's

          5  not the question that's raised.

          6                 The question that's raised is not

          7  whether there are or are not legitimate grievances

          8  on the part of Palestinians; the question is whether

          9  those grievances can legitimately be addressed by

         10  murder of innocent civilians, which is terrorism.

         11                 And I again ask you, do you say that

         12  those -- let's take it, for example, that there is a

         13  legitimate grievance, do you think that terrorism is

         14  an appropriate way to address that?

         15                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: I don't think

         16  terrorism is an appropriate way to address anything,

         17  nor do I believe that a thing we call a state is an

         18  appropriate way to respond with equal terrorism.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I'm sorry, to

         20  do what? I didn't hear what you said.

         21                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: I categorically

         22  denounce terrorism, the killing of innocent people

         23  in any place, any time, any color, any creed.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right.

         25                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Categorically.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right.

          3                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Fine.

          4                 What I am saying -- and I think you

          5  gave me the language, and thank you -- there are

          6  legitimate grievances that people have which they

          7  will employ, acts which I denounce, you denounce and

          8  all decent people denounce.

          9                 Now, simply to focus upon the act

         10  which we denounce, and don't deal with, the

         11  causative factors seem to me, Council Member

         12  Koppell, leaves us precisely where we are, arguing

         13  about terrorism.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Neither --

         15                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: If I may, sir?

         16                 The other way of going at it, again,

         17  categorically, I denounce terrorism. Another way of

         18  going at it is trying to get in the mind of

         19  terrorists. This was brought home to me, I visited

         20  the headquarters of a particular group in a specific

         21  part of the world who were considered terrorists.

         22  They didn't think so. They had written up on the

         23  wall so and so and so backs so and so but we've got

         24  so and so. So, I categorically denounce terrorism,

         25  but equally, equally, passionately, I believe that
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          2  unless people are prepared to deal with the positive

          3  factors that simply talk about what is and what is

          4  not a terrorist act leaves us where we are,

          5  Councilman, nowhere.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay. I don't

          7  necessarily disagree with what you're saying, but

          8  let's go to the next question.

          9                 Do you believe that Israel has the

         10  right to exist as a nation?

         11                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Categorically.

         12  I've been stating it for years.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So that,

         14  therefore, if people in the Middle East are trying

         15  to use terrorism to destroy the state of Israel, you

         16  would condemn that, wouldn't you?

         17                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: I would condemn

         18  any act of terrorism, but at the same time, I would

         19  look at why the people are trying to do whatever

         20  they're doing.

         21                 Not only in Israel. I don't want to

         22  get this locked into Israel and Palestinian, but,

         23  Councilman, you know and I know, to raise the

         24  question of the legitimacy of Israel, which I

         25  categorically support, also raises the question of
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          2  how Israel got to be Israel in the first place.

          3                 Now, what happened to the people who

          4  owned the land to create Israel?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But you

          6  support the existence of the state of Israel. You

          7  may say we have to do something to address the

          8  grievances of Palestinian people.

          9                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Categorically.

         10  Categorically I support the creation of an Israeli

         11  state, will march for it, stand on the mountain top

         12  and shout for it.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Good.

         14                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: But at the same

         15  time, Councilman, at the same time I support the

         16  Palestinian's right to a state, and unless that is

         17  addressed, the reason -- Councilman, there was no

         18  state of Israel before 1948. There were people

         19  there, so how did it get to be a state? Somebody had

         20  to be moved off the land. The people who had lived

         21  there for hundreds of years had to be moved in order

         22  to create a state. And then to bring the people in

         23  from somewhere else, these are the kind of causative

         24  factors that people say, well, listen, you've taken

         25  my land, I've got nothing to lose.
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          2                 James Baldwin once made a statement,

          3  "Nothing is so dangerous in a society as a person

          4  who has nothing to lose." So, you try the challenge

          5  of living in a world, is to give everybody something

          6  to lose, so that everybody feel they have a stake in

          7  the world, and therefore will fight to defend it.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Reverend

          9  Daughtry, my resolution says nothing about that. It

         10  says that people who do what you object to, that is

         11  employ terrorism to destroy the state of Israel, you

         12  object to both of those things, it says that those

         13  people should not be at the table until they

         14  renounce those methods, and renounce that objective.

         15  That's what my resolution says, and by your own

         16  words, you support it.

         17                 REVEREND DAUGHTRY: Thank you very

         18  much. I'm not sure what your resolution says,

         19  because I really didn't read that. I knew I had to

         20  concentrate on Mr. Barron's resolution. But just to

         21  be absolutely clear, abundantly clear, I

         22  categorically support the state of Israel, always

         23  have. I didn't just get here, I've been on this

         24  journey 44 years. Support categorically.

         25                 I also support Palestinians. This is
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          2  why I said when I started off, I mean it's a painful

          3  thing to me, I've got great friends on both sides of

          4  the question. To be asked about both people, as I

          5  am, you know, to be supportive and to know how

          6  passionate they are about the issues, I'm saying

          7  that in order to address the problems of the world,

          8  one of the things that we've got to address is that

          9  Palestinian people deserve to have their own state.

         10  They deserve not to be dictated to, they deserve to

         11  select their own leaders, and I believe at the point

         12  that that happened, at the point Israel has its

         13  state in security, at the point that the Palestinian

         14  people have their state in security, it is at that

         15  point, as the Rabbi had said, that the people will

         16  live together in peace.

         17                 Thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you very

         19  much, Reverend.

         20                 Again, in the interest of time, I

         21  must reiterate that we need to move along as quickly

         22  as possible. We have many who would like to testify

         23  today, and I would try to get as much in as

         24  possible.

         25                 Please remember to please summarize
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          2  your testimony and you can submit as much written

          3  testimony as you'd like.

          4                 I would now like to call Davorah

          5  Halberstam to speak.  And while she is coming up, I

          6  would like to turn the mic over to Council Member

          7  Simcha Felder.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 I know the Reverend had to leave, but

         11  I guess he came back to hear what I had to say.

         12  That's very nice, I appreciate it. I don't want to

         13  pressure anyone with time.

         14                 First of all, I want to mention that

         15  I am not a congregant in the Reverend's

         16  congregation, but I do want to say that I believe

         17  that God isn't a terrorist.

         18                 And I also wanted to mention that the

         19  Reverend spoke about the African-American sponsors

         20  to this bill, and I am disappointed to see that if

         21  this were so important to those sponsors, I would

         22  have hoped that at least one of them would have been

         23  here today, and none of the co-sponsors of Charles

         24  Barron's resolution are here to join him, and I'm

         25  very disappointed, because I don't think that should
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          2  be that way, if it's such an important issue.

          3                 I am not a sponsor of Charles

          4  Barron's resolution. I am opposed to it. But I am

          5  here today because I think the issue is critical,

          6  and going back to Moses, I think that some believe

          7  that Moses was black, so I may be one of the

          8  descendants as well, and I'm not in favor of this

          9  resolution whatsoever.

         10                 But I think that the issue that was

         11  raised about the United States that was mentioned,

         12  we are not Siamese twins to anyone, we are brothers

         13  or sisters, whatever you want to call it. We care

         14  for and we support any democracy. That's what we

         15  have to stand for, and we don't support terrorism.

         16  And I don't want to get distracted by the issues,

         17  some of the issues that the Reverend brought up

         18  which I think were very, very important. But I think

         19  that what is important is for me to listen to the

         20  Chairman and shut off my cell phone. I'm sorry, I

         21  apologize.

         22                 I want to thank the Speaker for

         23  having these hearings, before I forget, and for the

         24  Chairman having the courage to hold them under

         25  difficult circumstances. But I think the "why" is
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          2  really critical, and I wanted to share with you,

          3  this is just a tidbit, these are statistics, not

          4  that I cooked up this morning, these are facts, and

          5  I challenge anyone to dispute them.

          6                 These are facts. This column

          7  represents the 4/19/67. That is the time when the

          8  Palestinian Arabs were being taken care of by the

          9  Arab nations, by we'll say their own people. And

         10  this is after 1967, I should say, and now after

         11  1999. Meaning post-1967 to 1999, which means if you

         12  analyze it, if you analyze this, let's talk about

         13  what has progressed from the time that the, "Arabs

         14  under occupation" -- I'm sorry, the Palestinians

         15  under Israeli occupations. Let's see the why, I

         16  think that's what the Reverend talked about.

         17                 Before 1967 there were 113 clinics

         18  and hospitals in those territories, in those areas.

         19  And by the way, it's now 2002, I don't even have the

         20  current statistics, which are much greater. There

         21  are 378 hospitals in those areas that were built by

         22  the Israeli governments and helped Israeli

         23  governments, and I'm going to ask the

         24  Sergeant-At-Arms to throw out anybody who is

         25  interrupting, whether it's somebody who is in favor,
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          2  I don't care if they clap and say hooray to Simcha,

          3  or they stay drop dead - if you're interrupting they

          4  should throw them out of the room.

          5                 Mother and child centers, before

          6  1967, 23. That was when the Palestinian Arabs were

          7  being taken care of by the Arab Nations. Under

          8  Israeli "occupation," 135. And you could go down the

          9  list.

         10                 Teacher training colleges, there were

         11  none, there are five. School teachers, 5,316 before

         12  1967. 17,373 after 1989, and who knows how many more

         13  now.

         14                 Malaria. Malaria was eliminated when

         15  the Israeli government spent its energy to try to

         16  protect the children, the citizens, the Palestinian

         17  Arabs. These are not the Israelis, these are the

         18  Palestinian Arabs.

         19                 The death penalty was abolished under

         20  Israeli control. So, when you talk about the whys, I

         21  agree with you entirely, that the whys are

         22  important, but I think that what's critical -- okay,

         23  one minute, I'm sorry -- what's critical is that we

         24  do analyze the whys.

         25                 And the evenhandedness, Charles, the
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          2  evenhandedness, I agree with you entirely that there

          3  should be evenhandedness. But the issue of

          4  evenhandedness will never, ever be tolerated when

          5  the result of that is that the Palestinian people

          6  are being terrorized by their own leadership, the

          7  leadership that is allowing their innocent women

          8  children and elderly people to be murdered by

          9  planting their own terrorist selves among them, and

         10  that's something that should not be tolerated by

         11  anyone.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         13                 Devorah, you may begin.

         14                 MS. HALBERSTAM: Good afternoon. Thank

         15  you for inviting me here today.

         16                 Honorable Speaker Miller,

         17  distinguished members of the Brooklyn Delegation,

         18  and members of the City Council Chairman, guests and

         19  friends: I am here today with you not as an observer

         20  but to give testimony as a victim of terrorism. If

         21  it were at all possible, I would not testify, rather

         22  I would walk you right out of these very doors and

         23  walk you across the Brooklyn Bridge, where my son's

         24  blood is now enmeshed in its steel and beams.

         25                 On March 1st, 1994, Ari was murdered
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          2  by a terrorist. It was a mile's worth of hell. Two

          3  minutes, at most, of point blank terror, and Ari was

          4  brain dead, murdered, in revenge for the Hebron

          5  Massacre in Israel, because when Rashid Baz saw the

          6  boys in the van, "he saw Israeli soldiers. He saw

          7  the enemy." Murdered because he was a Jew. Murdered

          8  because an Imam exhorted to his congregation "this

          9  takes the mask off all Jews. It shows them to be

         10  racist and fascist, as bad as the Nazis.

         11  Palestinians are suffering from the occupation, and

         12  it's time to end it."

         13                 Each day innocent people - men, women

         14  and children - are being targeted in the corsairs of

         15  these mass murderers, who would kill and wound

         16  indiscriminately, not only others, but even

         17  themselves. Mothers who would deliver their babies

         18  from their wombs to commit Jihad. They murder with

         19  the sanction on participation of governments into

         20  Heron, Bagdad, Damascus, Lebanon, Tripoli and

         21  Khartoum.  Government whose diplomatic pouches laden

         22  with explosives and conventional weapons are

         23  inviolate, whose treacherous plans sow destruction,

         24  mayhem and terror in the hearts of civilized people

         25  everywhere.  They murder with the blessings of
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          2  fanatical religious leaders. They murder in the name

          3  of a God they call "Allah The Merciful." These

          4  killers are a disgrace to all people of faith,

          5  including the many millions of their own

          6  co-religionists, who pray for peace in their hearts,

          7  but dare not speak peace because they fear for their

          8  own lives.

          9                 These murderers respect no

         10  territorial boundaries. They respect no law. They

         11  view anybody and everybody as fair game. They

         12  believe the more blood they shed, the more ready the

         13  world will be to capitulate to their nefarious and

         14  blood-thirsty aims.

         15                 The time has come to say enough is

         16  enough. Today I stand here in solidarity with the

         17  people of Israel, and all victims of terrorism the

         18  world over, to say that we will not take it

         19  anymore.  For me and my entire family, and for the

         20  mothers and fathers and grandparents and sisters and

         21  brothers of all the terrorist and suicide attacks, I

         22  stand here today.

         23                 For me, I will never see my Ari

         24  again.  I will never see my tall, beautiful, kind,

         25  scholarly, charming, friendly 16-year-old grow to
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          2  maturity, and my younger children will never have

          3  the loving, compassionate guidance of their older

          4  brother they adore, or the grandchildren we

          5  expected. Generations upon generations that would

          6  have come from Ari will never be.

          7                 On March 1st, Rashid Baz murdered my

          8  baby, but he also sentenced me and my family to a

          9  lifetime of mourning, to an endless series of

         10  sleepless nights, to a wound that can never heal, to

         11  a living death that chips away at us, measured with

         12  slow cadence of endless seconds, to a limbo which

         13  will never end, only when we, ourselves, are

         14  reunited with Ari.

         15                 I have spoken to you today as only a

         16  mother could, from a heart filled with pain and

         17  grief, but now I turn to you.

         18                 Indeed, there is nothing that can

         19  happen here today that can bring Ari back, but it is

         20  your responsibility as legislators, as Americans, to

         21  show courage and demonstrate that we as Americans

         22  decry terrorism, that we value life and liberty, and

         23  that we will not capitulate to the blackmail of

         24  terrorism.

         25                 We will not resolve the problems in
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          2  the Middle East today, but there is no justification

          3  for terrorism ever. I would only like to read

          4  something to you.

          5                 "Ten days after the Brooklyn Bridge

          6  shooting, the Hamas Movement in Gaza released a

          7  communicade praising Rashid Baz's attack on the van.

          8  We great pride the Movement embraced his act and

          9  bestowed upon him the title of "Mujahid," a holy

         10  warrior, and "Iban Islam," a son of Islam, meaning

         11  one who serves as a role model and inspiration to

         12  others. And I quote, "We will retain the cry of

         13  condemnation on your heads, and our hand is backed

         14  by millions of Muslim hands that are ready to carry

         15  out their execution role against Jews."

         16                 The communicade continued,"... only

         17  Islam is the legitimate and exclusive representation

         18  of our people and its predicament, and the living

         19  proof of this is namely the holy warrior, a Lebanese

         20  immigrant, Rashid Baz, the son of Islam, who took

         21  action against the souls of the evil dregs of the

         22  Jews in Brooklyn in America. His deed proclaims that

         23  you, the Jews, do not have the ability to tear

         24  Palestine away from our hearts, may a curse be on

         25  your heads."
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          2                 Thank you so much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: We have some

          4  questions for you.

          5                 MS. HALBERSTAM: Okay.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Before I turn it

          7  over to questions, I'd like to acknowledge the

          8  presence, thank you for joining us, Council Member

          9  Brewer, Council Member Stewart, Council Member Lou

         10  Fidler, and we are joined again by Council Member

         11  Melinda Katz.

         12                 Council Member Davis, you have a

         13  question?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: First, let me

         15  say Davorah Halberstam lives around the corner from

         16  me. She is one of my leading constituents in helping

         17  to bring about peace throughout the community.

         18  Though she is here today to testify about this, this

         19  serious matter and these resolutions, she has been

         20  spearheading in our community of Crown Heights the

         21  Jewish Children Museum, which would be a museum that

         22  brings education and information to all members of

         23  the community, both black, white, Jew and gentile.

         24  So, we compliment Davorah Halberstam for her efforts

         25  throughout the community, not only the City but also
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          2  America and international, as well, in bring about

          3  peace.

          4                 Now, of course, this Council, and

          5  what I'm concerned about, and I know you are also,

          6  Davorah, having many conversations with you, and you

          7  know there are also beautiful, wonderful

          8  Arab-Americans, and we are very much concerned that

          9  we don't have Middle East profiling, of course.

         10                 This individual who did this

         11  terrible, dastardly deed to you, dastardly deed to

         12  you, and took your beautiful son away from you, was

         13  he Palestinian?

         14                 MS. HALBERSTAM: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: This individual

         16  was Palestinian?

         17                 MS. HALBERSTAM: Yes, he was.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Okay, this

         19  individual was Palestinian.

         20                 As a Council, we, again, speak out

         21  against all terrorist acts, whether they're from

         22  Palestine, Afghanistan, Brooklyn, the Bronx,

         23  wherever they're from, we are against, and we make

         24  it very clear, terrorism, and I just want to

         25  acknowledge you for your courageous efforts over the
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          2  years in speaking out to bring peace for everybody.

          3                 MS. HALBERSTAM: Thank you, Council

          4  Member. I just want to say that not all terrorists

          5  are Muslims, and this is not about any particular

          6  person; this is about people who want to harm

          7  innocent men, women and children all over the world.

          8  We're here to talk about terrorism, not about a

          9  people.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Again, that's

         11  why I think the City of New York owes you a great

         12  deal of gratitude just for you continuing to make

         13  that message clear, and it's about listening to each

         14  other, it's not about religious profiling, or Middle

         15  East profiling, or anything to that nature. It's

         16  about stopping terrorism and bringing and in

         17  referencing in the community at large.

         18                 Thank you so much for your testimony.

         19                 MS. HALBERSTAM: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you. Thank

         21  you so very much, Davorah.

         22                 Next I would like to call up

         23  Assemblyman Jeffrey Dinowitz. Along with, on the

         24  panel, the representative for Congressman Eliot

         25  Engel. Is Congressman Engel's representative here?
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          2  No? Yes. Please come and join the Assemblyman.

          3                 Council Member Koppell.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I just would

          5  like to welcome Assemblyman Jeffrey Dinowitz, my

          6  successor in the Assembly, my friend and colleague,

          7  from the Northwest Bronx. I'm pleased that he is

          8  here and know that he is sponsoring similar

          9  legislation to my resolution in Albany, as is

         10  Congressman Eliot Engel, whose representative is

         11  here, in Washington.

         12                 Thank you for coming, gentlemen.

         13                 ASSEMBLYMAN DINOWITZ: Thank you.

         14                 Good afternoon, everybody. I didn't

         15  prepare a written statement, I usually just wing it,

         16  and that's what I'm going to do today. I'm going to

         17  be very brief, because I know you're had several

         18  excellent speakers who have addressed the important

         19  issues before us today, but I just did want to say a

         20  few things.

         21                 As Councilman Koppell has stated, I

         22  have introduced a similar resolution in the State

         23  Assembly, and my colleague State Senator Seymour

         24  Lackman has introduced the same resolution in the

         25  State Senate, and nearly 50 members of the Assembly
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          2  have signed on to co-sponsor the resolution. And I

          3  should tell you that in the Assembly, we very

          4  infrequently take positions on resolutions dealing

          5  with matters relating to foreign policy, but I

          6  believe there should be an exception made there, and

          7  I think it's very important that the Council support

          8  the resolution put forth by Council Member Koppell,

          9  Resolution 7-A.

         10                 And the reason is as follows: As I

         11  said, we have so many people co-sponsoring this

         12  resolution because I think what's happened in the

         13  Middle East in the past year and a half or close to

         14  two years now has really struck a nerve, not only

         15  with Jewish-Americans, but with people throughout

         16  this country.

         17                 I happen to be a person who felt very

         18  strongly that the way to resolve the problems in the

         19  Middle East was through the peace process. I really

         20  believed that that could work, and I think many

         21  people who support this resolution also believe

         22  that. But, unfortunately, under the government, when

         23  they made the most incredible, unheard of

         24  concessions ever imagined in order to achieve peace,

         25  the result was war on the part of the Palestine
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          2  Liberation Organization and the Palestinian

          3  Authority. And what that convinced me of was that

          4  their goal was never to achieve peace in the Middle

          5  East, but was just to incrementally destroy Israel,

          6  first through the peace process, and now through

          7  war.

          8                 And, you know, it's really a shame, I

          9  think it was Abah Eban who once said that the -- I

         10  guess he was referring to Arafat or the PLO, that

         11  they never miss an opportunity to miss an

         12  opportunity. Well, they really missed an

         13  opportunity, because the problems I would have hoped

         14  could have been resolved, but they're not. But the

         15  one good thing to come out of all this, because I

         16  think it's apparent to the entire world what the PLO

         17  is all about and what the Palestine, Palestinian

         18  Authority is all about - they are terrorist

         19  organizations, and they should be recognized as such

         20  by the United States government.

         21                 You know, Israel is the only

         22  democracy in the Middle East, and I know that the

         23  members of the City Council are certainly committed

         24  to democracy. None of the countries around Israel

         25  are democracies, including the Palestine Authority.
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          2                 Israel is also our closest and best

          3  ally in the entire world. The number of Israelis who

          4  have been killed since the Israeli government, the

          5  previous government, offered these amazing

          6  concessions, increased by incredible numbers,

          7  hundreds of Israelis have been killed. And there are

          8  those who say, well, you know, there are

          9  Palestinians who have been oppressed and who have

         10  been killed also.

         11                 The Israelis who are killed are

         12  almost entire from the civilian population, and

         13  that's what the terrorists always target, they

         14  target civilians, and more often than not they

         15  target young people. And if you look at the various

         16  terrorist strikes against Israel, very often they've

         17  been specifically directed to kill young people,

         18  whether it's in a pizza place, or a Bar Mitzvah, or

         19  at a Passover sadire (phonetic), these are the

         20  people who are being killed. To even suggest the

         21  possibility that there is some kind of equivalency

         22  between those acts by the terrorist murderers and

         23  the acts by Israel in defending itself is really a

         24  moral outrage, in my opinion. And that's why I think

         25  it's important not only to support this resolution,
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          2  but to reject any resolution that would suggest that

          3  the two sides are equivalent, because they're not

          4  equivalent.

          5                 The City Council is not a body which

          6  would normally take positions on foreign policy, but

          7  I think that sometimes you've got to speak up and

          8  say and do the right thing, and in this case the

          9  right thing is for the City Council to take a

         10  position on this issue.

         11                 So, I would urge you to support the

         12  resolution by Councilman Koppell, and oppose the

         13  resolution by Councilman Barron.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         15                 ASSEMBLYMAN DINOWITZ: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Before I turn it

         18  over to the next witness, I'd like to allow Council

         19  Member Lou Fidler to say something.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.

         21  Chairman.

         22                 I was sitting in the next room in the

         23  Housing and Buildings Committee meeting for most of

         24  the morning listening to applause but not hearing

         25  the speeches, working on something a lot more
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          2  mundane than the Middle East, sprinkler issues in

          3  buildings.

          4                 But as a co-sponsor of four of the

          5  five resolutions before the Committee today, I had a

          6  real hankering to get into this room, and I am

          7  delighted that I got here in time to hear Davorah

          8  Halberstam.

          9                 And human nature is a funny thing. We

         10  understand and feel the pain of one, a lot more than

         11  we really feel the pain of thousands. As a Jew we

         12  often talk about the 6 million, and yet, when you

         13  hear the individual story of someone in a

         14  concentration camp who was put to death or who was a

         15  victim of some Nazi atrocity, you feel that pain a

         16  lot more, and then you have to, you know, in your

         17  mind, multiply it by 6 million, and in listening to

         18  Davorah, I can only think of my own child, my own

         19  children, and how I would feel if it were to happen

         20  to my family, and I'm sure that each and every one

         21  of you can feel that same pain, and it's certainly a

         22  credit to Davorah that she has taken that pain and

         23  used it only for positive things.

         24                 But you really need to think about

         25  the resolutions that are on the table today by
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          2  thinking about every parent's individual pain.

          3                 I have spoken to some of the sponsors

          4  of Resolution 216, and I know that at least for some

          5  of them, those that I've spoken to, they are

          6  responding to the pain of the innocents, no matter

          7  who they are and what their background is.

          8                 But that resolution in my mind

          9  ignored the moral context in which this crisis

         10  occurs, that there has to be a distinction drawn for

         11  each and every one of us between those who are

         12  defending themselves, and those who are committing

         13  the acts of terrorism. And, so, you cannot have an

         14  evenhanded resolution, as this has been called, in a

         15  context where you ignore the moral issues that are

         16  going on in and around the state of Israel. There is

         17  no moral equivalent between people who would bomb

         18  the World Trade Center, who would send someone with

         19  bombs strapped to their body into a pizza place or a

         20  Bar Mitzvah or to a family celebration, and those

         21  who are defending themselves from that. And I hope

         22  that this Committee can and will, and even though I

         23  have a problem with the Council getting involved in

         24  foreign affairs, I really in recent weeks have come

         25  to question whether or not it's the best expenditure
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          2  of our time, but if we're going to do it, there's

          3  certainly no issue more compelling, and certainly

          4  the issue of removing a terrorist organization like

          5  the PLO from our City, at least is germane to the

          6  business of the City Council. And, so, I hope when

          7  we are done, and we're finished applauding, that we

          8  take a vote some time in our lifetime that makes a

          9  statement that the PLO is a terrorist organization,

         10  and has no place in the greatest free democratic

         11  City on the face of this earth.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you. I

         14  would now allow the representative of Congress

         15  member Engel, after you I will call up Monica Tarazi

         16  and Stephen Shalom, right after the representative.

         17                 MR. O'BRIEN: Good afternoon. My name

         18  is Jim O'Brien, I'm representing Congressman Eliot

         19  Engel of the Bronx and Westchester. The Congressman

         20  planned on testifying himself today but was called

         21  back to Washington for a Congressional session. I am

         22  here to read his remarks.

         23                 I am here in support of Resolution

         24  7-A to ask the State Department to oust the

         25  Palestinian Authority from its offices in New York
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          2  City.

          3                 The refusal of the Yasser Arafat and

          4  the Palestinian Authority to stop the terrorist

          5  violence perpetrated against Jews in Israel is

          6  continuing proof that Arafat and the PA are not the

          7  solution to bloodshed in the Middle East, they are

          8  the problem.

          9                 Despite his renunciation of terrorism

         10  in 1988 and his promise to fight it in 1993, Arafat

         11  has done nothing to stop the suicide attacks against

         12  Israelis, especially those on innocent women and

         13  children.

         14                 Arafat and the PA have not only

         15  failed to take effective action against terrorists,

         16  they are the terrorists. Of all the suicide bombings

         17  that have taken place in Israel during the past two

         18  years, three-quarters of them have been perpetrated

         19  by groups under Arafat's Fatah umbrella.

         20                 The Al-Aqsa Martyrs Brigades, which

         21  is affiliated with the PA, sent a suicide murderer

         22  to a Bar Mitzvah in January, killing six and

         23  wounding 25.

         24                 The Militia Wing of Fatah, the

         25  Tanzim, also took responsibility of murdering two
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          2  people on Jaffa Street in Jerusalem.

          3                 Another organized killing operation,

          4  417, is also associated with Arafat. In fact, all of

          5  these groups, Al-Aqsa, Tanzim, 417, are controlled

          6  by Yasser Arafat. These groups and others have

          7  continued their murders of Israeli civilians solely

          8  because they are Jews. Other than the occasional lip

          9  service to anti-terrorists, and to satisfy critics,

         10  Arafat has done nothing to stop the suicide murder

         11  assaults in Israel.

         12                 Indeed, because of his actions,

         13  Arafat has shown that he is a terrorist, that he has

         14  never grown out of being a terrorist, and that he

         15  will continue to be a terrorist.

         16                 President Bush and his call to fight

         17  terrorism, no matter where it is found, pledged to

         18  act against government's sheltering terrorists. The

         19  Palestinian Authority is such a government because

         20  it shelters and supports terrorists, such as Hamas,

         21  Al-Aqsa, Tanzim and 417.

         22                 I firmly believe that the Palestinian

         23  Authority should no longer be permitted to maintain

         24  a mission to the United Nations in New York City.

         25                 As a sponsor of a similar bill by the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            94

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  United States House of representative, I fully

          3  support Council Member Oliver Koppell's legislation

          4  calling on the President and the State Department to

          5  expel this mission from the United States because of

          6  the Palestinian Authority's overt and continuing

          7  support of terrorism.

          8                 Thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         10                 I'd like to, before you leave,

         11  recognize Council Member Katz.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I simply want to

         13  thank the Assemblyman and the representative from

         14  Congressman Engel's office. Jeff Dinowitz and I were

         15  in the same class in the Assembly, we came in the

         16  same day, and I know that up in Albany he was an

         17  active Zionist and was always very concerned with

         18  the causes. It's nice to see he still is active, as

         19  he always was, and we welcome him to the City

         20  Council Chambers.

         21                 ASSEMBLYMAN DINOWITZ: Thank you,

         22  Council Member Katz. Let me just quickly thank

         23  Councilman Serrano, as well, for holding this

         24  hearing, and of course, Councilman Koppell, and just

         25  leave you with this one thing: I hope you will do
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          2  the right thing, kick those terrorists out of New

          3  York City.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Next I would

          6  like to call up Monica Tarazi, and Stephen Shalom.

          7                 After this panel will be Michael

          8  Miller and Ronald Soloway.

          9                 MS. TARAZI: Mr. Chairman,

         10  distinguished members of the Committee, I am

         11  grateful for the opportunity to testify before you

         12  this morning regarding the situation in the Middle

         13  East.

         14                 My name is Monica Tarazi, and I

         15  represent the American-Arab Anti-Discrimination

         16  Committee, ADC.

         17                 ADC is the largest Arab-American

         18  membership organization in the United States. Our

         19  national agenda focuses on civil rights and United

         20  States foreign policy in the Middle East.

         21                 Last weekend, Israeli soldiers killed

         22  five Palestinians, two of them children under the

         23  age of ten.

         24                 You probably did not hear about these

         25  latest victims of Israeli state violence against
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          2  civilian targets; Palestinian deaths at the hands of

          3  Israeli soldiers are so common they seldom warrant

          4  adequate coverage in New York's daily newspapers, so

          5  allow me, if you will, to tell you a little about

          6  them.

          7                 Little Nour al-Hindi was only two

          8  years old. She was killed with her mother Randa when

          9  Israeli soldiers stationed at the Israeli settlement

         10  of Netzarim in Gaza opened fire on their car for no

         11  apparent reason. The two had been at a wedding and

         12  were on their way home.

         13                 Shukri Abdel Haj was six years old.

         14  His death was slower. Israeli soldiers injured him

         15  last week during their re-invasion of Qalqilya. He

         16  finally succumbed to his wounds on Sunday after

         17  spending a week in critical condition. His family,

         18  besieged in their home by Israeli occupation

         19  soldiers, wait for the Israeli curfew on their town

         20  to be lifted so they can bury their son.

         21                 Forty-eight-year-old Khamis Sharab

         22  was killed on Saturday by Israeli soldiers invading

         23  his neighborhood in Southern Gaza.

         24                 And 72-year-old Sam'an al-Dalo, was

         25  killed on Sunday in RamAllah.
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          2                 And Friday, June 12th, Israeli

          3  soldiers opened fire on three little boys as they

          4  went to buy ice cream. The boys thought the curfew

          5  imposed by Israeli occupation soldiers on their

          6  residential neighborhood in Jenin had been lifted,

          7  if only for a few hours, and they were anxious to

          8  leave the home that for the past few weeks had been

          9  their prison. So Ahmed, Jamil and Tariq Abu Aziz got

         10  money from their father, picked up their bikes and

         11  headed to the nearest grocery store.

         12                 An Israeli tank opened fire on them

         13  as they returned home, killing six-year-old Ahmed

         14  and thirteen-year-old Jamil. Eleven-year-old Tariq

         15  was critically wounded.

         16                 Unlike many similar incidents, the

         17  deaths of the Abu Aziz brothers were captured on

         18  video. Israeli journalist Gideon Levy has seen the

         19  tapes and in an article published in Israel's

         20  Ha'aretz newspaper, Levy describes the boys' final

         21  moments as a white car passes the three boys on

         22  their bikes, and then an Israeli tank appears at the

         23  top of the road. "first..." He writes, "... You see

         24  the tank's turret gun, then the base of the turret

         25  and then the tank itself, charging after three
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          2  little kids on their bicycles a few meters ahead.

          3  The picture freezes for a second to show the details

          4  better. Then suddenly the screen goes" blank -- or

          5   "dark" excuse me --..."sounds of firing. Boom. Lots

          6  of noise, dust and smoke everywhere, and that's

          7  it..."

          8                 Jamil, a soccer fan who loved books

          9  and computers and hoped one day to be a doctor, made

         10  it to the hospital but died on the operating table.

         11                 Little Ahmed never made it that far.

         12  The tank shell shredded his little body and he died

         13  before the ambulance could arrive. He was buried

         14  with the chocolate bar still in his hand.

         15                 I describe these incidents to you not

         16  because they are an anomaly, but rather because they

         17  illustrate the appalling reality of Palestinian

         18  daily life under Israeli military occupation.

         19                 Since September 29th, 2000, Israeli

         20  soldiers and armed settlers have killed 1,645

         21  Palestinians and injured some 19,671 more. According

         22  to Israeli and Palestinian sources, almost 25

         23  percent of the Palestinians killed by Israeli forces

         24  during the first 18 months of the Intifada were

         25  children under the age of 18 years old, and almost
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          2  85 percent of the Palestinians killed in the same

          3  period were unarmed civilians.

          4                 As we sit here this morning,

          5  Palestinians throughout the West Bank and Gaza are

          6  entering yet another week of Israeli-imposed curfew.

          7  Israeli tanks are surrounding and besieging --

          8  Israeli tanks are surrounding and besieging

          9  Palestinian towns and villages. Israeli soldiers are

         10  patrolling Palestinian streets, shooting to kill if

         11  Palestinians dare leave their homes. The Palestinian

         12  sick cannot seek treatment at hospital, pregnant

         13  Palestinian cannot go to hospital to deliver their

         14  babies, Palestinian adults cannot go to work and

         15  Palestinian children cannot go to school.

         16                 Israel is imprisoning more than 1

         17  million Palestinians in their houses simply because

         18  they are Palestinians. I need not remind the

         19  respected members of this Council that such

         20  practices of collective punishment are prohibited

         21  under international law.

         22                 Time and time again, Israeli forces

         23  continue to commit horrific acts of violence against

         24  Palestinian civilians using F16 fighter jets, Apache

         25  helicopters and tanks to shell Palestinian

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            100

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  neighborhoods, terrorizing hundreds of thousands of

          3  civilians.

          4                 Invading Israeli soldiers have used

          5  unarmed Palestinian civilians as human shields. They

          6  have prevented ambulances from reaching the

          7  Palestinian wounded and shelled residential

          8  buildings and schools, they have attacked doctors on

          9  their way to work and fired on ambulances trying to

         10  reach the wounded or collect the bodies of the dead.

         11                 Sadly, you and I cannot claim to be

         12  innocent bystanders, guiltless witnesses to these

         13  horrors. We Americans supplied Israel with the

         14  bulldozers used to destroy American (sic) homes. Our

         15  taxes - around $3 billion worth last year alone -

         16  pay for the F16 fighter jets, Apache helicopters,

         17  tanks, M16s and other artillery which Israel uses

         18  regularly against Palestinian civilians.

         19                 We have subsidized the massive

         20  expansion of illegal Israeli settlements built for

         21  Jews only on stolen Palestinian land. And we have

         22  ignored pleas for an international force to protect

         23  Palestinian civilians from Israel's brutality and we

         24  have used our veto in the United Nations to block

         25  diplomatic efforts to investigate and document
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          2  Israeli atrocities.

          3                 As this Committee considers the

          4  resolutions before you this morning, I urge you to

          5  remember two-year-old Nour al-Hindi and six-year-old

          6  Shukri Abedl Haj. I beg you to think of Yusef Abu

          7  Aziz, who today is mourning the loss of two of his

          8  little boys.

          9                 Those of us struggling for peace and

         10  justice in the Middle East do not need one-sided

         11  resolutions which can only exacerbate an already

         12  explosive situation.

         13                 We must stand together and with one

         14  voice demand an end to all attacks on civilians,

         15  regardless the identity of the perpetrator, whether

         16  the victims are Palestinian or Israeli.

         17                 We must stand together and say with

         18  one voice that more oppression can only lead to more

         19  violence. We must stand together and say that peace

         20  can prevail only when there is justice for all.

         21                 Of the resolutions addressing the

         22  situation in the Middle East before you this

         23  morning, only Resolution 216 offers us any hope for

         24  peace. Only Resolution 216 reminds us that both

         25  Palestinians and Israelis are suffering as a result
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          2  of Israel's 35-year-old occupation of the West Bank

          3  in Gaza. Only Resolution 216 recognizes the

          4  inalienable right of the Palestinian people to

          5  self-determination and an independent state of their

          6  own. And in calling on the City Council to maintain

          7  its neutrality, and therefore it's ability to serve

          8  as a force for peace, only Resolution 216 offers us

          9  any real hope for a peaceful outcome to the current

         10  nightmare in the region.

         11                 Last weekend, we here in the United

         12  States celebrated our freedom, our independence, but

         13  Palestinians in the West Bank and Gaza are denied

         14  their freedom and independence by the continued

         15  Israeli military occupation.

         16                 As I stood watching the fireworks

         17  over the East River, I could not help but think of

         18  the Palestinians who have never enjoyed the freedom

         19  we so often take for granted here.

         20                 I thought about Palestinians who

         21  continue to yearn for their freedom, their liberty

         22  and their independence.

         23                 It is about time the New York City

         24  Council sends the right message by standing for

         25  freedom and justice, not military occupation and
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          2  oppression. It is about time we demand that

          3  America's approach to the Middle East be guided by a

          4  commitment to a comprehensive, just and lasting

          5  peace based on fairness and international law.

          6                 So, in conclusion, as you consider

          7  the resolutions before you this morning, I urge you

          8  to remember little Nour, Shukri, Ahmed, Jamil and

          9  the hundreds of other Palestinians -- hundreds of

         10  other children, Palestinian and Israeli, who have

         11  lost their lives in this horrible struggle. Please

         12  vote for the only resolution before you offering us

         13  a glimmer of hope for peace. Vote for Resolution

         14  216.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         17                 Mr. Shalom.

         18                 MR. SHALOM: Thank you. My name is

         19  Stephen Rosskamm Shalom, and I am a professor of

         20  Political Science at William Patterson University in

         21  Wayne, New Jersey.

         22                 I have been writing and teaching

         23  about United States policy in the Middle East for

         24  more than two decades. I thank the Council for

         25  inviting me to share my observations on the various
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          2  resolutions before you.

          3                 In my view, any Council resolution on

          4  the tragic conflict between Israelis and

          5  Palestinians ought to aim for two goals: First, it

          6  should express itself in terms of universal moral

          7  principles, rather than in terms of the parochial

          8  interests of one group or another.

          9                 And, second, it should help to move

         10  the long-suffering people of the Middle East closer

         11  to, rather than further from, peace and justice.

         12                 In my judgment, only one of the

         13  resolutions before you today achieves these goals,

         14  Resolution Number 216.

         15                 What do I mean by universal

         16  principles? I mean that if it is right to say that

         17  one national group, Israeli Jews, is entitled to the

         18  right of self-determination, then so too must all

         19  national groups, including Palestinian Arabs, have

         20  the right of self-determination. If there is to be a

         21  state for one of these two peoples, then there must

         22  be a state for the other one as well.

         23                 For more than half a century, one of

         24  the two claimants to the historic land of Palestine

         25  has had a state, while the other has been relegated
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          2  to grim refugee camps and brutal military

          3  occupation.

          4                 Universal principles require that

          5  Israeli Jews and Palestinian Arabs both have the

          6  same right to self-determination.

          7                 Universal principles also mean that

          8  if it is wrong to kill civilians - and surely it is

          9  - then it is wrong to do so whether the civilians

         10  are Israelis or Palestinians.

         11                 I unequivocally condemn the suicide

         12  bombings that have brought such grief to Israeli

         13  civilians. But I join with organizations such as

         14  Amnesty International, Human Rights Watch, the

         15  Israeli human rights group B'Tselem, and many others

         16  in condemning just as unequivocally Israeli policies

         17  that have brought grief to Palestinian civilians.

         18                 Amnesty International recently stated

         19  with regard to the suicide bombings that have

         20  targeted civilians:

         21                 "These actions are shocking. Yet they

         22  can never justify the human rights violations and

         23  grave breaches of the Geneva Conventions which, over

         24  the past 18 months, have been committed daily,

         25  hourly, even every minute, by the Israeli
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          2  authorities against Palestinians. Israeli forces

          3  have consistently carried out killings when no lives

          4  were in danger."

          5                 Amnesty further reported that

          6  "Ambulances, including those of the International

          7  Committee of the Red Cross..., were not allowed to

          8  move or suffered lengthy and life-threatening

          9  delays. Medical personnel or those who tried to help

         10  the injured were fired on and the wounded bled to

         11  death on the street." Israeli military forces --

         12  again to quote Amnesty International --"killed and

         13  wounded armed Palestinians. But they also killed and

         14  targeted medical personnel and journalists, and

         15  fired randomly at houses and people in the streets."

         16  An Amnesty expert testified that "The military

         17  operations we have investigated appear to be carried

         18  out not for military purposes but instead to harass,

         19  humiliate, intimidate and harm the Palestinian

         20  population."

         21                 And it should be noted that the

         22  Israeli use of deadly force preceded armed attacks

         23  and terror bombings by Palestinians. In September

         24  2000, Israeli security forces responded to

         25  Palestinian demonstrations with lethal force even
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          2  though in the worlds of a UN report, at these

          3  demonstrations the Israeli Defense Forces, "endured

          4  not a single serious casualty."

          5                 So, by all means, let us condemn the

          6  killing of more than 200 Israeli civilians in recent

          7  months, but let us condemn no less vigorously the

          8  killing of more than 200 Palestinian children in the

          9  same period, the majority of whom, according to

         10  Amnesty International, appear to have been killed

         11  when no lives were in imminent danger. And these

         12  Israeli killings weren't in self-defense in a larger

         13  sense. Their goal is to maintain the military

         14  occupation over Palestinians.

         15                 The second goal that this Council

         16  should have for any resolution it passes on the

         17  Middle East, is whether or not the resolution brings

         18  peace and justice closer or further away.

         19                 Historically, since 1967, the role of

         20  the United States government in the Israel-Palestine

         21  conflict has been to give Israel uncritical military

         22  economic and diplomatic support, providing no

         23  incentives for Israel to seek a just settlement with

         24  the Palestinians.

         25                 Since 1976, Israel has been the
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          2  largest annual recipient in the world of U.S.

          3  foreign aid and the largest cumulative recipient

          4  since World War II.

          5                 Much of the weaponry Israel has been

          6  using in its attacks on Palestinians either was made

          7  in the United States (F-16s, attack helicopters,

          8  rockets, grenade launchers, Caterpillar bulldozers,

          9  airburst shells, M-40 ground launchers) or made in

         10  Israel with U.S. Department of Defense research and

         11  development funding (the Merkava tank).

         12                 Diplomatically, the United States has

         13  permitted Israel to violate international law and

         14  Palestinian rights with impunity. Three times in

         15  1995 and 1997, the Security Council considered draft

         16  resolutions critical of Israeli expropriations and

         17  settlements in East Jerusalem; Washington vetoed all

         18  three. In March 2001, the Council debated a

         19  resolution to establish an international presence in

         20  the Occupied Territories as a way to prevent human

         21  rights violations. The United States vetoed that

         22  resolution too.

         23                 And even today the United States

         24  government continues to do Israel's bidding,

         25  blocking international action of which Israel
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          2  disapproves and echoing Ariel Sharon's demands. But

          3  such policies don't in fact help the people of

          4  Israel: They just ensure that violence and

          5  insecurity will persist.

          6                 Only a U.S. policy that attempts to

          7  even-handedly push both sides toward a genuine

          8  settlement has any prospect of providing justice or

          9  security for any of the people of that troubled

         10  region.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 In the interest of time, I would ask

         15  my Committee members to please limit their

         16  questions.

         17                 Council Member Nelson.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I will pass.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: You pass? Okay.

         20                 Council Member Charles Barron.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Yes. I want to

         22  thank you for your support, and thank you for that

         23  eloquent presentation and timely statistics and

         24  information.

         25                 First, Council Member Simcha Felder,
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          2  I just want to let him know that Council Member Reed

          3  is here, who is a supporter of that bill.

          4                 So he is here, Council Member Felder,

          5  for his information.

          6                 But what would you say to Rabbi

          7  Weiss, and I'm sure Council Member Lou Fidler, who

          8  would say -- or they wouldn't say this, but from

          9  what they're saying, that three Palestinian boys

         10  going to get ice cream represents self-defense by

         11  the Israeli army, because they could be terrorists,

         12  perhaps they have a rock that could be very damaging

         13  to the brain of one of the soldiers with hardhats

         14  on.

         15                 What would you say to the critics who

         16  are going to say that all of those acts that you

         17  even denying the ambulance, they would say because

         18  many terrorists have come in ambulance. So, these

         19  are going to be criticisms of your testimony that no

         20  matter how an Arab or Palestinian life is taken, it

         21  is in self-defense of terrorism, because Israel is

         22  really army, they only make mistakes when they kill

         23  Palestinians. They never kill an innocent

         24  Palestinian, it's always self-defense, it's always

         25  stopping terrorism; how would you respond to that?
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          2                 MS. TARAZI: I would respond by saying

          3  there are no depths to which the racists among us

          4  will not defend to justify murder. Eighty-five

          5  percent of the Palestinians killed in the past

          6  September of 2000 have been civilians. Eighty-five

          7  percent. This is the fourth most powerful army in

          8  the world, and 85 percent of the time they miss?

          9  That's ludicrous. I don't believe that assumption

         10  for the moment.

         11                 Israel is targeting civilians. I

         12  mentioned it, my colleague mentioned it, as well.

         13  It's clear anyone looking at the statistics, anyone

         14  looking at any of the fact-finding reports that have

         15  been written by human rights organizations can see

         16  that is an obvious reality, and I don't feel the

         17  need to respond to it any further.

         18                 MR. SHALOM: I would just add one

         19  other point, which is, I take it as a basic axiom of

         20  studying international relations that the PLO lies

         21  and the Israeli government lies, and, so, we want to

         22  try to figure out what's going on, it makes sense to

         23  try to look at neutral observers. And their reports

         24  tell a very different story, from the story told by

         25  the Israeli government and many of its supporters in
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          2  this room, and that story does not give Israel a

          3  very clean record in terms of its treatment to

          4  Palestinians and their human rights.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

          8                 Council Member Nelson, please.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I'm fine.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Oh, you're fine?

         11  Okay.

         12                 Council Member Lou Fidler.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: First of all,

         14  Ms. Tarazi, if you're concerned about not seeing

         15  anything in the American media about Israel's

         16  alleged actions in the Middle East, I suggest you

         17  turn on CNN where there seems to be a gross

         18  overabundance of it.

         19                 MS. TARAZI: Did you hear about those

         20  cases I mentioned?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I didn't

         22  interrupt you.

         23                 And I'm certainly pleased that

         24  Councilman Barron is proud to be singled out, but

         25  it's unnecessary, Councilman, for you to put words
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          2  in my mouth, because I know you and I both, we have

          3  enough words to speak for ourselves.

          4                 I would just -- now I would ask, Ms.

          5  Tarazi, I would ask you this question. Obviously you

          6  are familiar with the terrorist events of 9/11. Do

          7  you think that they were justified?

          8                 MS. TARAZI: No, of course not.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And would you

         10  then, you know, pursuing that, do you think this

         11  government is justified in seeking out the elements

         12  of the terrorists organization that clearly was

         13  responsible for that event, and attempting to

         14  eradicate it so that it never happens again?

         15                 MS. TARAZI: I'm not going to answer

         16  that question because I'm not going to draw a

         17  parallel between Palestinian terrorism and Al-Qa'ida

         18  terrorism, which is what you're trying to do asking

         19  that question.

         20                 Palestinian terrorism I condemned in

         21  my presentation, just as I condemned Israeli

         22  terrorism. Palestinians that were fighting for their

         23  self-determination, Palestinians, misguided

         24  Palestinian youths who blow themselves up to try to

         25  rid themselves of the ravages of Israeli occupation
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          2  cannot be compared to Al-Qa'ida terrorists, and I

          3  reject completely your attempt to make them sound

          4  like they're the same. Palestinians are fighting for

          5  their freedom and their self-determination. Israel

          6  is an occupying power in the West Bank and Gaza in a

          7  way that United States was not in Afghanistan.

          8                 Israel for 35 years has been carrying

          9  out illegal and oppressive military occupation on

         10  Palestinian land which has oppressed on a daily

         11  basis hundreds of thousands of Palestinian

         12  civilians.

         13                 I'm not going to respond to that

         14  question because I think it uses a false logic.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So, I can only

         16  assume that your refusal to answer the question is

         17  because you understand where it's going, okay?

         18                 And as far as Israel being an

         19  occupying power, I'll remind you how Israel came to

         20  occupy the West Bank and Gaza was because Israel was

         21  invaded by numbers of countries surrounding it.

         22                 And --

         23                 MR. SHALOM: That's historically

         24  false, sir.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: That is not
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          2  false. Okay, that is not false.

          3                 MR. SHALOM: Are you telling this body

          4  that Israel did not strike the first blow in 1967?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Yes.

          6                 MR. SHALOM: That's what you're

          7  saying?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Yes, that's

          9  what I'm saying.

         10                 And I'm not going to debate --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Excuse me.

         12  Excuse me. I would ask that you not interrupt each

         13  other. You allow the question to be heard and the

         14  answer to be heard.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And as far as

         17  the words that Councilman Barron put in my mouth, I

         18  grieve for every innocent child, whether they be

         19  Palestinian, Israeli, Pakastani or from Afghanistan.

         20  But in the course of defending this country's

         21  efforts to eradicate Al-Qa'ida, we have inevitably

         22  and grossly unfortunately killed innocent Afghani

         23  citizens, and there is absolutely no moral

         24  equivalent between people who die at the hands of a

         25  terrorist, and people who are accidentally killed
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          2  when we are trying to get rid of the terrorists.

          3  It's unfortunate. It's sad. I grieve for them, but

          4  you cannot make that comparison.

          5                 And as far as the issue of 85 percent

          6  of those who have been killed being civilians, I ask

          7  you whether or not the people who strap bombs to

          8  themselves, and walk into Bar Mitzvahs, are

          9  civilians, or whether they are militia, and how you

         10  define civilians in that context is the very essence

         11  of this fact that you are providing for us. There is

         12  no moral equivalent.

         13                 If you believe the Israelis are

         14  gunning down civilians because they're Palestinians

         15  and no other reason, with intent, I'll agree with

         16  you that that's wrong. But when you sit here and

         17  tell me that Israel doesn't have a right to go into

         18  these towns to make sure that people don't strap

         19  onto their body, and walk into Jerusalem or to a Bar

         20  Mitzvah or someone's private event, or to a pizza

         21  parlor to blow up innocent men, women and children,

         22  that's where I disagree with you, sir.

         23                 MS. TARAZI: Eighty-five percent of

         24  the Palestinians who were killed in the West Bank

         25  and Gaza by Israeli forces, that means armed

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            117

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  settlers and Israeli army, were civilians.

          3  Eighty-five percent of the Palestinians killed. Let

          4  me repeat that to you: In the West Bank and Gaza

          5  were armed, armed, non-combat civilians. I'm going

          6  to repeat that again: Eighty-five percent. The

          7  biggest and most powerful army in the region is

          8  targeting civilians, Mr. Councilman. And I find it

          9  astounding you're sitting under the quote of Abraham

         10  Lincoln, "A government of the people, by the people,

         11  for the people, and justifying military occupation

         12  which deprives Palestinians of their right to have

         13  their own government and to live in freedom in their

         14  own land.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And I believe

         16  Abraham Lincoln would defend the right of a country

         17  to defend itself from outside aggression and from

         18  the acts of terrorism. I think if Abraham Lincoln

         19  were here today, he'd be with me, not with you.

         20                 MS. TARAZI: I very much doubt that,

         21  sir.

         22                 Any of America's forefathers would

         23  say support the right of the American people to

         24  independence and to freedom and to live in democracy

         25  in their land, just as the Palestinians deserve that

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            118

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  right.

          3                 And I would like to bring up South

          4  Africa because it's been mentioned a couple of times

          5  by several of the panelists and speakers and I heard

          6  it mentioned this morning at the press conference.

          7                 When Nelson Mandella arrived in

          8  Palestine in Israel after his release from prison,

          9  he said this is South Africa, about the appalling

         10  racism that he saw in Israel. Desmond Tutu a couple

         11  of weeks ago had a statement mentioning, comparing

         12  Israeli practices to South Africa and apartheid.

         13  When I visited, when I was living in Haifa, and we

         14  were visited by South African delegates, they said

         15  don't kid yourself, apartheid was never this bad.

         16  We're fighting racism, we're fighting occupation,

         17  we're fighting for justice and equality and freedom.

         18  Those are the things that we stand for here, not

         19  military occupation and oppression.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         21                 I ask that before you speak, and it's

         22  back and forth dialogue, that you ask to be

         23  recognized.

         24                 Council Member Phil Reed has a

         25  question.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you very

          3  much, Mr. Chair. As a member of this Committee, I

          4  need to offer my apologies to you and to my

          5  colleagues for being detained this morning with a

          6  personal issue that I thought was going to take 20

          7  minutes and it took a lot longer, and I'm going to

          8  be chairing a meeting in ten minutes, so I'm going

          9  to have to adjourn to the next room. But I did want

         10  to come today. I'm not naive to think that any of

         11  this dialogue is going to change perhaps but a very

         12  few minds, if any, but I'm proud of this body, that

         13  we have the courage to exercise democracy by

         14  allowing this debate and this passion to be

         15  expressed.

         16                 We just spent the last month or so

         17  debating services in our communities all across the

         18  City, which, if nothing else, demonstrated that many

         19  kinds of cultures and races and peoples can come

         20  together and resolve what looked like an intractable

         21  problem. So, I'm proud of the work that I've done

         22  with many of my new colleagues, whether it's Council

         23  Member Fidler or Felder or Council Member Barron, or

         24  any of the new members here, because I really think

         25  we tried to stand up and respect each other, and I
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          2  think that's probably the most important thing we

          3  need to try to do in this debate about passion and

          4  about freedom, and I want us to remember that as we

          5  get through this day.

          6                 I am a co-sponsor with Council Member

          7  Barron of his resolution, which seems to have been

          8  vilified somewhat today.  I read Council Member

          9  Barron's resolution very carefully. In fact, I read

         10  it twice, before I signed onto it, and the reason I

         11  signed onto it was because I felt that it was one of

         12  the most even-handed, respectful pieces of

         13  legislation that I had read in a very long time. And

         14  many people counseled me that this was probably not

         15  a smart thing to do, given the environment that

         16  we're in, and the safe thing to do is to just sort

         17  of stay away from everything that's out there. But I

         18  wanted to respect and acknowledge what I thought

         19  Council Member Barron and all of us who have signed

         20  onto this resolution has said that, most

         21  importantly, peace is what we need to use as our

         22  objective in this debate. And, so, I'm proud to be

         23  here today, albeit a little bit late and perhaps

         24  short, but to stand firmly behind that.

         25                 And, Mr. Chair, I would also like to
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          2  have my name added to Council Member Nelson's

          3  Resolution 258.

          4                 Thank you very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

          6                 Council Member Katz.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Hello. Ms.

          8  Tarazi, I think Councilman Fidler basically went

          9  over a lot of the points that I might have wanted to

         10  make. And from your testimony, if you heard my

         11  opening statements, then you do understand we

         12  disagree on a lot of things.

         13                 Well, my real question, and in the

         14  interest of time, and I really don't want to get

         15  into a debate either at this moment, but really in a

         16  yes or no, because I do believe it's possible to be

         17  against suicide bombings, and still believe what you

         18  believe.

         19                 So, my question really is yes or no.

         20  There are two resolutions on the agenda today, one

         21  ousting the United Nations, a body which you have

         22  put a lot of credence into, and just another

         23  resolution simply asking or condemning the

         24  Palestinian suicide or homicide bombings in the

         25  state of Israel.
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          2                 So, I guess my question would be,

          3  really in a yes or no fashion, would you be willing

          4  to support, in addition to supporting Councilman

          5  Barron's resolution, a resolution condemning suicide

          6  bombings, homicide bombings?

          7                 MS. TARAZI: I think Councilman

          8  Barron's resolution, and the reason that I support

          9  Councilman Barron's resolution is because it is

         10  even-handed, and I think that's the approach the

         11  City Council needs to take.

         12                 If the City Council really is

         13  interested in peace in the region it has to take an

         14  even-handed approach, which recognizes that

         15  civilians on both sides have suffered, but also

         16  recognizes that Palestinians are living under a

         17  military occupation, and that the only way to

         18  achieve peace and security for all people in the

         19  region is through the end of the occupation, and

         20  freedom for the Palestinian people. That's why, that

         21  is the resolution that I am supporting.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I understand

         23  what you're saying, and I'm not getting into a

         24  debate with you on it, and you can continue to

         25  debate the same issue but that's not really what I'm
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          2  asking.

          3                 You expressed great disappointment

          4  and annoyance in your statement that 85 percent, in

          5  your view, of the people that are killed, the

          6  Palestinian community, were civilians, and since 100

          7  percent of the suicide bombers that the Palestinian

          8  community is producing are civilians, it's a yes or

          9  no question: Would you be willing to support a

         10  resolution condemning homicide bombings in the state

         11  of Israel?

         12                 MS. TARAZI: I would support a

         13  resolution which condemned all attacks on civilian

         14  targets, be the victims Palestinian or Israeli. If

         15  your produce a resolution for me which condemns

         16  every single attack on a civilian, whether it's

         17  committed by a Palestinian or an Israeli, I would

         18  support that resolution. But I would not support

         19  one-sided resolutions which can only exacerbate an

         20  already explosive situation.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you for

         22  your clear answer to the question.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         24                 Council Member Davis.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: I'm happy that
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          2  there is this dialogue going on for the clearance.

          3  That's just the whole thing today, to be able to

          4  listen to each other and dialogue, communicate. So,

          5  again, the Council is committed to communication.

          6                 Sir, you said that 85 percent -- you

          7  said there were neutral observers. This is the part

          8  that I, the neutral observers, and I have stated

          9  that I would like a trip with Rabbi Avi Weiss to

         10  Israel to let me make that clear, that's Israel, and

         11  we'll also be going to Palestine. We'll be traveling

         12  the entire border so that we can make sure that we

         13  are fair, and that's what it's all about today, I

         14  believe, fair.

         15                 Those neutral observers, do you have

         16  a list of those neutral observers, so that this way

         17  -- because one thing I've learned, don't go by the

         18  PLO or the Palestinians' public relations, but don't

         19  go by Israel public relations either.

         20                 So, to ascertain who are those

         21  neutral observers, and do they have an agenda?

         22                 MR. SHALOM: I cited some very

         23  specific ones, Amnesty International, Human Rights

         24  Watch, the Israeli Human Rights group B'Tselem.

         25  There are lots of groups. The International Lawyers'
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          2  Committee for Human Rights.

          3                 And across the board, if you look at

          4  these reports, they tell a very different story from

          5  that which is told by the Israeli government.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: I would like

          7  the Counsel to get me some of those reports, so that

          8  I can see these neutral observer reports, and then I

          9  will go a step further --

         10                 MR. SHALOM: Yes --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  No, no. Let me

         12  finish.

         13                 MR. SHALOM: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: And then I will

         15  go a step further to seek out and make sure that

         16  these neutral observers are, in fact, neutral.

         17  Because I've found that sometimes people say we're

         18  neutral but they have their own agenda. Because we

         19  are committed to getting to the bottom and making

         20  votes that are reasonable.

         21                 Also, last but not least, as far as

         22  Resolution Number 216, it's important when we talk

         23  about even-handed, it's important to read the

         24  resolution, and this is what we're committed to

         25  doing. Not to get caught off in who's the sponsor,
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          2  not to get caught off in any smoke screen, not to

          3  get caught off in how many people are here or not

          4  here today. It's important that we take a look at

          5  the information and we make a vote and not to get

          6  off track in this and that, your information, my

          7  information, your truth, my truth, your story and my

          8  story in history, but we want to find the truth and

          9  make reasonable sound judgments, and I thank you

         10  today and I look forward to finding more information

         11  so that I can make the best judgment in this voting

         12  time.

         13                 MR. SHALOM: Can I just make one

         14  point, which is, I think we've got to be careful at

         15  saying your truth, my truth, et cetera. That is,

         16  when one of your colleagues on the Council says

         17  Israel was attacked first in 1967 and that's a fact,

         18  okay, I urge you to look it up.

         19                 I am willing to say publicly that if

         20  it turns out Israel was attacked first in 1967, I

         21  will change my view on the whole Middle East

         22  question, okay?

         23                 But I would ask you, if it turns out,

         24  as Minochen Vagen (phonetic) and every single

         25  historian of the situation has acknowledged Israel
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          2  attacked first, I hope you will be willing to

          3  reconsider. Because it's not that everyone can just

          4  pick their facts, there are some facts that are

          5  accurate.

          6                 Now, some fact, it's a question of

          7  how you interpret it. So, you could say, there are

          8  more hospitals on the West Bank now than there were

          9  before, as Mr. Felder did, Councilman Felder did.

         10  You could also say there were more hospitals in

         11  South Africa, in the black areas of South Africa,

         12  under apartheid than there had been a hundred years

         13  earlier, and Colonial powers always justify their

         14  rule by saying look what progress we brought. That

         15  doesn't change the fact that it's a military

         16  occupation where people are denied

         17  self-determination.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: As far as 1967

         19  you weren't directing that to Councilman Davis, you

         20  were directing that I assume to Councilman Fidler?

         21                 MR. SHALOM: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Okay. All

         23  right, so we're moving forward on the dialogue and

         24  the communication and this Council is committed to

         25  making the right decisions.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            128

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2                 Thank you so much, Mr. Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you. Thank

          4  you very much. You can go.

          5                 I will call up the next panel, which

          6  will consist of Michael Miller, Ronald Soloway, and

          7  Michael Landau. And while they're coming up, I would

          8  like to turn the mic over to Council Member Nelson.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Chair. No, I just I'm sorry, I wanted to welcome

         11  Miss Tarazi. But one thing I wanted to mention, as

         12  far as she started off by saying you wouldn't read

         13  about it in New York papers or the media here, I was

         14  wondering if she's ever heard of the New York Times

         15  or CNN, because they've been consistently on

         16  balance.

         17                 But I'm sorry, I'll discuss it with

         18  you privately. I wanted to when you were there. I'll

         19  make another closing statement later.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         21  Council Member Simcha Felder has a quick, quick

         22  remark.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I didn't say

         24  that, you said that.

         25                 First of all, there's too much
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          2  testimony here. Let's talk about violence and

          3  terrorism. Violence and terrorism is not new in the

          4  Middle East. It didn't just happen. In the 1900s,

          5  1920, 1921, '33, '36, I can go on and on and on -

          6  violence and terrorism was a tool that was used by

          7  Arabs against Jews living in Palestine at the time

          8  to promote their own goals.

          9                 So, let's not go back to '66. And by

         10  the way, I agree, I'm sorry, Lou, but the previous

         11  witness has his information correct, in terms of

         12  Israel attacking first, but it was as a result of

         13  aggression that was taking place against Israel

         14  before that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Closing the

         16  waters?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Yes, closing

         18  the waters.

         19                 But when was the last time you said

         20  that we found an Israeli civilian went into a cafe

         21  or a restaurant or pizzeria or school bus, or a

         22  disco for that matter, as Councilman Davis

         23  mentioned, strapped together to blow up civilians?

         24  And I'm back with my pictures. I teach a class and I

         25  like visual aids, and I will talk into the mic.
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          2                 I challenge, let me hold it by the

          3  Chair, I challenge any of the witnesses to find me a

          4  picture of any Israeli family, or any Israeli baby

          5  or dressed like a warrior to go into Palestinian

          6  areas to kill innocent children, innocent people.

          7                 This picture was found in the home of

          8  one of the Palestinian authorities, appointees, one

          9  of the people who are in charge of protecting the

         10  Palestinian people. How can anyone in their right

         11  mind believe that the even-handedness -- where's

         12  Charles and Phil? Okay. How can anyone believe that

         13  the resolution calling for even-handedness makes

         14  sense?

         15                 There is even-handedness. The

         16  even-handedness is that the Israeli government is

         17  trying to protect its citizenry, as well as the

         18  Palestinians, as well as the Palestinian people,

         19  from the authority, from their own representatives

         20  that are out to kill their own families, their own

         21  women, children. And this is the proof to it. If

         22  they take a baby that's 12 months old, or 18 months

         23  old, and they're spending their time dressing him up

         24  as a suicide bomber, what else has to be said?

         25  There's nothing to be said. Exactly, there's nothing
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          2  else to be said.

          3                 And just in case you missed my visual

          4  aid, it's staying here the whole time.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Okay, the panel

          6  can begin.

          7                 Mr. Landau.

          8                 MR. LANDAU: Good morning. My name is

          9  Michael Landau, I'm the Chairman of the West Side

         10  COJO. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         11                 Good afternoon, honorable members of

         12  the City Council. I have just returned from Israel,

         13  and I had the unique experience of being present

         14  where my guests, one Christian, one Jewish, saw the

         15  "holy land" for the first time.

         16                 My non-Jewish guest was Gary Bauer, a

         17  former Presidential Candidate and a leader in the

         18  strong pro Israel Christian Evangelical community,

         19  whose strong support for Israel is well known.

         20                 Seeing Israel through his eyes gave

         21  me a whole new perspective on the current situation.

         22                 Israel, including the West Bank in

         23  Gaza, is roughly the size of New Jersey, two-thirds

         24  of which is uninhabitable because it is desert land.

         25  Now, imagine dropping an enemy state the size of
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          2  Delaware into this tiny area. The terrain that is in

          3  dispute is not below ground, but, in fact, the hills

          4  of Judea and Samaria, which are strategically the

          5  most militarily useful, as they look down on the

          6  Mediterranean coast to the West and to the Jordan

          7  Valley to the East.

          8                 One of the saddest misconceptions

          9  that unfortunately has affected some of the members

         10  of the Council, as well as a segment of the public

         11  at large, is the concept that the Jews of Israel are

         12  a conquering and vindictive occupier of the

         13  population of Palestine.

         14                 This could not be further from the

         15  truth. Prior to the 1967 war, the current disputed

         16  territories were controlled by the Jordanians and

         17  the 1967 war was a direct result of the terrorist

         18  activities emanating from the West Bank in Gaza by

         19  Yasser Arafat and the PLO which had been established

         20  in 1964, whose mantra was and still remains the

         21  destruction of the Jewish State.

         22                 Thus it is clear that notwithstanding

         23  the horrific daily proof of the continuous onslaught

         24  of attempted and actual suicide and homicide

         25  bombings, that the concept of land for peace,
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          2  without reforming the Palestinian Authority, never

          3  had a chance.

          4                 Notwithstanding the above, when we

          5  visited in the Golan Heights, which is where Syria

          6  held the mountain range overlooking, threatening and

          7  regularly attacking the Jews of the Galilee, the

          8  local voters gave the former Prime Minister Barak a

          9  majority of their votes because of the strong and

         10  desperate desire to have some sort of a peace with

         11  their neighbors.

         12                 The Jewish people have a great

         13  history, we have never been the aggressor and to our

         14  great detriment we have been on the receiving end of

         15  much suffering and discrimination. The Israelis are

         16  a peace-loving nation whose greatest desire is to

         17  have a peaceful coexistence with its neighbors.

         18  However, this cannot be achieved when the

         19  unfortunate children of the Palestinian Authority

         20  are taught the virtues of Martyrdom from such an

         21  innocent young age and when their equivalent game of

         22  Chutes and Ladders has their game pieces sliding and

         23  climbing based on the number of Jews and Christians

         24  that they kill.

         25                 Let us not forget the rejoicing that
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          2  took place on 9/11 in Gaza and the West Bank and

          3  that Israel is only the Small Satan compared to the

          4  United States which is the Great Satan. Let us not

          5  be confused and create a moral equivalency between

          6  the unintended accidental deaths of Palestinian

          7  bystanders with the tragic horrific deaths of the

          8  targeted civilian men, women and children that are

          9  murdered in cold blood by these vicious and

         10  heartless terrorists.

         11                 The most moving piece of our visit

         12  came when we visited an Ethiopian Christian family

         13  whose daughter had been brutally murdered in the bus

         14  bombing of Bus 32 three weeks ago, whose body was so

         15  badly burned and charred that just there was nothing

         16  there to bury. And Gary sat, comforted them, prayed

         17  with the Christian family, and so everybody should

         18  understand and realize that these acts of terrorism

         19  aren't just attacking the Jews of Israel, they're

         20  attacking the whole population of Israel, which

         21  includes the Christian Community.

         22                 The active support and pro Israel

         23  Resolutions by the New York City Council has a

         24  direct and very profound effect and impact on the

         25  people of Israel.
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          2                 I would like to commend the Chairman

          3  of this hearing, the Speaker, Councilman Gifford

          4  Miller, for convening this hearing, and congratulate

          5  him for the courage to show his solidarity with the

          6  people of Israel for taking a delegation of City

          7  Council members to visit Israel for themselves.

          8                 Just as I experienced the positive

          9  and emotional reaction of Gary Bauer's first visit

         10  to Israel, those of you fortunate enough to travel

         11  to Israel will return enthused and with a very clear

         12  picture of, to paraphrase our President,"who is with

         13  us and who is against us."

         14                 Thank you very much.

         15                 MR. MILLER: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         16  My name is Michael Miller, I'm the Executive Vice

         17  President of the Jewish Community Relations Council

         18  of New York.

         19                 I'd like to begin by expressing my

         20  gratitude to the Speaker, as well as the Council

         21  Members, Melinda Katz, and Mike Nelson for inviting

         22  me to attend and to testify at this hearing, and to

         23  Speaker Miller and Council Members Katz, Nelson and

         24  Koppell, for their initiatives. My gratitude, as

         25  well, to all co-sponsors of their resolutions.
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          2                 In the Ethics of the Fathers, the

          3  Judaic volume compiled close to two millennia ago,

          4  Rabbi Shimon ben Gamliel says that the world is

          5  sustained by virtue of three things: Truth, Justice

          6  and Peace.

          7                 Much has changed over the past 2,000

          8  years, but these three cardinal principles remain as

          9  the underpinnings of civilization, as we know it.

         10                 Since its founding in 1948, the State

         11  of Israel has been dedicated to these ideals:

         12                 Truth: Not only to speak truthfully,

         13  to act honestly, but also to be truthful to the

         14  democratic principles and values upon which the

         15  State was founded.

         16                 Justice: To develop a society based

         17  on the pursuit of justice for all its citizens,

         18  Jews, Arabs - Christians and Muslims, and others, to

         19  fashion a tolerant, harmonious society.

         20                 And Peace: Ultimately, Israel is

         21  devoted to living at peace with its neighbors, a

         22  true commitment to a just and lasting peace with all

         23  the parties to the Middle East conflict,

         24  particularly with its immediate neighbors, the

         25  Palestinians.
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          2                 Tragically, after having rejected the

          3  generous Camp David peace offer, the Palestinian

          4  Authority, which was created by the 1993 Oslo

          5  accords to achieve Palestinian political objectives

          6  solely through negotiations and not through

          7  violence, in September 2000, flaunting its signed

          8  agreement, launched an unending campaign of violence

          9  against its co-signatory to achieve its goals.

         10                 Interwoven in a thick web of lives

         11  and dissembling, rather than truth, over the past 22

         12  months Yasser Arafat and the PA he leads have

         13  unleashed a torrent of terror against innocent

         14  Israeli civilians, Jews and Arabs. More than 13,000

         15  attacks, 71 homicide bombings -- I repeat, 71

         16  homicide bombings, 561 killed, 4,213 injured, more

         17  than 800 severely or moderately.

         18                 All too many of the victims are the

         19  elderly, women or children. Like 14-month-old Sinai

         20  Keinan and her 56-year-old grandmother Ruth Peled,

         21  killed when a member of the Al-Aqsa Martyrs Brigade

         22  detonated himself while they were enjoying ice cream

         23  in a mall in Petach Tikva.

         24                 Rejecting truth, while offering lip

         25  service in English to a "peace process" and the
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          2  cessation of violence, Arafat authorized a $20,000

          3  payment to that very same Al-Aqsa Martyrs Brigades,

          4  a wing of his own Fatah faction. He also signed-off

          5  on funds to underwrite ceremonies honoring suicide

          6  bombers, and support for the families of the

          7  bombers, let alone the matter of the Karine-A, which

          8  hasn't been mentioned until now, a boat headed for

          9  Gaza brimming with 50 tons of deadly armaments.

         10                 Rejecting honesty, Arafat labels the

         11  suicide bombers as "martyrs," whereas they are

         12  really murderers and traitors to the cause of peace.

         13  Palestinian children are taught through the PA

         14  educational system and the Palestinian Authority

         15  media that the bombers are heroic figures. Calendars

         16  are printed, favorites of Palestinian youngsters,

         17  illustrated with the "martyr of the month," leading,

         18  most recently, to the photo of a two-year-old

         19  brought here today by Council Member Felder, dressed

         20  up with an explosive belt and bullet decorated

         21  suspenders.

         22                 And without truth there is no

         23  justice. The Palestinian Authority has no viable

         24  governance structures, no constitutional framework,

         25  no effective courts of law, no system of reliable
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          2  justice, no independent judiciary. In other words,

          3  Palestinians in the PA don't have the means to

          4  defend or vindicate their own rights. The vacuum is

          5  filled with totalitarian rule, rife with corruption,

          6  graft and abuse. Indeed, how many alleged

          7  Palestinian "collaborators" have been lynched by PA

          8  faction hate-filled mobs - never to receive the

          9  benefit of fair trials?

         10                 Devoid of truth and justice, there is

         11  no commitment to peace. As President Bush said on

         12  June 24th, "Palestinian authorities are encouraging,

         13  not opposing, terrorism. This is unacceptable."

         14                 It is then within this context of a

         15  Palestinian society eroded of its underpinnings,

         16  that Israel's government is carrying forward its

         17   "foremost duty" as a sovereign nation of defending

         18  the lives of its citizens. As Prime Minister Sharon

         19  has said, "The State of Israel is in a war, a war

         20  against terrorism. This is a war that was imposed on

         21  us. It is not a war that we decided to embark upon.

         22  This is a war over our home."

         23                 No moral equivalency can be drawn

         24  between terror filled homicide bombing and

         25  legitimate self-defense. And, as we mourn, truly
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          2  mourn the loss of all civilians, no comparison can

          3  be morally drawn between those heinously targeted by

          4  terrorists and the unfortunate casualties that occur

          5  during warfare, that are not targeted. That are not

          6  targeted.

          7                 As we New Yorkers and Americans

          8  experienced firsthand this past September 11th,

          9  homicide bombings not only threatened Israel and the

         10  Middle East, but are a danger to the entire

         11  civilized world. Unquelled hatred, fanned by

         12  political interests and heated by the flames of

         13  radical fundamentalism has also led to the outbreak

         14  of virulent anti-Semitism and anti-Semitism violence

         15  in Europe and around the world.

         16                 That the United Nations has remained

         17  silent regarding this scourge is an outrage.

         18                 What is needed at this critical

         19  juncture is not "even-handedness" but the clarity of

         20  moral leadership. There is no valid reason why

         21  Israel should be the sole democracy in its region of

         22  the world.

         23                 The United States must do everything

         24  in its power to foster the embrace of democracy in

         25  the Middle East. And while doing so, ensure the
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          2  safety and security of the Israeli people and all

          3  others who cherish the values of truth, justice and

          4  peace.

          5                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

          7                 Before we continue, I would like to

          8  just announce, because we've run over our time, that

          9  the Contracts Committee hearing, which was supposed

         10  to be held in the Council Chambers here, has been

         11  moved to 250 Broadway on the 16th floor. So, if

         12  anyone has come here looking for that hearing, it is

         13  actually going to happen at 250 Broadway across the

         14  street on the 16th floor Committee Room.

         15                 Okay, you may continue. Thank you.

         16                 MR. SOLOWAY: My name is Ron Soloway,

         17  and I'm representing here UJA Federation of New

         18  York.

         19                 My thanks to the Speaker and his

         20  Committee Chair Serrano, and the Committee members

         21  for the opportunity to speak today.

         22                 We live in a treacherous period for

         23  the Jewish people in Israel, but also for the entire

         24  world. It is with profound sadness that we continue

         25  to fight for Israel's very survival. Until recently,
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          2  many of us felt confident that a lasting peace was

          3  near, and we were prepared for a new era of Israel's

          4  history.

          5                 As Michael just mentioned, we went

          6  from a period where we thought there was going to be

          7  productive negotiation to terrorism that was

          8  unleashed by the Palestinian Authority.

          9                 Since September of 2000, Israeli men,

         10  women and children have lived as innocent, unwitting

         11  participants in war - a war being waged in the

         12  discos, pizzerias, markets and streets of Israel.

         13  Without remorse, terrorists have targeted the

         14  centers of Israeli life. This has taken a tremendous

         15  physical, psychological, and emotional toll on the

         16  country's population.

         17                 Today, Israel searches for a faithful

         18  partner in peace negotiations, one who will

         19  represent the true best interests of the Palestinian

         20  people. It is incumbent upon us and all people of

         21  goodwill to stand by Israel's side during this

         22  desperate hour.

         23                 Over the past 21 months, the New York

         24  Jewish community has done just that, continuously

         25  expressing its solidarity with the people of Israel
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          2  as they resist violence and pursue peace.

          3                 We as a city must continue to do so.

          4  As we stand with the people and State of Israel, we

          5  also reaffirm our hope that all peoples of the

          6  region will soon be able to live in peace.

          7                 We feel great sympathy for the

          8  Palestinian civilians who are suffering because of

          9  this ongoing conflict. It is a tragedy when any

         10  innocent person is harmed in the midst of a war, and

         11  the pain of the Palestinians is real.

         12                 But let me emphasize this: More than

         13  anything, the Israeli people want peace. They want

         14  to live their lives, travel through their cities,

         15  and go to work and school without the constant fear

         16  of terror, violence and death.

         17                 As a city and country immersed in our

         18  own resistance against terrorism, let us acknowledge

         19  and affirm the fundamental distinction between the

         20  terrorism perpetrated against Israeli civilians and

         21  the measured, strategic self-defense in which Israel

         22  must engage.

         23                 These are not two sides of the same

         24  coin. While the latter is aimed at eradicating

         25  violence and enabling peaceful, prosperous life and
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          2  coexistence, the former merely perpetuates

          3  bloodshed, and does not indicate a good-faith

          4  commitment to the legitimate needs of both sides.

          5                 UJA Federation strongly endorses the

          6  language of Resolution 214, which expresses our

          7  horror at the loss of any civilian life; strongly

          8  condemns the use of terror; and strongly supports

          9  efforts for a true and lasting peace.

         10                 These must be our values, and we

         11  should not minimize the importance of expressing

         12  them to the people of Israel, the people of New York

         13  and the entire world.

         14                 Other resolutions being presented

         15  today highlighting the combatting of anti-Semitism

         16  insisting on an unbiased United Nations, and

         17  unequivocally condemning acts of terrorism also

         18  enjoy our support.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         21                 Council Member James Davis has a

         22  question.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Thank you for

         24  your patience today. This has been a long hearing,

         25  and we've got to go next door to the Consumer
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          2  Affairs hearing, and I was very much committed to

          3  this.

          4                 I hear you testify about innocent

          5  lives. Now, there have been, I think it's clear that

          6  there have been individuals who happen to be

          7  Palestinians, who have been involved in what I term,

          8  many of us term, homicide bombings. How many

          9  innocent Palestinians, innocent Palestinians have

         10  been killed in these homicide bombings?

         11                 I know the tragedy of the Israelis

         12  that have been killed in these homicide bombings,

         13  how many innocent Palestinian lives? Because when

         14  the World Trade Center took place, Osama bin Laden

         15  didn't say is there any Arabs, many people, we all

         16  shared pain in the World Trade Center, Arabs,

         17  African-Americans, Caucasians, Jews, Gentile,

         18  Protestant, down in the World Trade Center. So, it

         19  clearly shows that this was a terroristic,

         20  demonistic act, and had no love or no appreciation

         21  for anyone. And as a retired police officer and the

         22  head of Stop The Violence organization, we will root

         23  out and stop violence, terrorist violence across the

         24  board, regardless of who the terrorist is, because

         25  we want to stomp him out.
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          2                 How many Palestinians have been

          3  innocent Palestinians who have been killed by these

          4  terrorists, which we condemn wholeheartedly? Do you

          5  have any numbers?

          6                 MR. MILLER: I don't have any numbers

          7  in regard to, as you refer to them, "innocent

          8  Palestinian" --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Civilians.

         10                 MR. MILLER: -- Civilians who have

         11  been killed by --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Along with the

         13  innocent --

         14                 MR. MILLER: -- By homicide bombings.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Right.

         16                 MR. MILLER: There have been innocent

         17  Israeli Arabs, Israeli Arabs meaning Arabs living as

         18  citizens of Israel, with all full privileges of the

         19  citizenship within the State of Israel, who indeed

         20  have been killed, not only killed, but targeted, by

         21  the homicide bombings. One of them was during the

         22  holiday of Passover. It was in Haifa, and it was a

         23  restaurant that was open. Very few restaurants are

         24  open during the holiday of Passover because of the

         25  restrictions of the law in terms of keeping bread
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          2  separate from unlevin (phonetic) bread, but a

          3  restaurant in Haifa owned by Arabs, Arab Israelis,

          4  was targeted for a terrorist bombing, homicide

          5  bombing, killing, if I remember correctly, between

          6  11 and 14 innocents, many of whom civilians, many of

          7  whom were Arab Israelis.

          8                 The homicide bombers have not struck

          9  within the Palestinian territories; they've struck

         10  within Israel, or they've struck within the West

         11  Bank territories that are populated by --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: That's a good

         13  point.

         14                 Now, you're stating for the record

         15  that to date there has been no homicide bombings in

         16  the Palestinian areas?

         17                 MR. MILLER: The homicide bombers have

         18  not targeted the Palestinian areas, they have only

         19  targeted Jewish areas, Israeli areas, whether

         20  they're pre-'67 Israel, or those areas that are

         21  populated by Israelis, both Arabs and Jews.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: And my last

         23  point: I am against the terrorism --

         24                 MR. MILLER: Mr. Landau wants to add.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: You want to
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          2  add? Okay.

          3                 MR. LANDAU: I just want to

          4  personalize it. As I mentioned, I was in Israel last

          5  week. We went to our favorite restaurant, and I was

          6  looking for the maitre'd who is actually not an

          7  Israeli Arab because he lives in a Palestinian

          8  village which is right next to Jerusalem, and asked,

          9  you know, where he was, and they said, well, his

         10  daughter just got blown up in the 32 bus, the same

         11  bus where the Ethiopian Christian child got blown

         12  up. So, his daughter was also blown up and these are

         13  people who do work in Israel, people who are looking

         14  to have peace with Israel.

         15                 And to your point, there are many,

         16  many good Palestinian people who do want to live in

         17  peace, and, unfortunately, the situation today, as

         18  our President has very clearly seen, having had five

         19  or predecessor presidents who have had dealings with

         20  Yasser Arafat and his minions, that the only way

         21  that peace will be achieved is by removing the

         22  terror organizations and by bringing in -- you know,

         23  which is very difficult. There's no simple solution

         24  of who those people are because they're under a

         25  terrorist state where there's no freedom of speech.
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          2  They speak, they get lynched, as we saw in the great

          3  picture in the New York Sum a few, a couple of

          4  months ago, where you had a victim of their own

          5  lynchings. If they speak out, they are accused of

          6  collaborating, they get murdered in the most

          7  horrendous fashion.

          8                 So, it's not an easy situation, but

          9  there can never be peace with terrorists, and,

         10  unfortunately, the Palestinian Authority today are a

         11  terrorist regime.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: I want to thank

         14  you for constantly, and many other people who

         15  testified today, for not making it a Palestinian

         16  people issue, and that's the most important thing.

         17  And I think that sometimes the PLO or Arafat is

         18  viewed only as representing all of the Palestinian

         19  people and maybe he does and maybe there was a vote

         20  and maybe there's a democracy there, and maybe

         21  there's not a democracy there, but the point I was

         22  trying to make is that, and as you've brought out,

         23  there have been Israel Arabs who have died at the

         24  hands of terrorists, and I would even go a step

         25  further and say that some of those were also Israeli
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          2  Palestinians, or Palestinians that have also died at

          3  the hands of terrorism, and I am committed against

          4  stopping terrorism. I don't care, whether it's a

          5  Palestinian terrorist, I don't care who the

          6  terrorist is, where the terrorist is, we are

          7  committed to stopping terrorism, and if this

          8  organization or any organization supports terrorism,

          9  honors terrorists, then we're committed to stopping

         10  them as well. It's time for people to get either on

         11  the side of justice or you're against justice,

         12  you're either with us or against us, and you cannot

         13  go around crowning terrorists as though their

         14  heroes.

         15                 Let's get as much information as

         16  possible so we can identify who terrorists are and

         17  then speak out strongly against them.

         18                 And if they're not terrorists, we

         19  must not put all of the good people, the

         20  Palestinians, the innocent people, the Israeli, the

         21  innocent people get caught up in all of this

         22  politics.

         23                 MR. LANDAU: Just to personalize a

         24  drop more so you can get a slightly better

         25  perspective, prior to '91, prior to Oslo, Bethlehem,
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          2  as we all know, was primarily a Christian town with

          3  close to 90 percent Christian population. Today

          4  there are less than three percent Christians left in

          5  the town of Bethlehem, and I could humbly request

          6  that those of you who have the opportunity to go to

          7  Israel, I mean there could be armored vehicles,

          8  well-armored vehicles, and speak to the population

          9  of Bethlehem. I used to go there on a very regular

         10  basis when I was studying in Israel. We had an

         11  apartment, we used to go buy furniture there, I had

         12  very good friends who were local Palestinians.

         13                 After the Oslo agreements, and when

         14  Arafat came back to the territories with the "boys

         15  from Tunis" as they were known, and created an

         16  infrastructure of terror, the people who are running

         17  the West Bank today are not those good people that I

         18  knew prior to '91. And if you're looking for the

         19  Palestinians, Arabs, Christians who lived in

         20  Bethlehem, you're going to have to go to Sydney

         21  Australia, you're going to have to go to Chile,

         22  you're going to have to go all over the world,

         23  because they ain't in Bethlehem anymore because

         24  they've been brutalized and victimized to the point

         25  where three percent of today's population is
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          2  Christian today.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Please reach

          4  out to me with some of those people, the local

          5  Palestinians, some of those Christian groups, reach

          6  out to me. We have work to do.  And I compliment you

          7  for having a voice to bring people together so that

          8  we can separate the difference between Palestinian

          9  people, good natured people, and individuals who are

         10  wicked and terrorists who happen to be Palestinian,

         11  there is a difference.

         12                 Thank you so very much for making

         13  that clear.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         15                 Council Member Gale Brewer.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you. I

         17  just want to say, I think I've known the three of

         18  you for a long time, and I want to make it clear

         19  that I often -- not only do I support your

         20  testimony, but having watched Michael Landau build

         21  the West Side COJO in the inclusive manner that he

         22  just described, and knowing Ron Soloway and Michael

         23  Miller, and what you've done for our City and our

         24  world, I guess I think, I look at the three of you

         25  and I think I just wish you were in charge of the
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          2  world. And then I think it would be a peaceful

          3  world.

          4                 So, I concur wholeheartedly, I thank

          5  you for your testimony and for all your leadership,

          6  for many, many years.

          7                 I was next door at the Housing

          8  Committee with my colleague talking about

          9  sprinklers, but I'm delighted that my interns are

         10  here today listening to this very interesting

         11  discussion, and we can only hope that it proves

         12  something fruitful for the world as a whole.

         13                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         15                 Council Member Simcha Felder.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: It's me again,

         17  Mike.

         18                 We're getting back to Charles

         19  Barron's Resolution 216.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Before you

         21  continue, I just want to mention to the audience and

         22  to the other members that Council Member Barron has

         23  to be excused to attend his Consumer Affairs hearing

         24  next door, and he'll be back and forth.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: You can say

          3  whatever you want, but the sponsors of Charles

          4  Barron's resolution, including Mr. Barron, have been

          5  noticeably absent during most of the testimony that

          6  has been opposed to his resolution, and the

          7  Sergeant-At-Arms can tell him that Simcha said that

          8  he's not around and he's not interested in hearing

          9  the other side. I'm very, very disappointed.

         10                 But this picture, again, depicts the

         11  children that the Palestinian Authority are training

         12  to blow up, and what we're saying is that the

         13  Palestinian Authority should make sure that their

         14  children grow up and that they don't blow up, and

         15  that's what this is all about.

         16                 The policy in the Middle East has

         17  been extremely even-handed. The Palestinians have

         18  been given opportunities again and again to

         19  negotiate their demands and peaceful efforts.

         20  They've responded by teaching their children that

         21  it's far better to blow up than to grow up.

         22                 Israelis are trying to provide their

         23  citizens with protection from murderous terrorist

         24  acts. Yes, there's an uneven approach to the

         25  situation in the Middle East. Israelis want to give
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          2  their children a future of peace, as well as the

          3  Palestinian people, but the Palestinian Authority

          4  wants to give their children, their people, the kind

          5  of peace found only in the grave.

          6                 I just want to ask Mr. Miller one

          7  question, please.

          8                 Can you enlighten me about the

          9  information that I have read about the United

         10  Nations' involvement in the use of ambulances to

         11  ferry terrorists targeting civilians?

         12                 MR. MILLER: It has been documented,

         13  documented that the Palestinian terror groups have

         14  ferried terrorists and armaments on ambulances with

         15  their symbol on the side. So that one could not tell

         16  any difference as to whether this was actually an

         17  ambulance carrying someone to a hospital, as opposed

         18  to an ambulance carrying terrorists, including

         19  homicide bombers to carry out an attack. And for

         20  previous individuals to testify that Israel fires on

         21  ambulances, I say never. Israel will only attack an

         22  ambulance if it is known in advance, or in fact it

         23  has opened up and found through the scrutiny of the

         24  insides of that ambulance itself that indeed is not

         25  being used for human welfare, it's being used for
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          2  human destruction. And the United Nations,

          3  unfortunately, as we've seen over the years, has

          4  been complicit. They have been hypocritical in their

          5  approach to the Middle East, and as has been

          6  mentioned before, they are not the world body that

          7  should be monitoring the goings on within the

          8  territories because of their absolute bias, and as

          9  was pointed out in one of the resolutions, the

         10  reality is that they've been silent all throughout

         11  this. Israelis allegedly attack Palestinians, yes,

         12  the Security Council is convened, but Jews, Jews

         13  attack targeted and exploded by homicide bombers,

         14  no, never once has a Security Council resolution

         15  ever been brought in that regard.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         18                 Council Member Nelson.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I moved from

         20  my seat, I had some notes there, but I'm just going

         21  to bring out a few things I believe anyway.

         22                 The hypocrisy of it all, and through

         23  the media, so often times -- I mean, I hear

         24  something that the media is not reporting, you won't

         25  hear about this in New York, I get sick, because we
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          2  have seen the uneven-handedness of it.

          3                 I remember one New York Times'

          4  picture of what looked like a brut of an Israeli

          5  policeman with his night stick up, and he was

          6  pounding, it appeared, on this poor Palestinian,

          7  when we actually found out that the kid who was

          8  bleeding was not a Palestinian, he was an observant

          9  Jew from Chicago and the policeman was trying to

         10  protect him. That's the type of media I have seen

         11  time and time again.

         12                 If they show, you have some

         13  Palestinian murderers come in, they got their hands

         14  on Israeli uniforms, they will shoot a baby in his

         15  crib, brave that they are, and then the picture I

         16  saw in one of the newspapers in New York happened to

         17  be that of a frightened Palestinian child after

         18  Israel retaliated in that area where these killers

         19  came from. And they didn't elaborate on this child,

         20  this baby, this infant in this crib that was

         21  murdered. So, let's not go towards the media,

         22  because you've got no argument at all in that

         23  respect.

         24                 I just hope it doesn't where Goldin

         25  (phonetic) may air her statement, because if it goes
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          2  that far, I don't think there's a chance in the

          3  Middle East.

          4                 But she said there will be peace in

          5  the Middle East when Arab mothers love their

          6  children more than they hate us. If that is the

          7  case, I fear for the civilization. Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

          9                 Council Member Katz.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you,

         11  gentlemen, for being so patient today and waiting

         12  around, and I thank you for your testimony. I would

         13  just like to continue on what Mr. Miller was talking

         14  about as far as the United Nations.

         15                 As you know, my resolution asking the

         16  United Nations to actually come out and condemn

         17  Palestinian bombing, and although that has been a

         18  sort of undertone in today's hearing, I think it is

         19  important to note that the United Nation

         20  historically has proven to have voices when it comes

         21  to condemning the Israelis for certain activities,

         22  including the Security Council in condemning them

         23  for excessive force, an organization that as we all

         24  know Israel didn't even have a seat on, and also

         25  asking Israel to get out of RamAllah, and all these
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          2  different things, they do have a voice, they do know

          3  how to speak.

          4                 As one of the testimonies here today

          5  that was pro Charles Barron's testimony, resolution,

          6  discussed the UN has actually come out and said many

          7  of these things and the United States has had the

          8  courage to veto some of the UN's resolutions, and I

          9  do applaud the United States for that.

         10                 I think it's also important to note

         11  that the United Nations also found a voice to send a

         12  commission to Jenin to look into see what Israel had

         13  done there, and one of the members of the

         14  commission, when they went to Jenin, was the former

         15  head of the International Red Cross who for 12 years

         16  wouldn't even allow Magan Davito Dom (phonetic

         17  spelling), which is the Israeli version of the Red

         18  Cross, for those people that don't know that,

         19  wouldn't even allow Magan Davito Dom to be part of

         20  their organization. So, when you talk about, or when

         21  some of the testifiers here talked about having

         22  neutral observers, I strongly suggest that we take a

         23  look at who these neutral observers are, because if

         24  that commission was an example of what the United

         25  Nations considers neutral observers, then there is
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          2  no such thing. And if I were Israel, I wouldn't have

          3  let them in either.

          4                 So, I think it's important to note

          5  those things, and I hope this resolution passes,

          6  because I think the UN, it's time for them to find a

          7  voice, it's time for them to be even-handed, it's

          8  time for them to take responsibility as the

          9  international peace-keeping security measure that

         10  they call themselves, it's time for them to take

         11  responsibility through the world. I have one

         12  question -- to the world, I should say.

         13                 I have one question. Mr. Landau just

         14  returned from Israel, I know, Mr. Miller, that you

         15  go back and forth all the time, I'm actually just

         16  curious as to what the read is by the Israeli

         17  leaders on what the City of New York is doing, what

         18  the attitude here is in the City of New York? If

         19  we're being helpful at all. Are we sending the right

         20  messages to Israel? Do they know that we're here

         21  supporting them? Do they understand that their

         22  brothers and sisters in solidarity here are speaking

         23  out for their rights and are watching their back?

         24                 MR. LANDAU: I can categorically say

         25  that the answer is yes, they do know, because I had
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          2  the opportunity to meet with pretty much all of the

          3  leaders of the country last week, specifically the

          4  foreign ministry, who follow very, very closely the

          5  goings on in North America, and they were very, very

          6  encouraged. And as I said in my testimony, it means

          7  a lot to them when the City of New York, that the

          8  symbol of the free world, and, you know, makes an

          9  effort -- obviously it's not going to change the

         10  policy on the ground of the UN, I wish it would, but

         11  the symbolic gestures and the fact that the City

         12  Council Speaker is going to be taking a delegation

         13  to Israel is very heart-warming for them. Having

         14  been there with Gary Bauer, who, you know, has been

         15  a very strong spokesman for Israel, and is the head

         16  of the Evangelical community in this country who

         17  have been very strong supporters of Israel, and, you

         18  know, they clearly acknowledge the impact of public

         19  opinion, you know, how it affects the President of

         20  the United States, and the strong support of the

         21  people of America gives them tremendous

         22  encouragement, and I would like to encourage you

         23  all, encourage myself, ourselves, to continue this

         24  necessary endeavor, because until terrorism is

         25  rooted out in this world, as the presence is very
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          2  clearly stated, none of us will be able to live at

          3  peace.

          4                 So, I congratulate you all for the

          5  wonderful work that you are doing. Thank you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you. Thank

          9  you very much, panelists. Thank you very much.

         10                 I would like to call up the next

         11  panel. Mitchell Cohen, Reem Abu-Sbaih, and Ahmad

         12  Maaty.  And I would also like to recognize Council

         13  Member Alan Gerson was here, and I'd like to thank

         14  him for stopping by.

         15                 Please be mindful of the time

         16  limitations, and you may submit as much testimony as

         17  you'd like. Thank you.

         18                 You may begin.

         19                 MR. COHEN: Hi. My name is Mitchell

         20  Cohen. I'm here representing the Green Party USA,

         21  and also I'm from the Brooklyn Greens. It's nice to

         22  see a few of the representatives from Brooklyn still

         23  here. I note that the Councilman who was criticizing

         24  Council Member Barron before, Simcha Felder, for not

         25  listening to the other side, has now left the
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          2  Chambers.

          3                 I wanted to make sure, I come here

          4  also speaking as a Jewish person myself. I want

          5  people to understand that not all Jews are Zionists

          6  and that there's a difference between Judaism and

          7  Zionism that often gets totally twisted around when

          8  we're dealing with international political issues.

          9                 I'm also proud that members of the

         10  Green Party, which I represent, which has many Jews,

         11  Arabs and Palestinians who are part of it -- I guess

         12  he's back.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I've been

         14  listening.

         15                 MR. COHEN: Thank you.

         16                 That members of the Green Party have

         17  joined the international solidarity movement and

         18  part of the so-called "human shield" in Palestine,

         19  and came back giving reports of the horror that they

         20  saw with their own eyes, some of which they showed

         21  that were caused by the Israeli occupation with the

         22  tanks, machine guns, US Apache helicopters, and

         23  others that the Israeli army and the IDFUs inside

         24  the occupied territories.

         25                 The case of Kristin Shor from New
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          2  York, her film was taken from her by the Israel, was

          3  taken out of her cameras, people were held for a

          4  number of days, and the stories that they tell are

          5  pretty horrifying.

          6                 They stayed in Palestinian homes,

          7  they were extremely welcome there, and they were

          8  subject to a number of abuses and they witnessed

          9  many, many more serious abuses of the Palestinian

         10  population.

         11                 I wanted to read into the record also

         12  that 600 Jewish members of the Israeli military,

         13  Israeli soldiers, are now refusing to serve in the

         14  occupied territories. Some of them are imprisoned in

         15  Israel, as a result. For me, these people are

         16  heroes, and I wanted to read their statement into

         17  the record, in order to combat some of the, or

         18  counter some of the ridiculous testimony that we

         19  heard before.

         20                 This is their words:

         21                 We, reserve combat officers and

         22  soldiers of the Israeli defense forces, who were

         23  raised upon the principles of Zionism sacrifice and

         24  giving to the people of Israel and to the state of

         25  Israel, and who have always served in the front
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          2  lines, and who are always the first to carry out any

          3  mission, light or heavy, in order to protect the

          4  state of Israel and strengthen it, we combat

          5  officers and soldiers who have served the state of

          6  Israel for long weeks every year, in spite of the

          7  dear cost to our personal lives, have been on

          8  reserve duty all over the occupied territories and

          9  were issued commands and directives that had nothing

         10  to do with the security of our country, and that

         11  have the sole purpose of perpetuating our control

         12  over the Palestinian people.

         13                 We, who eyes have seen the bloody

         14  toll this occupation exacts from both sides, and we

         15  who sense how the commands issued to us in the

         16  territories destroy all the values we had absorbed

         17  while growing up in this country, Israel;

         18                 And we who understand now that the

         19  price of occupation is the loss of IDF's human

         20  character and the corruption of the entire Israeli

         21  society;

         22                 We who know that the territories are

         23  not Israel and that all settlements are bound to be

         24  evacuated in the end, we hereby declare that we

         25  shall not continue to fight this war of the
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          2  settlements, we shall not continue to fight beyond

          3  the 1967 borders in order to dominate, expel, starve

          4  and humiliate an entire people, we hereby declare

          5  that we shall continue serving in the Israeli

          6  defense forces in any mission that serves Israel's

          7  defense, and that the missions of occupation and

          8  oppression do not serve this purpose, and we shall

          9  take no part in them."

         10                 That's a statement signed by over 600

         11  members of the Israeli military, some of whom are

         12  now in jail as a result of their refusal, similar to

         13  the Vietnam resisters here, same deal that's going

         14  on.

         15                 So, the Brooklyn Greens, which I'm a

         16  member of, applauds all non-violent efforts,

         17  including those of City Council Member Charles

         18  Barron, to create a fair and equitable US policy

         19  toward the Middle East. This requires reversing

         20  Israel's military occupation of Palestine and

         21  imposition of settlements in the West Bank and

         22  demanding that the State of Israel abide by

         23  international law.

         24                 We note that a great deal of New York

         25  State and City funds are invested in agencies and
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          2  financial institutions that invest them in the state

          3  of Israel, which relies upon them to implement its

          4  expansionist policies, we thereby not only support

          5  the current resolution offered by Charles Barron and

          6  others, but we call upon the Comptrollers of the

          7  City and the State of New York to withdraw such

          8  funds immediately pursuant to the resolution below,

          9  which I will get to, which was drafted by the

         10  Brooklyn Greens and is now the official policy of

         11  the Green Party USA.

         12                 We call to suspend all bank credits

         13  and divest all funds, including state pension funds,

         14  investments and loans to Israel, unless or until

         15  Israel conforms to international conventions of

         16  human rights, and complies with the following five

         17  conditions:

         18                 1) immediately end the military

         19  occupation of the West Bank and Gaza strip.

         20                 2) cease building new settlements and

         21  begin vacating existing settlements in the occupied

         22  territories, in accord with the Fourth Geneva

         23  Convention.

         24                 3) accept the recommendations of the

         25  UN Committee Against Torture Report 2001 and end the
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          2  use of legal torture.

          3                 4) adhere to international law,

          4  including the 4th and 23rd Geneva Conventions, which

          5  ban armies from using starvation and prevention of

          6  medical attention as weapons of war; and

          7                 5) resume negotiations with the

          8  representatives of the Palestinian people based upon

          9  an acceptance of previous United Nations

         10  resolutions, including UN Security Council

         11  Resolutions 242 and 338, which mandate the

         12  withdrawal of both Israeli armed forces and

         13  civilians from territories which were illegally

         14  occupied during the war in 1967, and UN Security

         15  Council Resolution 194, which stipulates that all

         16  refugees should be allowed to return to their former

         17  lands.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Excuse me. Could

         19  you please summarize at this point?

         20                 MR. COHEN: Okay.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         22                 MR. COHEN: On May 2nd, Human Rights

         23  Watch released a report that described Israel's

         24  blocking of ambulances and relief groups to the

         25  refugee camps for more than 11 days. It noted that
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          2  soldiers repeatedly fired on red crescent

          3  ambulances. This report concluded that the Israeli

          4  army, the IDF, had committed war crimes that

          5  constituted grave breeches of the Geneva Convention.

          6                 The Israeli government continues to

          7  deny any wrongdoing, yet it has retracted its

          8  invitation to the United Nations to send a team of

          9  observers to Jenin, and the UN timidly acquiesced

         10  without protest, thus quashing any official UN

         11  investigation that would have rendered to the world

         12  community a definitive judgment of the nature of the

         13  Israeli government actions in Jenin and in other

         14  areas.

         15                 And, so, we support the resolutions

         16  that are before us. We also call for divestment of

         17  New York City and New York State funds from the

         18  State of Israel until it ends the occupation of

         19  Palestinian land of the West Bank and Gaza strip.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         22                 I'd also like to call up to the panel

         23  Emily Jacir, to please join the panel. And also,

         24  please be mindful of the clock. When you hear the

         25  beep, can you please summarize at that point.
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          2                 You may begin.

          3                 MS. ABU-SBAIH: Hello. My name is Reem

          4  Abu-Sbaih, from the Palestinian Refugee Right of

          5  Return Coalition, and I'm happy to be here, although

          6  I just found out about it this morning, so I don't

          7  have anything prepared.

          8                 But, first of all, before I say

          9  anything I'd like to do something with this picture.

         10                 There's plenty of propaganda as well

         11  from the Palestinian side. I could have brought

         12  pictures of babies, Palestinian babies with bullets

         13  in their heads, and I could have brought a picture

         14  of Israeli soldiers standing over dead Palestinians

         15  as if they were like prize pieces of meat. So, I

         16  don't have to look at --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Excuse me.

         18  Don't touch the picture. Don't touch the picture. If

         19  you want I'll move it in front of you, but don't

         20  touch it.

         21                 MS. ABU-SBAIH: Okay, well, I don't

         22  have to resort to that.

         23                 PARTICIPANT: (not identified for the

         24  record) What do you think she's going to do to the

         25  picture?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Take it.

          3                 MS. ABU-SBAIH: I'm not going to take

          4  it, I just want to put it down.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I'm sorry.

          6  Next time you come, you bring whatever you want.

          7                 MS. ABU-SBAIH: I don't resort to

          8  going that low, okay?

          9                 First of all, this is a very historic

         10  meeting that I'm happy to be at, and I compliment

         11  the bravery of certain Councilmen that go against

         12  what mainstream American politics and media is all

         13  about. And I know that some of us here in this room

         14  are the minority, but I'm happy that we're not in

         15  the minority worldwide. And even if we were in the

         16  minority, that would be okay, because we're on the

         17  side of justice.

         18                 The Palestinian Refugee Right of

         19  Return Coalition is in the defense of the oldest and

         20  largest refugee problem in the world.

         21                 As has been mentioned before,

         22  Resolution 194 has always called for the

         23  Palestinians going back to their homeland, and has

         24  always been rejected by two countries, the United

         25  States and Israel, and are giving of 3 to $5 billion
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          2  a year to this country, while we have cuts in

          3  education and health care, and not everybody has

          4  insurance, to a country whose GNP is greater than

          5  that of Spain, which amounts to about $14,000 per

          6  Israeli citizen per day, as opposed to the aid that

          7  we give to Latin America and Africa, less than $100

          8  a day.

          9                 Just in response to some of the

         10  rhetoric that's been going on, like terrorism, it

         11  seems like one group of people have a monopoly over

         12  the word, using the word "terrorism," but we don't

         13  think about Israeli state terrorism, and the actual

         14  numbers are plain enough to show like over 1,500

         15  Palestinian people have died and 500 Israeli, 85

         16  percent civilian on both sides, and 25 percent of

         17  the Palestinians have been children under the age of

         18  18.

         19                 I don't know, I just think that it's

         20  great that this is being presented, and we have to

         21  discuss these kinds of things a lot more, and that's

         22  about all I have to say right now.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         24                 You may begin.

         25                 MS. JACIS: Mr. Chairperson,
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          2  distinguished members of the Committee, first I just

          3  want to say thank you for allowing me to speak.

          4                 I am here representing the Arab

          5  American Family Support Center, which supports

          6  Resolution 216, and I'm also here not as an observer

          7  but as a victim of terror of the Israeli so-called

          8  "defense forces."

          9                 I've just returned from Ramallah,

         10  where I had been living for the past three months.

         11  My family is Christian Palestinian from the town of

         12  Bethlehem and I'm also speaking on behalf of the

         13  Christian Palestinians from the Bethlehem from the

         14  Bethlehem, Bayt Jala area.  I'm not going to talk

         15  about statistics and these ideas from the Internet

         16  and the news, I just want to talk on a totally

         17  personal level of what I've been experiencing since

         18  the Intifada has started. During the first invasion

         19  of Bethlehem last October four of my friends were

         20  killed, all of them were Christian. They were killed

         21  because they were inside their homes while the City

         22  was being attacked. This is due to the terror of the

         23  Israeli defense forces.

         24                 When I was living in Ramallah was

         25  when the big invasion of March 29th occurred, and
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          2  even though I am an American citizen, and the

          3  soldiers were aware that I was an American citizen,

          4  I was shot at three times by live fire from M-16s.

          5  One of the days when they lifted the curfew I made

          6  the mistake of actually getting into a car to go

          7  grocery shopping and was shot at by a Merkava tank.

          8                 I'm sorry, this is really hard to

          9  talk about.

         10                 Also, my family in Bethlehem has not

         11  been able to go to church, to go to school, or to go

         12  to work for months. They are sitting at home under

         13  curfew under house arrest, all because they're of

         14  the wrong religion. They do not have this privilege

         15  because they're not Jewish.

         16                 My grandparents' home in Bethlehem

         17  was accidentally hit by a missile during the last

         18  invasion of Bethlehem. This I can understand, I

         19  could accept that this was an accident; what I

         20  cannot accept was that the Israeli defense forces

         21  entered my grandfather's home and in detail ripped

         22  up every single family photograph that we have,

         23  every plate, every piece of furniture, a shrine that

         24  we have had for the Virgin Mary in our house for

         25  hundreds of years, they smashed it, and they smashed
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          2  this Virgin Mary statue that we've always had in our

          3  family, in a million pieces on the floor, and I

          4  just, I don't understand how this is not terror.

          5                 So, all I am calling for is that we

          6  support this even-handed resolution dealing with the

          7  terror on both sides.

          8                 And I just want to say, as a citizen

          9  of the states and as living in New York, one of the

         10  most amazing things about living in New York for me

         11  is the opportunity that I have had to have dialogue

         12  and become very close friends with the Israelis and

         13  other Palestinians in the City, and both of us

         14  groups, we're working together, we are dialoguing

         15  together. Don't shut us out, the ones among us that

         16  are dialoguing, that are still working together. We

         17  really need you to support us even-handedly, and I

         18  guess my time is up.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         20                 A question from Council Member

         21  Charles Barron.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Well, first, I

         23  want to applaud you for your courage, to come before

         24  us, and make testimony with such passion and

         25  emotion. The personal experiences are always
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          2  appreciated.  On both sides we've heard it today,

          3  and, unfortunately, for some of us here this is a

          4  cutesy little political discussion, but for those of

          5  you who share the pain and the suffering of lost

          6  loved ones, I just want to continue to express my

          7  condolences and my sympathies, and for those of you

          8  who experience terror, no matter what side it came

          9  from, I want to express that.

         10                 And I forget your name, Ma'am?

         11                 MS. ABU-SBAIH: Reem, R-e-e-m.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Right. Never

         13  feel that you're in a minority or in a hopeless

         14  situation, but I think that today has shown that

         15  you're going to get a hearing just like everybody

         16  else. And I think all fair-minded people could

         17  appreciate the fact that we are looking for balance

         18  and even-handedness.

         19                 So, I want to applaud all three of

         20  your for your testimony. To the Green Party, we

         21  certainly thank you for the support, and hopefully

         22  we can keep going forward and have other hearings

         23  where we can have the kinds of discussions we had

         24  today. And I'm just afraid to go to the restroom or

         25  to another meeting, because some of my colleagues
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          2  talked behind my back, they wait til I leave.

          3                 PARTICIPANT: (Not identified for the

          4  record) Only one.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Only one?

          6                 PARTICIPANT: (Not identified for the

          7  record.) Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: He waits til I

          9  leave. So, I'm going to display some discipline on

         10  going to the restroom or going to my other

         11  responsibilities. There is a Committee hearing on

         12  "predatory lending," which we all need to be

         13  protected from, but because of my friend and

         14  colleague, I have to display great discipline not to

         15  leave for the fear of some discussion taking place

         16  in my absence.

         17                 But once again, thank you for your

         18  testimony.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you very

         20  much, panelists. Thank you.

         21                 I'd like to now call up the next

         22  panel.

         23                 Betty Ehrenberg; Hillary Markowitz;

         24  and Rabbi David Halb. Not there?

         25                 Aharon Friedman. Friedman?
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          2                 Council Member Simcha Felder.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 In response, I don't want Charles, I

          6  don't want my colleague Councilman Barron to be in

          7  any discomfort whatsoever, so you should please do

          8  whatever you have to do, and I'm giving you my

          9  commitment not to raise the issue of your being

         10  here, especially since you have that predatory

         11  lending bill, which is so critical to all of us in

         12  the Council.

         13                 But in addition, I just wanted to

         14  mention that in April 1949, at the UN Palestine

         15  Conciliation Commission, Israel offered to

         16  repatriate 100,000 Arab refugees within the

         17  framework of a general settlement. The Arab

         18  delegations rejected that offer.

         19                 In 1950, the United Nations Relief

         20  and Works Agency proposed resettling Arab refugees

         21  in Sinai, Jordan and Syria, by the Arab governments

         22  rejected this proposal.

         23                 In '52, the UN Refugee Rehabilitation

         24  Fund offered the Arab states $200 million to find

         25  homes and jobs for the refugees. The Arab states
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          2  used some of that money for relief work, but didn't

          3  even apply for the greater part of the fund.

          4                 And just another moment, Mr. Chair.

          5  These are some of the quotes, not from 2002, Radio

          6  Cario, July 1957, "The refugees are the cornerstone

          7  in the Arab's struggle against Israel. The refugees

          8  are the armaments of the Arabs and Arab

          9  nationalism."

         10                 June 1961, "The refugees will not

         11  return while the flag of Israel flies over the soil

         12  of Palestine. They will return when the flag of

         13  Palestine is hoisted over Arab Palestine."

         14                 And, finally, the Lebanese Prime

         15  Minister, in April of 1966, "The day of realization

         16  of the Arab hope for the return of refugees to

         17  Palestine means a liquidation of Israel. That's what

         18  this is all about."

         19                 In terms of the testimony on this

         20  young woman who spoke about the violence against her

         21  family and her being Christian, I would like to ask

         22  the Chair in the next hearing to please invite

         23  members from the Coptic community to come and to

         24  attest to the wonderful treatment that they have

         25  been given throughout the Arab world in making sure
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          2  that they're comfortable in their homes and they're

          3  able to practice their religion. And I'm asking just

          4  for the record, so that the world knows how

          5  Christians, Catholics and others are treated in Arab

          6  countries. I would like for the record for them to

          7  be invited, and I would be very happy to help you as

          8  the Chair get people from these organizations to

          9  come in and to testify. In general I think it may be

         10  something for a hearing, a separate hearing, to see

         11  how they are treated, because I think that is a good

         12  point that Catholics, as well as other members from

         13  every religion should be able to practice freely

         14  throughout the world and just because the Arab

         15  nations are not a democracy, that should not

         16  disallow them from practicing religious freedom.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         18                 Council Member Lou Fidler has a

         19  comment.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Just along

         21  those lines, Councilman Felder, I've represented an

         22  Iranian Christian successfully in a political asylum

         23  case here and perhaps she'd like to testify.

         24                 I do want to add that I thought that

         25  the last testimony was very helpful to me. It
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          2  certainly educated me to the fact that I know in the

          3  next election I won't be seeking the Green Party

          4  endorsement.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Okay, panel, you

          6  may begin.

          7                 MS. EHRENBERG: Thank you.

          8                 My name is Betty Ehrenberg. I

          9  represent the Union of Orthodox Jewish Congregations

         10  of America. We are an umbrella of nearly 1,000

         11  Orthodox Jewish Synagogues nationwide, and I would

         12  like to thank Councilman Nelson, even though he's

         13  not here, for introducing Resolution 258. We

         14  strongly support it and we hope that this panel

         15  passes, the City Council passes 258, fighting

         16  anti-Semitism in Europe.

         17                 The Orthodox Union also urges the

         18  adoptions of Resolutions 255, 214 and 7, condemning

         19  terrorism, suicide bombers and expressing solidarity

         20  with the people and state of Israel.

         21                 As Israelis are experiencing and

         22  being attacked in markets, cafes, on the streets and

         23  in buses, the polls show that 92 percent of Israelis

         24  fear that they or someone in their family might be

         25  the victim of a terrorist attack, and you can
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          2  imagine that that is a symbol of a society in the

          3  verge of a nervous breakdown. So, I think it's

          4  important for them to know from us that they're not

          5  alone.

          6                 On July 29th I will be in Jerusalem

          7  attending a memorial service for my cousin,

          8  15-year-old Malka Chana Roth of Jerusalem. Her

          9  parents emigrated to Israel about 30 years ago.

         10  Malka was an astounding and outstanding girl at 15,

         11  displayed an extraordinary sensitivity to the pain

         12  and suffering of others. She was her mother's right

         13  hand in the care of her severely handicapped little

         14  sister and whose first instinct was always to help.

         15  She was a talented musician who could move people to

         16  tears while she played the flute.

         17                 Malka Chana went with her friend

         18  Michal Raziel for lunch that day on August 9th,

         19  2001, to Sbarro's, where the two girls were brutally

         20  and violently taken from us by a homicide bomber

         21  whose only intent was to make sure that he killed

         22  Israelis and as many as possible.

         23                 We have to wonder what kind of

         24  society is so entranced with the cult of death and

         25  destruction that it believes that you can get to
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          2  heaven by killing innocent people and teaching

          3  children to become suicide bombers. That is the PLO.

          4                 What kind of value system can justify

          5  the senseless murder and killing of 15-year-olds,

          6  babies, elderly, and so many other Israeli citizens

          7  in such a ghastly and unspeakable manner?

          8                 Appallingly, there are those who

          9  promote these reprehensible acts as understandable,

         10  and equate the terrorists with their victims. The

         11  New York Times issued a front-page story depicting

         12  as equals a Palestinian student, a terrorist who

         13  killed herself and two others, and the Israeli girl

         14  who was her victim.

         15                 Israelis, as do Americans, believe an

         16  entirely different culture, in the choice and

         17  celebration of life. Israelis, as do Americans, do

         18  not conceive of "understanding" the motives of

         19  murdering children or urging them to kill innocent

         20  people. I think no one has less respect for the

         21  Palestinian lives of the Palestinian children than

         22  Yasser Arafat who encourages them to go and be

         23  martyrs and be suicide bombers.

         24                 In the kindergarten camps he has put

         25  three- and four-year-old Palestinian children, where
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          2  he teaches them that it is important to become a

          3  suicide bomber.

          4                 There is no moral equivalence here.

          5  None of the more than 600 Israeli families who have

          6  lost loved ones in this war have committed an act of

          7  terrorism. There has not been one "desperate" Jewish

          8  suicide bomber.

          9                 Israelis do not want to see innocent

         10  Palestinians murdered, but Palestinians have cheered

         11  the deaths of innocent Israelis. Many Palestinians

         12  danced on September 11th.

         13                 Israeli soldiers went into Jenin to

         14  root out terrorist cells in the most restrained

         15  fashion, often endangering themselves in the

         16  process. Twenty-three Israeli soldiers were killed

         17  because they would not shoot at a ten-year-old

         18  Palestinian who was outfitted with a jacket

         19  booby-trapped with bombs.

         20                 While Gallup polls show that 75

         21  percent of the Palestinians support suicide

         22  bombings, I don't think that either Americans or

         23  Israelis can begin to comprehend what kind of

         24  definition of civilization justifies the terrorist

         25  mentality, but on September 11th we were the direct
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          2  victims of terrorists who flew airplanes into the

          3  World Trade Center which took 3,000 innocent lives

          4  in the most horrific and infernal manner. Israel is

          5  facing terrorism day-after-day, and New York City

          6  must show solidarity with the people in the Middle

          7  East.

          8                 We urge the New York City Council to

          9  adopt Resolution 7, and I thank Councilman Koppell

         10  for that, declaring that the Palestinian Authority

         11  and the PLO are terrorist organizations and to close

         12  the offices of the PA in New York City.

         13                 Arafat infuses his people with the

         14  culture of hate, and by removing his offices from

         15  New York City, we would help promote the beginning

         16  of a civil society, hopefully a democratic one for

         17  the Palestinians, which they deserve, one that will

         18  stop poisoning the minds of young Palestinians. This

         19  situation must change and it will be impossible to

         20  change as long as New York allows Arafat and his

         21  representatives to operate freely and legitimately

         22  in our City.

         23                 Many Israeli leaders tried to make

         24  peace with Arafat and they did not succeed because

         25  Arafat does not want peace, he wants war. Arafat
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          2  names public squares and streets after the homicide

          3  killers. Arafat calls for a million human bombs in

          4  Jerusalem. Arafat has suicide kindergarten camps for

          5  three- and four-year-old Palestinians who are

          6  indoctrinated with the idea of the destruction of

          7  Israel through the suicide of Palestinian children.

          8                 As long as Arafat's regime is in

          9  place, and PLO representatives are stationed all

         10  over, peace will be impossible.

         11                 The Palestinian Authority and the PLO

         12  have a long record of terrorist activity and human

         13  rights violations. The blood of many innocent

         14  Israelis and Americans is on their hands. We cannot

         15  fight terrorism abroad and let it flourish in our

         16  own back yard. It endangers Americans, as well as

         17  Israelis, it killed Ari Halberstam. We can remember

         18  other American victims today of Palestinian

         19  terrorism. I name Alisa Flatow, Matthew Eisenfeld,

         20  Sarah Ducker, Joanne Crowley, Sara Blaustein, and

         21  Judith Greenbaum, among others. They perished in

         22  terrorist attacks that were initiated by Arafat, or

         23  those connected to him, and you should know that the

         24  Fatah and the Tanzim, Arafat's own groups -- I will

         25  conclude in five seconds -- are closely tied to
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          2  Hamas and Islamic Jihad, sit with them every day to

          3  plan the day's activities.

          4                 New York must close the offices of

          5  this terrorist organization in the middle of our

          6  City. We cannot tolerate terrorism, and we cannot

          7  tolerate the presence of its perpetrators here. We

          8  cannot shelter them nor allow them to masquerade as

          9  legitimate. They pose a danger to the citizens of

         10  Israel, to the Palestinians, to the citizens of New

         11  York. We urge New York City Council to support

         12  Resolution 7 and commend all of you who have

         13  co-sponsored it.

         14                 Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         16                 Council Member Charles Barron.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I thank you,

         18  Mr. Chair. And I thank you for that testimony, and I

         19  want to say that today, you know, I've heard

         20  testimony from both sides, really talking about the

         21  pain and the killing of innocent people, and I'm

         22  hoping that you can -- if you would reconsider

         23  supporting my resolution that is calling for a

         24  stopping of just what you're talking about and

         25  testifying here before us, and not get too caught up
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          2  into the politic of it, but looking at a resolution

          3  that's calling for the ceasing of killing of any

          4  innocent life in the Middle East, whether they're

          5  Palestinian or Israeli. I'm hoping that you can open

          6  your eyes to the pain on both sides.

          7                 And I just also want to say, because

          8  I do have to go to the predatory lending meaning,

          9  they called me in, that Council Member Simcha

         10  Felder, who often tries to highlight how much better

         11  off the Palestinians are now that Israel has more

         12  hospitals and more of everything, you know, they

         13  told us the same thing in slavery, that Africans

         14  were happy during slavery, they were better off in

         15  slavery than we were in Africa, and that we should

         16  be thankful that they kidnapped us and transported

         17  us here, and put us on plantations.

         18                 So, I think it's not a fight for

         19  affirmative action, it's not a fight for services,

         20  it's a fight for land, liberation and

         21  self-determination, and even-handed policy.

         22                 I thank you for your testimony.

         23                 MS. EHRENBERG: If I just may say one

         24  thing? We are definitely against the suffering of

         25  the Palestinians. We are definitely for seeing the
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          2  Palestinians have a democratic and free government.

          3  It is hard to be even-handed now when there is a

          4  terrorist regime. The terrorist regime, the

          5  Palestinians now, 98 percent of them, are living

          6  under Arafat, and they are suffering under Arafat. I

          7  have spoken to many Palestinians who have said to

          8  me, I wish the Israelis would come back and take

          9  Netanya, I wish the Israelis would come back and

         10  take RamAllah, Bethlehem because of the Palestinian

         11  Liberation Organization regime, and I think that is

         12  really at the moment the crux of the matter. And I

         13  thank you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Well, I thank

         15  you very much. And we also have some African people

         16  say I wish the slave master would not leave us and

         17  keep us on the plantation, but that doesn't make it

         18  right.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you,

         21  Council Member.

         22                 Simcha Felder has a quick comment.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Just in

         24  response to my colleague, Charles Barron, who has to

         25  leave to the predatory lending bill, and I will not
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          2  raise the fact that he's not here. I'll wait til he

          3  leaves. But I find it really very, very upsetting

          4  and very, very disheartening that Council Member

          5  Barron -- is Paul Washington here? Okay, because I

          6  really want him to hear this, that to make the

          7  analogy to slavery is really, really outrageous. And

          8  I find it very, very, very discouraging that anyone

          9  would make such an analogy and I'll leave it at

         10  that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         12                 MS. MARKOWITZ: Thank you, Chairman

         13  Serrano, and members of the Council. My name is

         14  Hillary Markowitz, and I'm the President of Mothers

         15  Against Terrorism, whose sole purpose is to end the

         16  hateful education of children that leads to

         17  terrorism.

         18                 I am a mother of four and a pediatric

         19  ICU nurse. I spend my day trying to save the lives

         20  of children, no matter what race, religion, or

         21  creed, while the PLO sends its homicide bombers out

         22  to kill children.

         23                 I wear the bracelet with the name of

         24  a 15-year-old named Malcha Roth, who was murdered by

         25  a homicide bomber, sent out by Yasser Arafat's PLO.
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          2                 Reverend Daughtry kept asking why?

          3  Well, she was sitting and eating pizza. I spent last

          4  night with Stanley Levin, whose sole brother Neil

          5  Levin, the head of the Port Authority, was

          6  annihilated on 9/11 at the World Trade Towers.

          7  Again, the question why? Because he was sitting in a

          8  meeting.

          9                 For those of you who are asking why

         10  is there terrorism? The answer is, hateful

         11  education.

         12                 As a pediatric nurse, I invite all of

         13  you to sit with a child, no matter what color or

         14  religion, and they will sit in a room with five or

         15  six different children, they couldn't tell you what

         16  color the child is, they couldn't tell you what

         17  religion he is. They sit and they play, unless

         18  they're taught to hate. Children are born loving,

         19  not hating.

         20                 The Palestinian Authority, under

         21  Yasser Arafat, is teaching its children to hate.

         22  Look at the picture of this baby here. This child

         23  doesn't stand a chance to have peace because he's

         24  already being brainwashed and indoctrinated to hate.

         25                 An organization that promotes
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          2  terrorism, that abuses children by teaching them

          3  hatred in their school books -- if you go to the

          4  Palestinian areas, the school books spew hatred.

          5  Someone who leaves a country in that direction

          6  should not be the head of the Palestinian Authority.

          7                 I hope and pray for American, Israeli

          8  and Palestinian children, that a new leader comes to

          9  replace Yasser Arafat, a leader who denounces

         10  terrorism in English and Arabic, and has a peaceful

         11  state next to its neighbor Israel.

         12                 I urge you, as a member of Mothers

         13  Against Terrorism, to support Resolution 7-A, and

         14  Resolution 258.

         15                 I invite everybody to come to the

         16  operating room of a hospital to see that if you cut

         17  open an Israeli and you cut open a Palestinian, you

         18  wouldn't know the difference. Everyone has a heart,

         19  everyone has a liver, everyone has lungs. This is

         20  about murdering of innocent children by those who

         21  are teaching children to hate.

         22                 Thank you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         24                 Council Member Davis.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Thank you so
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          2  very much for your testimony.

          3                 I have heard much testimony today.

          4  I'd like to say to Mr. Chair, add my name to

          5  Resolution Number 255, 214 and 258.

          6                 Now, I want to get into 7-A. We're

          7  doing very well. The only problem with 7-A, and,

          8  again, we stood on the steps of City Hall and we

          9  denounced suicide/homicide bombings. We've been very

         10  clear, as far as Ari and Davorah Halberstam, against

         11  terrorism, very clear.

         12                 Here's the problem that I see thus

         13  far: If we remove the Palestinian representatives

         14  from down at the United Nations, the question, not

         15  only is it an international issue, and it moves up

         16  to the level with the President of the United States

         17  of America, and I don't want to be on the wrong side

         18  as far as the international level, but there are

         19  other countries that we don't agree with.  I mean,

         20  you know, we're a democracy, and there are other

         21  countries that we may not agree with that are

         22  practicing communism, that are practicing socialism,

         23  and so on and so forth, and other countries that may

         24  be doing wrong; will this set a precedent that now

         25  we're saying if the United Nations will be a place
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          2  where representatives come to continue the dialogue,

          3  now we say to this Palestinian representative or

          4  organization, you go, then does that open a door for

          5  us to set a precedent to say to every single country

          6  that we don't agree with, that we don't agree with,

          7  you should not be at the table of the United

          8  Nations?

          9                 And that was my question earlier. I

         10  have no problem with saying whether this

         11  organization is bad, or a terrorist organization, or

         12  wrong, but who is going to represent the Palestinian

         13  people if we say to this country, or this

         14  organization that represents this country, you go?

         15  And I asked this question earlier, do you, or

         16  anyone, have anyone that will represent the

         17  Palestinians, the innocent Palestinians, at this

         18  table? Or do we, at this table, when all the

         19  different countries come, when they get to the

         20  Palestinians there is just a name tag there, there's

         21  no one sitting at the table, and that's my problems.

         22                 But I understand, you know, I just

         23  want you to see where we are. Very interesting.

         24                 MS. MARKOWITZ: Can I answer?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Yes, please.
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          2  Mothers Against Terrorism, I love you. I'm having a

          3  Stop The Violence march on August 18th, to stop

          4  violence. It's going to be on Brooklyn Avenue,

          5  between Eastern Parkway and Union Street, and I

          6  would love for Mothers Against Terrorism and

          7  everyone here to be there. We're stopping not only

          8  urban violence, we're also stopping violence,

          9  terrorism across America, across the world, so I

         10  would love for you to be there.

         11                 MS. EHRENBERG: If I could address

         12  that? First of all, you're dealing with two

         13  different entities here. The Palestinian Liberation

         14  Organization is an organization that represents not

         15  the state or not yet a state, it is not a state, it

         16  is not a sovereign country.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Right.

         18                 MS. EHRENBERG: So that takes --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: But they are at

         20  the table.

         21                 MS. EHRENBERG: They're only observers

         22  to the United Nations. They are not a sovereign

         23  state, and, therefore, the rules that would apply to

         24  a sovereign state do not apply to --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Okay, I don't
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          2  want to get off track.

          3                 MS. EHRENBERG: I'm not getting off

          4  track, it's on target. That's why we would not --

          5  why throwing out the Palestinian Liberation

          6  Organization from New York City would not be the

          7  same as let's say throwing out Sudan of Syria.

          8  They're very different.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Okay, got you.

         10                 MS. EHRENBERG: The other thing that I

         11  do want to say is, the president has taken a very

         12  strong stance on Yasser Arafat and calling him

         13  exactly what he is, a terrorist, that already has

         14  had very important repercussions in the fact that an

         15  announcement of elections to take place in the

         16  Palestinian entity authority within six months. So

         17  that already shows that if the Americans show, if

         18  United States show that we will not tolerate

         19  terrorism, we will not tolerate a terrorist

         20  organization, that changes hopefully for the better

         21  will be made in the leadership of the Palestine

         22  people, who will hopefully elect new, and, of

         23  course, hopefully much better leadership.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Well, let me

         25  take a step back and say thank you, as far as the
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          2  observance is concerned, I got you, I understand

          3  what you're saying. But even my same point is even

          4  for the observers, the same -- just take the point

          5  the statehood back, but the observers, the same

          6  principle, because even though they elect new

          7  leadership, they still may be observers. So, whether

          8  observers or statehood --

          9                 MS. EHRENBERG: They won't be

         10  terrorists.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Right.

         12                 MS. EHRENBERG: That's the key here.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: I'm just

         14  concerned about setting a precedent that we say to

         15  observers. And as far as, you know, to say to

         16  observers, okay, we don't agree with your policy so

         17  you shouldn't be here. I'm just concerned about that

         18  point, not only for these observers, but for any

         19  observers. That's the only hesitant we have thus

         20  far.

         21                 As far as the President of the United

         22  States is concerned, this President has been, in my

         23  humble opinion, he's been, you know, on this side,

         24  and then two months later, he's on that side. So,

         25  forgive me for not knowing exactly where the
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          2  President is going, because sometimes, you know,

          3  Arafat is our friend, and then the next second,

          4  Arafat has changed his ways, and then Arafat has

          5  power to change Israel, I mean to change the

          6  climate, and then the next second Arafat doesn't

          7  have the power.

          8                 So, as far as the President, that's

          9  one of the problems why we're here today, because

         10  there's no, and we're trying to move the agenda,

         11  move it along, because it is very troubling. But we

         12  will, this City Council, we will work it out, we

         13  will press our way, and that's why I'm grateful to

         14  be a part of this particular Committee, and I am

         15  happy to be on board, as far as Resolution 255, 214

         16  and 258, and we will continue to speak out against

         17  terrorism, but we will continue to explore. We still

         18  have time and that's why this hearing is so

         19  important, Resolution 7-A, and do we want to set a

         20  precedent as far as observers are concerned. It's

         21  very interesting.

         22                 And Mothers Against Terrorism, thank

         23  you for the great work that you do.

         24                 MS. MARKOWITZ: Thank you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: My mother is a
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          2  retired registered nurse.

          3                 MS. MARKOWITZ: I'll have to give her

          4  a pin.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Yes, please.

          6  I'd love to have a pin.

          7                 MS. MARKOWITZ: But I would just like

          8  to say, President Bush has been very clear on one

          9  point, and that is he is opposed to terrorism.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Aren't we all.

         11                 MS. MARKOWITZ: And a terrorist is a

         12  terrorist, and Yasser Arafat is a terrorist. To

         13  allow a terrorist regime to remain in New York City

         14  would be a travesty.

         15                 I'm happy to report optimistically

         16  that I met with General Hemli (phonetic) of the

         17  Israel Defense Forces who says there have been

         18  meetings with Palestinian leaders, not Yasser

         19  Arafat, who will be leaders to sit down with, to

         20  make peace with, and I am looking forward to the day

         21  when those leaders are heading the Palestinian

         22  Authority, and then I will be thrilled to have them

         23  on Park Avenue and at the United Nations. And that

         24  day will come, God willing, but until then, with a

         25  terrorist at the head of the Palestinian Authority,
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          2  I think it would be criminal for New York City to

          3  keep that mission on 65th Street.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Thank you so

          5  much for your testimony. And thank you for not

          6  talking at me, for talking to me, and understanding

          7  that we in this Committee are committed. We're in

          8  there, we care, we take this issue very seriously,

          9  and Councilman Serrano is leading us in that. And I

         10  thank all the Council members that are here right

         11  now, because this is important to us. We're not

         12  coming here one sided, we're coming here committed

         13  because we want to stop terrorism as well.

         14                 MS. MARKOWITZ: And we appreciate it.

         15  Thank you.

         16                 MS. EHRENBERG: We thank the City

         17  Council, and Chairman Serrano. Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         19                 Thank you, Councilman Davis.

         20                 Council Member Alan Gerson.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you, Mr.

         22  Chair. I just want to, as one of the sponsors of the

         23  resolution in support of Israel and condemnation of

         24  the PLO as a terrorist regime under consideration

         25  before the Committee, I just wanted to make a brief
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          2  statement, before I need to once again depart, like

          3  many of my colleagues betwixt and between both the

          4  civic engagements and the personal issues.

          5                 But let me just state, first of all,

          6  Mr. Chair, as the sponsor of these resolutions, I

          7  want to thank you for the way you have conducted

          8  this hearing and this Committee, and I think we all

          9  appreciate your leadership and your approach to

         10  these very important issues, and the sensitivity

         11  that you have exhibited, so I want to thank you.

         12                 I want to just note that this City

         13  Council has a great tradition in the area of

         14  internation affairs and international issues of

         15  being a beacon, if you will, for truth and justice,

         16  and we have had an influence as the City Council of

         17  one of the world's capital cities, what we say and

         18  the resolutions we adopt do make a difference. And I

         19  think it's very important at this crucial stage that

         20  we recognize that the cause of truth and justice

         21  requires us to once again affirm our solidarity with

         22  Israel and to speak the truth that the PLO is a

         23  terrorist regime and must be condemned and

         24  identified as such. And I just want to, rather than

         25  -- there are many reasons which have been
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          2  expressed, historic, legal, for this viewpoint and

          3  for adopting these resolutions, and rejecting the

          4  resolution of so-called even-handedness, but among

          5  those reasons I think it's important to note, there

          6  is the reason of compassion for all who have

          7  suffered, including compassion for the suffering of

          8  the innocent Palestinian children and other

          9  Palestinian civilians, and I would just note, and

         10  it's important to note, I think, for the record,

         11  that if one sincerely has compassion for people, and

         12  not compassion for ideology and not compassion for

         13  fanatics or corrupt leadership, but if you have

         14  compassion for those children, that compassion would

         15  lead you to oppose unequivocally fanatics who guide

         16  and coax impressionable young people to blow

         17  themselves up, that compassion would lead you to

         18  oppose corrupt regimes which spend millions of

         19  dollars in armaments and perpetuating war, rather

         20  than in social spending and rehabilitating the

         21  refugees who do live in terrible poverty, and it is

         22  important to note that historically there have been

         23  more Jewish refugees who left or were kicked out of

         24  Arab countries than other than refugees who left

         25  what became the state of Israel, and the reason we
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          2  don't hear about that is because the Israeli

          3  government community spends money to integrate and

          4  to rehabilitate those Jewish Arab refugees, rather

          5  than keep them as pawns to perpetuate a conflict.

          6                 So, if you have compassion for the

          7  refugees, you would condemn those who have kept them

          8  in camps, rather than integrate them into their

          9  society which is part of their historic homeland.

         10                 And, finally, if you have compassion

         11  and a genuine commitment to peace, you would oppose

         12  regimes which have refused to compromise time in and

         13  time again in the interest of peace from 1948, from

         14  the 1948 refusal to accept the partition, to the

         15  refusal to accept the compromise brokered under the

         16  Clinton Administration. If one cares about peace and

         17  one has compassion for those who are suffering the

         18  ravages of war, you would speak out and oppose the

         19  terrorists who have refused to compromise in the

         20  name of peace.

         21                 So, of all the reasons to support

         22  Israel, and of all the reasons to condemn the PLO as

         23  the terrorist regime they are, the cause of

         24  compassion ranks high, as high as any other among

         25  those reasons.
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          2                 So, in the name of compassion for

          3  those who have suffered on both sides of the

          4  conflict, I reiterate my sponsorship of the

          5  resolutions in support of Israel and in condemnation

          6  of the PLO as terrorists, and if people throughout

          7  the world speak in that vain, then maybe we will

          8  advance the day when we'll see an end to the

          9  conflict that has caused so many.

         10                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you very

         12  much for that.

         13                 Council Member Lou Fidler.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.

         15  Chairman. And as we head towards what is undoubtedly

         16  an inevitable conclusion to this hearing, at some

         17  point, I think we would be remiss if we didn't

         18  express our gratitude to do, Mr. Chairman. I think

         19  you've done an incredible job.

         20                 This had to be one of the hardest

         21  hearings that we could conduct because no matter how

         22  anyone feels about it, we all feel strongly about

         23  our position.

         24                 To my friend James Davis, we got you

         25  three-quarters of the way there, James. I want to
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          2  talk to you about Resolution 7-A, and we'll continue

          3  to talk about it, and I want to thank you for adding

          4  your name to the other three, and hope that we can

          5  get you on the fourth.

          6                 I'm not sure that the PLO, and, you

          7  know, speaks for the Palestinian people. You say who

          8  is going to represent the Palestinian people at the

          9  table? And I know I sleep a little better at night

         10  hoping, even if it's unrealistic, that the rank and

         11  file Palestinian citizen is not being represented by

         12  Yasser Arafat. I have to hope that they want a

         13  better thing for their community, their children,

         14  than what Yasser Arafat and the PLO represents. But

         15  even if, unfortunately, he is speaking for the

         16  Palestinian people, there are certain minimum

         17  requirements and rules that we have in a civilized

         18  society before we allow someone to sit down at the

         19  table, and one of them is that they're not going to

         20  commit barbarous, murderous acts of terrorism

         21  against innocent people, that they're not going to

         22  conduct a campaign and a strategy that turns up the

         23  terrorism when they don't get their way at the

         24  negotiating table, and then turns it down when they

         25  feel a need for world sympathy.
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          2                 Yasser Arafat and the PLO have not

          3  met the minimum standards for a civilized society,

          4  and I don't sit down and invite them to the table

          5  until they become civilized to that extent.

          6                 I respect their right to their

          7  opinion and to their view and to disagree, even as I

          8  sit here and disagree with everything that they say

          9  and stand for. If they do so peacefully, they can

         10  participate in that way. But if they don't, James,

         11  you wouldn't invite someone into your home who would

         12  profess to burn it down, and you need to look at

         13  Resolution 7-A in that context.

         14                 When they become willing participants

         15  and partners in a peace process that they sincerely

         16  are willing to participate in, then they can come to

         17  the table. Until then, James, they don't belong in

         18  my house and they don't belong in your house. And I

         19  would urge you to think about Resolution 7-A, go the

         20  rest of the way, be 100 percent for democracy and

         21  civilized society, and recognize the moral

         22  imperative that Resolution 7-A stands for.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you,

         24  Council Member. And thank you for the vote of

         25  confidence. I would be remiss if I didn't mention
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          2  and thank the Council staff for helping to put this

          3  together. To my left, Deidre Feerick, who is the

          4  Counsel to the Committee; Rick Arbello, who is the

          5  Legislative Policy Analyst; Carolyn Kretz from the

          6  Finance Division, Howard Pollack, Eldin Villafane.

          7                 Before I go to a couple of more

          8  questions, I want to call up the next panel to start

          9  making their way up here. It's the final panel.

         10                 Deguille, Rama, Myung-Hee Kim, Kevin

         11  James. And while he's making his way up, I will call

         12  upon Council Member Davis.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: I want to

         14  respond to my, more than my colleague from Brooklyn

         15  South, Lou Fidler. He's not only that. He's not only

         16  the Chair of the Brooklyn Delegation, he's my county

         17  leader. But let me say this: When I look at this

         18  particular resolution, 7-A, and I ask the Chair, who

         19  I echo the sentiments, I said to Chairman Serrano, I

         20  said, "are there any other observers at the United

         21  Nations' table that are radical?" This is a

         22  question. Are there any other observers at the

         23  United Nations' table that are radical left,

         24  considered terrorists, that we do not like their

         25  policy and we condemn their policy, but are they at

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            208

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  the United Nations' table?

          3                 Now, when I viewed this particular

          4  resolution, as Councilman Fidler stated about my

          5  house, and I'm a City Councilman, my house, Crown

          6  Heights, that's where I live, Brooklyn Avenue,

          7  between Eastern Parkway and Union Street, Crown

          8  Heights, but when I review this particular

          9  legislation, it has United Nations. So, then I put

         10  on a United Nations hat, if you will, and I think

         11  about what the United Nations, and I think it was

         12  President Woodrow Wilson, and don't quote me on

         13  that, I might be wrong. It wasn't Wilson who came up

         14  with the United Nations?

         15                 PARTICIPANT: (Not identified for the

         16  record.) Legal Nations.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: He was the

         18  Legal Nations, okay. Well, whoever it was, I'm not

         19  sure. Don't quote me on that. When I think of United

         20  Nations, I think of a body that brings different

         21  states and observers from all around the world. So,

         22  though I can consider personally the PLO, Arafat, to

         23  be a terrorist organization, though I may totally

         24  disagree with all of their policy and everything

         25  that they stand for, and, though, I may also go a
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          2  step further and say that I don't think that a

          3  democracy has necessarily elected Arafat to

          4  represent them, but it is what it is at this time,

          5  and I don't know if this Council -- and also, I've

          6  spoken to some of the people, I didn't speak to the

          7  General that the other one spoke to, but I have

          8  gotten phone calls and spoken to some of the persons

          9  in the federal government, and I don't know if this

         10  Council, I don't know if this resolution is going to

         11  help or get in the way of what the federal

         12  government is trying to achieve. My goal as a

         13  Councilman is to help.

         14                 So, yes, I would not let a terrorist

         15  in my house, but I'm talking about the United

         16  Nations' table right now. This is very interesting.

         17  And I want to just challenge -- not challenge, but I

         18  just want to state to my colleague Lou Fidler, just

         19  one other thing. I'm not three-quarters of the way

         20  there on this particular information today with my

         21  sign on on the others, I'm nine-tenths on the way

         22  there, and we look forward to going and working

         23  closely. We're not running from this issue, we're

         24  right here. We just want to make sure that we don't

         25  set a precedent or we do set the right precedent,
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          2  right message that everybody can benefit.

          3                 Thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

          5                 Before we begin, Council Member

          6  Felder has a comment.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you. And

          8  this will be my last comment, Mr. Chair. I echo

          9  Councilman Fidler's comments about the hearing, and

         10  I applaud the way it was handled, and under very

         11  difficult circumstances.

         12                 I just want to add that as an

         13  American I don't think we will ever forget the

         14  picture that Reverend Diaz had of the Twin Towers on

         15  fire while Palestinian radicals were dancing in the

         16  streets while our people were dying, while Americans

         17  were dying, and I want to applaud the Speaker for

         18  paying for my visual aids, because the City Council,

         19  Mr. Chair, is paying for this. So, I want to thank

         20  the Speaker and the City Council for paying for the

         21  visual aids that I brought today that really show

         22  that the oppressors of the Palestinian people is the

         23  Palestinian Authority, and they are responsible for

         24  the deaths of innocent women and children and that

         25  the Israeli government is trying to do whatever it
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          2  can to protect all the citizens in that region, and

          3  I thank you again.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 Please state your name.

          7                 MR. JAMES: My name is Kevin James. I

          8  am a supervising Fire Marshall in the New York City

          9  Fire Department, and I'm also a spokesperson for the

         10  Council on American Islamic Relations, the New York

         11  Chapter.

         12                 I come today to light a candle and

         13  curse the darkness of concealing the truth, on

         14  focusing solely on one form of terrorism to the

         15  exclusion of Israel's more insidious state-sponsored

         16  terrorism.

         17                 Treat the symptom, blame the victim,

         18  ignore the cause and the cure. They willingly

         19  collaborate with the architects of horror and

         20  despair that bemoans mass murder in shallow graves,

         21  illegally occupied land and broken dreams, hearts

         22  and souls.

         23                 I ardently support Palestinian

         24  liberation. Why? Perhaps because I feel it's

         25  patently racist that solely because my mother is
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          2  Jewish, I automatically have more rights in Israel

          3  than Palestinian Christians and Muslims who lived

          4  there for two millennia.

          5                 Or maybe it's because some of my

          6  ancestors never made it out of Poland, while others

          7  were handed infected blankets and marched on the

          8  "Trail of Tears" right here in America.

          9                 Those who kneeled before the altar of

         10  the Holocaust must remember that its lessens apply

         11  to all people.

         12                 Israel's name is written in the blood

         13  of innocence. It was founded on terrorism. Let's not

         14  forget and ignore that fact.

         15                 Their borders have become home to

         16  some of the most hateful, rabid expressions of

         17  Zionism and extremists, religious fundamentalism

         18  imaginable.

         19                 Almost half their population support

         20  Gush and Newman Rabbis, who repeatedly stress that

         21  Jews who kill Arabs have committed no crime. Their

         22  Rabbi Ariel dispenses a Jew who killed a non-Jew is

         23  exempt from human judgment, and has not violated the

         24  religious prohibition of murder.

         25                 The corollary among Israeli defense
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          2  forces is "kill the Palestinian while they are

          3  young."

          4                 Israel flaunts its total disregard

          5  for Arab lives by venerating the likes of a Dr.

          6  Baruch Goldstein.

          7                 In 1994, Goldstein, a transplanted

          8  American, slaughtered 29 Muslims kneeling in prayer

          9  at a Hebron Mosque during Ramadan.  Rabbi Yancha

         10  Peren (phonetic) eulogized Baruch at his funeral

         11  stating "1 million Arabs are not worth a Jewish

         12  fingernail."

         13                 Journalist Ariel Chevet (phonetic)

         14  echoed similar sentiments in 1996, after Israeli

         15  shelling killed over 100 civilians, seeking shelter

         16  at a UN base in Qana, Lebanon: "We believe with

         17  absolute certitude that right now, with the White

         18  House in our hands, the Senate in our hands, the New

         19  York Times in our hands, the lives of others do not

         20  count the same way as our own."

         21                 Israel mass murderers are elected to

         22  office when they aren't being canonized. As Prime

         23  Minister Ariel Sharon quenches his insatiable thirst

         24  for Palestinian blood in RamAllah and Jenin, the

         25  Hague Court seeks to bring Sharon to justice for his
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          2  role in the 1982 massacres of more than 1,000 women,

          3  children and the elderly in Lebanese refugee camps

          4  of Sabra and Shatila.  Yet, Sharon is merely

          5  continuing a legacy of slaughters that began in 1948

          6  in Lydda and Ramleh.

          7                 Some of Israel's staunchest opponents

          8  are Jews who retch at their history in tactics.

          9                 N. Giladi, in his book Ben Gurion's

         10  Scandals, how the Hagana (phonetic) and the Mesiad

         11  eliminated Jews, documents how Israeli provocateurs

         12  used bombs to terrorize and kill Jews in Iraq during

         13  the early 1950s in order to force them to flee to

         14  Israel.

         15                 In 1998, the famous -- famed Jewish

         16  violinist Yehudi Menuhin drew parallels between

         17  Israel and Nazi Germany with his observation. "It is

         18  extraordinary how nothing ever dies completely, even

         19  the evil which prevailed yesterday in Nazi Germany

         20  and which is gaining ground in that country, Israel

         21  today."

         22                 Noted historian Israel Shahock

         23  underscored the relationship between Israel's

         24  founding fathers in Nazi Germany in his book Jewish

         25  History, Jewish Religion.
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          2                 Shahock documents that at a time when

          3  most European Jewish leadership found the Zionist

          4  ideology morally bankrupt, Zionist leaders were

          5  eagerly embracing some of the most virulent

          6  anti-Semitic movements emerging in Europe.

          7                 In 1941, one of Israel's future Prime

          8  Ministers, Yitzhak Shamir, wrote, "The Nazis on

          9  Behalf of a Zionist Militia, the National Military

         10  Organization. The establishment of the historical

         11  Jewish state on a national and totalitarian basis,

         12  and bound by a treaty with the German Reich would be

         13  in the interest of strengthening the future German

         14  position of power in the Near East. The NMO and

         15  Palestine Office take an active part in the war on

         16  Germany's side."

         17                 The root causes of Palestinian

         18  violence were well understood by Israel's founders

         19  and future leadership.

         20                 In a 1938 speech by Ben Gurion, he

         21  candidly stated, "Let us not ignore the truth among

         22  ourselves. Politically we are the aggressors and

         23  they defend themselves. The country is theirs

         24  because they inhabit it, whereas we want to come

         25  here and settle down, and in their view we want to
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          2  take away from them their country, behind the

          3  terrorism by the Arabs of the movement, which though

          4  primitive, is not devoid of idealism and

          5  self-sacrifice."

          6                 Sixty years later, Ehud Barak,

          7  another Israeli Prime Minister, acknowledged a

          8  chronic frustration and humiliation Palestinians are

          9  forced to live with daily by commenting, "If I were

         10  a Palestinian, I'd also join a terror group."

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: I'm sorry, can

         12  you please summarize?

         13                 MR. JAMES: I have one more paragraph.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Okay.

         15                 MR. JAMES: While right wing Israeli

         16  fanatics and their allies in America scrape the

         17  blood off their boots, there are others who bravely

         18  endure death threats and worse in their cry for a

         19  just Palestinian solution.

         20                 Adam Shapiro, Rabbi Michael Lernin

         21  and Natori Carter are only a few of the many Jewish

         22  organizations and activists maintaining Judaism

         23  enriched legacy of being at the forefront of human

         24  rights struggles.

         25                 I support Charles Barron's Resolution
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          2  216. Out of all the resolutions, I think it's the

          3  only one that will work to curb terrorism and not

          4  incite it. We don't want to be like the man who sets

          5  his hair on fire and puts it out with a hammer.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

          7                 Council Member James Davis has a

          8  quick comment.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Okay, thank you

         10  for your testimony. Let me just say in my closing

         11  today it's been a wonderful, wonderful -- one of my

         12  best hearings that we've participated. Tough. It

         13  reminded me of the budget we battled. Very

         14  interesting. And today we don't have to make a vote,

         15  so there will be more information coming across,

         16  we'll continue the dialogue.

         17                 Iraq, North Korea and Syria are all

         18  labeled by the President of the United States of

         19  America to be countries that are participating in

         20  terrorist activities. I have no problem with the

         21  first part of Resolution 7-A. Where I will continue

         22  the dialogue is where required by law pursuant to

         23  treaty obligations with the United Nations to close

         24  of the offices of the Palestinian Authority in the

         25  City of New York. Now, on that part, so we can frame
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          2  where you guys can meet and we can discuss this and

          3  I'll meet with Councilman Fidler, about the City

          4  Council -- it takes, in order to deal with a federal

          5  treaty, the Congress has to pass a law. I don't know

          6  if the City Council should be getting in the

          7  business when you have Iraq and Korea, North Korea

          8  and Syria out there of closing the offices of any

          9  observance on a federal level.

         10                 And then last but not least, that's

         11  where we will dialogue, we still have some ongoing.

         12  I am 100 percent, not nine-tenth of the way, not

         13  seven-eights, not three-quarters on board against

         14  anti-terrorism, and in solidarity with the statehood

         15  or with the country of Israel. We condemn, we

         16  condemn terrorists. We condemn it. I've put my whole

         17  live against acts of violence and we are 100 percent

         18  there. But I don't know if the City Council should

         19  be dealing with what takes place, and I also don't

         20  know if the Congress should be coming in and telling

         21  us how we should be running the City. But I do see

         22  the language where it says United Nations to close

         23  the office of the Palestinian Authority in the City

         24  of New York. So, it might be in the City of New York

         25  you can open this, but not in the City of New York.
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          2  So, we're very much open.

          3                 Thank you, Councilman Serrano. Thank,

          4  everyone, for your patience as I've been going

          5  forward in this. We have a lot of work to do, but we

          6  will get to the promised land as a people.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 Council Member Lou Fidler.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Mr. Chairman,

         11  I sat here debating myself as to whether or not I

         12  was even going to respond to this gentleman. I have

         13  to tell you that in my entire life, that statement

         14  was the most disgusting statement I have heard in

         15  this Chamber.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Lou, you might

         17  want to make that clear. Who are you talking about?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Not you,

         19  James. Not you.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Not Councilman

         21  Davis. Okay, thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: No, no. This

         23  gentleman, Mr. James.

         24                 It was so repugnant that I couldn't

         25  let it be the last words that echoed in this room on
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          2  this subject.

          3                 I would remind everyone in this room

          4  that there are people in this world who believe the

          5  Holocaust didn't occur. They will pull one fact out

          6  of 50 to justify an absurd conclusion in the face of

          7  living witnesses. I can't fathom what hatred

          8  motivated the statement I just heard. I believe this

          9  gentleman said he was a firefighter - boy, I hope

         10  you don't come to my house when it's on fire,

         11  because there's something in your heart that's just

         12  not right.

         13                 MR. JAMES: Excuse me, sir. I know the

         14  Holocaust existed --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And --

         16                 MR. JAMES:-- And I lost people in the

         17  Holocaust.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I sat here and

         19  didn't interrupt your statement, okay?

         20                 Your point of view is repugnant, sir.

         21                 MR. JAMES: To you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Yes, to me.

         23  And I'm speaking for myself, and perhaps my

         24  constituents. I hope I am. And as a Jew I have to

         25  say something, because we just can't let things be
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          2  said like that and not be responded to, because

          3  that's what the Holocaust deniers expect. When the

          4  truth is twisted, we have to untwist it. You can't

          5  pull a fact out of here and a fact out of there, and

          6  have anyone in this room believe that the Israelis

          7  can be likened to the Nazis. That is disgusting.

          8                 And my hesitance in responding was

          9  not to elevate your comments to those of importance,

         10  because they aren't. Because they don't come from

         11  anywhere but hate and distortion, and they shouldn't

         12  be the last thing said in this room on this topic.

         13                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         14                 MR. JAMES: Sir, I would like to

         15  respond.

         16                 Those statements were not my

         17  statements, those were the statements from Jewish

         18  historians. If the truth hurts, I'm sorry.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: If you take

         20  things out of context, I can --

         21                 MR. JAMES: What context --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:-- Report to

         23  you there are men on Mars.

         24                 MR. JAMES: What context was it taken

         25  out of?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: No interrupting.

          3                 Council Member, are you done?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Yes. Thank

          5  you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Okay.

          7                 Thank you very much, sir. Mr. James.

          8                 MR. JAMES: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Rabbi Shmuel

         10  Herzfeld.

         11                 Okay, Rabbi.

         12                 RABBI HERZFELD: Thank you, Council

         13  Member Serrano, and I want to thank your whole staff

         14  for being very cooperative with us the entire way

         15  through this process.

         16                 The great, great tragedy of the

         17  previous speaker who sat in this seat, the great

         18  tragedy is that I believe that he probably believed

         19  the horrific words that he said.

         20                 But moving on, just to close this

         21  day, I want to reinforce three points which I

         22  believe are central to the importance of the Koppell

         23  Resolution.

         24                 The first point is, we've heard some

         25  speakers say "Let's look at the why of terrorism."
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          2  Let's not look at the why of terrorism. When it

          3  comes to terrorism, there can never, ever, not ever,

          4  under any circumstances, be any justification for

          5  it. We should not look at the why. To look at the

          6  why is to bring justification to the horrific evil

          7  that is now plaguing the world. That is the first

          8  point.

          9                 The second point is the importance of

         10  this resolution to the City Council.

         11                 Even some supporters of this

         12  resolution, I'm talking about Koppell Resolution

         13  7-A, which to me is the most important resolution

         14  that the Council is hearing today, even some

         15  supporters have said that this resolution is merely

         16  symbolic, wrong. This resolution is extraordinarily

         17  important. The Koppell Resolution seeks to protect

         18  New Yorkers, in that sense it directly fits into the

         19  mandate of the Council. I believe at this very

         20  moment that it is possible that as we speak here

         21  today peacefully, amicably, on 65th Street and Park

         22  Avenue in the PLO office it's quite possible that

         23  terrorist acts are being planned and coordinated

         24  that will directly affect New Yorkers.

         25                 It's been said, why didn't the FBI do
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          2  more before 9/11/2001. Well, right now the New York

          3  City Council has the opportunity to stand up and say

          4  there's a terrorist in our midst, let's root them

          5  out before they kill innocent New Yorkers. It's an

          6  inspiration for terror.

          7                 Look what happened, the tragedy with

          8  Davorah Halberstam's son, who was horrifically,

          9  horrifically shot down. We cannot allow any person,

         10  any organization which supports that act, which will

         11  give credence and inspiration to those acts to

         12  remain on our streets.

         13                 New Yorkers have the right to say we

         14  don't want that building in our neighborhood. New

         15  Yorkers have the right to say move out. Move out of

         16  New York City.

         17                 Mayor Bloomberg asks, "We can't

         18  afford to kick out the PLO. We can't afford to upset

         19  the UN." I say, how can we afford not to kick the

         20  PLO out of New York?

         21                 And finally, a third point that goes

         22  to the issue of jurisdiction. Right now the PLO is

         23  not a member nation of the United Nations. They have

         24  observer status. And I believe that the law there is

         25  more flexible.
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          2                 In truth, all the Koppell Resolution

          3  does is call upon the United States Government to

          4  call upon the United Nations to close down their

          5  office. In that sense, they are not, this resolution

          6  is not violating any jurisdiction.

          7                 And, furthermore, I do want to make

          8  this point as a closing point: After 9/11/2001,

          9  there has only been one international "nation" that

         10  has gone on a repeated basis, with impunity, taking

         11  credit for terrorist acts, and that nation, the

         12  terrorist nation, is Yasser Arafat through his

         13  horrific Al-Aqsa Martyrs Brigade.

         14                 Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you very

         16  much, Rabbi.

         17                 RABBI HERZFELD: Councilman, sorry, I

         18  do have three seconds left.

         19                 I do want to point out, one of the

         20  reasons why we believe this resolution is so

         21  important is because the purpose of these

         22  resolutions is not to merely take up time and space

         23  but really to get to Arafat, to impact him. To make

         24  him understand that if he acts like this, there's

         25  going to be consequences.
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          2                 I believe the City Council has the

          3  opportunity, by passing the Koppell Resolution, to

          4  send a message to Arafat. What Arafat craves is

          5  international credibility. Take that away from him,

          6  he's teetering right now. I believe this might even

          7  possibly put him over the edge and do away with

          8  Arafat.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you very

         11  much, Rabbi. And thank you to all who came here

         12  today. This concludes this hearing.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Councilman?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Oh, I'm sorry.

         15  Council Member Katz. The conclusion. Sorry.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I just want to

         17  really thank you, Councilman Serrano, and the

         18  Speaker, for holding this hearing.

         19                 Just in closing, I wish I could share

         20  the speaker, the Rabbi's views on the importance of

         21  Arafat's opinion. I honestly don't believe that

         22  Arafat is ruling the country anymore. And I do

         23  believe that whatever, you know, grief we can give

         24  him is not bad.

         25                 But I don't really know if I share
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          2  the view of the importance of the message we send to

          3  him directly, as opposed to the message we send to

          4  the Palestinian community, the suicide bombers, the

          5  homicide bombers, and, in addition, the message

          6  we're sending to our brothers and sisters in Israel

          7  in support.

          8                 So, I just wanted to sort of clarify

          9  that. Also, just in closing, I think today has been

         10  very productive in a lot of ways. I've come up with

         11  a lot of different opinions of different -- I've

         12  heard a lot of different opinions and different

         13  views that I think I have been relatively sheltered

         14  from, and I think that it's a good thing that I'm

         15  hearing all sides. Now that I've heard all sides,

         16  I'm even more vigilant in my opinion of what we

         17  should be doing in supporting the state of Israel,

         18  and to a certain extent I think that's a great

         19  thing.

         20                 I'm left with really one issue. My

         21  Rabbi always talks about "killing in the name of

         22  God," and, you know, he talks about it a lot and I

         23  think that it's really important that we do discuss

         24  it.

         25                 One of the things that many of the
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          2  people testifying today on the pro Palestinian side

          3  keep discussing is the violations, and how it's

          4  wrong to have terrorism on either side, and how the

          5  Palestinian community is being wronged. The fact of

          6  the matter is, these folks are suicide bombings and

          7  homicide bombings because they believe in some wild

          8  fascination fantasy that they have that God is going

          9  to repay them and God is going to reward them with

         10  whatever amount of women or whatever it is that they

         11  say that they're getting as a reward, that is why

         12  they're killing in the name of God.

         13                 They're not killing, if you listen to

         14  the families, and if you listen to what they're

         15  saying, because of civil rights violations only.

         16  They're not killing because of that, they're killing

         17  because God has put them on the earth to do this.

         18  And you know what? Killing in the name of God, by

         19  anyone, to me is a scary thing. It's just a scary --

         20  on whatever side it is. And I think it's important

         21  to note that. Because when someone is killing in

         22  what they consider the name of God, then I don't

         23  think you're going to be able to argue with them and

         24  convince them they are wrong on any logical

         25  sequence, on any logical plane, and that's a
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          2  dangerous thing. Because when you're at war, you

          3  should be at least at war to accomplish something,

          4  not just to kill.

          5                 So, I want to just thank everyone

          6  that really was here today. I think it was

          7  productive. I learned a lot. I'm even stronger in my

          8  views now in support of the state of Israel, and I

          9  do believe it is extremely important, as the Rabbi

         10  said, that the world understands, and that the

         11  Middle East understands that we are standing behind

         12  -- as the City of New York, we are standing behind

         13  the state of Israel and we're there in solidarity

         14  with them.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: And I want to

         17  compliment Rabbi Avi Weiss and the organization.

         18  You've been fighting, you've been an activist a long

         19  time, a person that I've respected, you're not only

         20  a Jewish activist, you're an activist for right. And

         21  you were one of the people on the forefront with

         22  Amadou Diallo, and you've been standing by your

         23  convictions, and that's why it makes it so much

         24  easier for me to follow your leadership, because I

         25  know that you've stood up for opinions that
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          2  everybody agreed with, and everybody didn't agree

          3  with. But you're a man of conviction.

          4                 And the last person that testified,

          5  or gave his testimony, stated that he's under the

          6  opinion that the PLOs, or down at the mission

          7  headquarters, they're plotting some terrorist

          8  bombing and so on and so forth. I don't know if that

          9  is true. You said it with great conviction. I would

         10  employ the United States of America and the law

         11  enforcement authorities, and I would hope that you

         12  go to the authorities also with that information.

         13  That was some strong charges.

         14                 But if it is true, then it makes it

         15  even more important on why this resolution, 7-A,

         16  sends the right message, that terrorism will not be

         17  tolerated.

         18                 And last, but not least, I can't

         19  thank Davorah Halberstam enough for coming out here

         20  today, and what she's been doing with the Jewish

         21  Children's Museum in my district, and what she's

         22  been doing is bringing people together, speaking out

         23  against terrorists, speaking out against violence in

         24  general. I can't thank -- I am so grateful to be a

         25  member of this Committee with Councilman Serrano and
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          2  Melinda Katz joining -- you're a member also?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Today.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Joining us

          5  today. And Councilman Fidler, and everyone who has

          6  prevailed and stayed the whole time, this has been a

          7  very rewarding experience. They lied when they said

          8  this City Council was a part-time job. This is two

          9  jobs. But this is what it's all about. We have

         10  battled, and don't be surprised at the end of the

         11  day if you don't see the name change "Davis" on 7-A.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 And I will conclude this hearing. I

         15  thank everyone for being here and supporting this

         16  hearing. This is a wonderful opportunity for us to

         17  hear the views. I thank Rabbi Weiss for all of his

         18  leadership. I thank you, Davorah, for being here. We

         19  met under different circumstances at the Pratt

         20  House, under my other hat as Chairman of Cultural

         21  Affairs, which is part of this Committee, and it was

         22  great meeting you that evening. And I thank you once

         23  again.

         24                 (Hearing concluded at 3:02 p.m.)

         25
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